LEAGUE OF NATIONS

ECONOMIC INTELLIGENCE SERVICE

MEMORANDUM

ON

PRODUCTION AND TRADE

1925 TO 1929/30

Geneva, 1931.

Price : 3/3 \$0.80

PUBLICATIONS OF THE ECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL ORGANISATION OF THE LEAGUE OF NATIONS

SELECTED DOCUMENTS ON THE DISTRIBUTION OF GOLD SUBMITTED TO THE GOLD DELEGATION OF THE FINANCIAL COMMITTEE.

This publication contains four memoranda dealing with recent gold movements : the first by Professor Albert Aftalion entitled "The Causes and Effects of Gold Movements into and out of France", the second by Professor G. W. J. Bruins entitled "The Movement of Gold into and out of Germany since 1924", a third by Professor Gregory on "The Causes of Gold Movements into and out of Great Britain 1925-1929" and a fourth by Mr. George E. Roberts on "Gold Movements into and out of the United States of America 1914-1929 and Their Effects". To these memoranda are added tables showing the recent changes in the distribution of gold.

INTERIM REPORT OF THE GOLD DELEGATION OF THE FINANCIAL COMMITTEE.

(Ser. L.o.N.P. 1930.II.26.)

A special delegation of the Financial Committee was set up in 1929 to examine the causes of the fluctuations in the purchasing power of gold and their effect on economic life. The present Report summarises the conclusions reached on the particular problem which the Delegation selected for treatment first — namely, whether the available and prospective supplies of gold are likely to prove adequate to maintain prices.

SECOND INTERIM REPORT OF THE GOLD DELEGATION OF THE FINANCIAL COMMITTEE. (Ser. L.o.N.P.1931, II.A.2.)

In its Second Interim Report the Gold Delegation deals with the problem of the distribution of gold, and indicates the principles on which, in its opinion, the efficient working of the gold standard must primarily depend.

SELECTED DOCUMENTS SUBMITTED TO THE GOLD DELEGATION OF THE FINANCIAL COMMITTEE.

(Ser. L.o.N.P. 1930.II.34.)

Price: 2/6 \$0.60

In this publication are reproduced several of the memoranda which were submitted to the Gold Delegation by its members and others. The volume contains two papers by Sir Henry Strakosch, G.B.E., Chairman and Managing Director of the Union Corporation Ltd., London ; two by O.M.W. Sprague, of the Bank of England, formerly Professor of Finance and Banking at the Graduate School of Business Administration, Harvard University ; two by Dr. L. J. A. Trip, formerly Governor of the Java Bank and Treasurer-General of the Netherlands ; one by Jacques Rueff, Financial Attaché to the French Embassy in London : and one by Dr. Feliks Mlynarski, Professor of Banking at the Academy of Commerce in Warsaw, formerly Vice-Governor of the Bank of Poland.

LEGISLATION ON GOLD.

(Ser. L.o.N. P. 1930.II.29.)

In this volume the mometary systems of seventy countries are surveyed and their legal provisions bearing on gold are summarised and compared. The text of the relevant laws of each country are reproduced in full.

LEAGUE OF NATIONS

MEMORANDUM ON PRODUCTION AND TRADE 1925 to 1929/30

Errata

- Page 17. Paragraph 2, line 7, for "48 per cent "read "38 per cent".
- Page 27. Table VIII. Foodstuffs 1930, for "106" read "105".
- Page 42. Line 2, for "6 to 17 per cent " read "16 to 17 per cent ".
- Page 60. Table XIV. Footnote¹, for "32.7 tons "read "32,700 tons".
- Page 77. Table XXI A. Sweden Weight 1927, for "124" read "125".
- Page 85. Table XXVII. Germany, Linen Spinning 1930 (1929=100), for "94" read "96".
- Page 118. Table XXXVII. United Kingdom Cereals 1927, for "1531" read "153".
- Page 118. Table XXXVII. United States of America, Farm Products 1930, for "115" read "105".
- Page 118. Table XXXVII. United States of America, Non-Agricultural Commodities 1930, for "105" read "115".

S d. N. 1.425 (F 1.450 (A). 10/31. — Imp. de la T. de G.

Series of League of Nations Publications II. ECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL 1931. II. A. 19



LEAGUE OF NATIONS

Geneva, June 1931.

ECONOMIC INTELLIGENCE SERVICE

MEMORANDUM

ON

PRODUCTION AND TRADE

1925 TO 1929/30

Series of League of Nations Publications II. ECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL 1931. II. A. 19



PREFACE.

The first Memorandum on Production and Trade was published in October 1926 as one of the preparatory documents for the World Economic Conference. The Conference expressed a wish that the work then undertaken should be continued and three editions of the Memorandum have since been published. The present volume deals more especially with the period 1925-1929, but, in view of the radical change in the world economic conditions since 1929, information for 1930 has been given wherever possible.

In the present edition, 1925 has been adopted as the base year in all chapters except in that relating to relative prices, and new, and more comprehensive series of indices have been calculated.

The study of certain aspects of manufacturing industry is the outcome of a resolution adopted by the Assembly of the League of Nations in 1929, requesting the Council to "consider the possibility of arranging for the preparation of a comprehensive annual survey of economic developments in the near future and for the collection by the Economic Organisation of all the information required for this purpose". The Council decided that, pending the preparation of a general and separate survey of economic conditions, a chapter dealing with the available information concerning the development of industrial activity should be included in the *Memorandum on Production and Trade*. Such a chapter was published for the first time in last year's volume and has now been continued and enlarged. This study, tentative and incomplete as it is, forms a useful complement to the chapter on the production of foodstuffs and raw materials and is helpful when checking the conclusions regarding the recent development of the world's industrial output, for which returns for raw products alone are not fully adequate as a basis.

As the result of a recommendation of the Economic Consultative Committee at its 1929 session that the Economic Organisation of the League "should continue and expand its studies concerning the comparative prices of agricultural and industrial products", a special enquiry into the recent relative movements of such prices has been undertaken and is at present being pursued. The first and partial results so far obtained are incorporated into the price chapter contained in this volume; the chapter also includes certain additional materials not previously available. The year 1913, which is being taken as the base year for the special enquiry, is maintained as base period in the present study. Attention is, however, particularly directed to the relative movements of prices between the end of 1928 and the end of 1930.

S. d. N. 1.425 (F). 1.450 (A). 8/31. - Imp. de la T. de G.

The detailed figures on which the indices for population and the production of foodstuffs and raw materials are based have been published in the *Statistical Year-Book of the League of Nations*, 1930/31; those relating to trade in the *Memorandum on International Trade and Balances of Payments*, 1927-1929, Volumes I and III.

A summary of the main conclusions that may be drawn from the present study will be found in the introductory chapter.

A. LOVEDAY,

Director of the Financial Section and Economic Intelligence Service.

Geneva, June 1931.

CONTENTS.

	Page
Preface	3
Introductory	7
I. POPULATION (1925 and 1929)	12
II. PRODUCTION (1925-1929/30):	
Scope of the Production Index and Method of Compilation Employed	14
Total Production	17
Production of Foodstuffs	20
Production of Raw Materials	23
Relative Importance of the Different Continental Groups	25
Relative Importance of Foodstuffs and Raw Materials	25
Production of the Principal Commodity Groups	27
Cereals	28
Other Food Crops	29
Meat	29
Colonial Produce and Hops	30
Tobacco	30
Vegetable Oil Materials	31
Textiles	31
Rubber	32
Wood Pulp	32
Cement	33
Fuels	33
Metals	34
Chemicals (Fertilisers)	35
III. INTERNATIONAL TRADE (1925-1929/30)	37
IV. INDUSTRY (1925-1929/30)	45
General Industrial Activity	46
Review of Important Industries	50
Iron and Steel Industry	51

		D
	Mechanical Engineering	Page 56
	Shipbuilding	58
	Motor Vehicles	61
	Electrical Industry	65
	Electrical Energy	68
	Textiles	70
	Cotton	72
	Wool	78
	Silk	81
	Artificial Silk	82
	Linen. Hemp. Jute and Sundry Textile Industries	85
	Rubber Industry	86
	Leather and Boot and Shoe Industries	88
	Timber Industry	90
	Paper and Printing	92
V.	THE RELATIVE MOVEMENTS IN THE PRICES OF RAW PRODUCTS AND MANUFACTURED ARTICLES (1913 and 1928-1930)	95
Ann	nexes :	
	I. Method of Calculation of the Composite Production Index	122
	II. Indices of World Production of Foodstuffs and Raw Materials	124
	III. Indices of Production of Foodstuffs and Raw Materials weighted by 1925 and 1929 Values	126
	IV. Percentage Distribution of Aggregate Production of Foodstuffs and Raw Materials by Continental Groups weighted by 1925 and 1929 Values	130
	V. Percentage Distribution of Aggregate Production of Foodstuffs and Raw Materials by Groups of Products weighted by 1925 and 1929 Values	134
	VI. National Indices of Industrial Production.	138

INTRODUCTORY.

The present edition of this *Memorandum* is similar in general form and composition to those published in earlier years. Certain important changes have, however, been made in the method of calculation and presentation of the statistics.

In the first place, the base year of the production and trade indices has been changed. In the three first editions of the Memorandum, the year 1913 or the quinquennium 1909-1913 was employed as base; in the preceding edition, the base year was changed to 1926, though for certain chapters 1925 was adopted, while the old series were continued and given in the annexes. In the present edition, all calculations referring to the pre-war period as well as to the years 1923 and 1924 have been dropped, and the statistical series computed for the quinquennium 1925-1929 have been thoroughly revised and completed. As years pass, new statistical series become available and old series are expanded and improved. For some time now it has been necessary to choose between ignoring. certain new series while adhering to the pre-war base and abandoning that base in order to take in all the data for recent years which have become available. The latter alternative has now been adopted. This procedure has further rendered it possible to employ the year 1925 as a common base for the four first chapters in this edition of the Memorandum.¹ The production indices for 1930 are all provisional and subject to revision when more complete data become available.

The continental grouping employed has also been somewhat modified. In previous editions, the world was divided into seven continental groups, and Europe into three sub-groups. In the present edition, the groups "Central and Eastern Europe" and "Rest of Europe" are no longer shown separately. By 1929, ten years had elapsed since the creation of the new economic units in the central and eastern parts of Europe, and production and trade have largely adapted themselves to the new conditions. Further, in view of the fact that the general economy of the Caribbean — the smallest of the groups shown in previous editions, representing in 1928 little more than 2 per cent of world production of foodstuffs and raw materials, and of world trade — largely resembles that of the northern part of South America, the whole of the American continent south of the United States has been grouped together with the West Indies as "Latin America".

As in the previous editions, the whole of the present Union of Soviet Socialist Republics is included with Europe in all the calculations, though separate indices are still given for Europe excluding this country. The absolute figures from which the various indices have been calculated, therefore, are all somewhat too low in the case of Asia and too high in the case of "Europe".

¹ See Memorandum on Production and Trade, 1923-1928/29, page 7, for reasons that rendered 1925 unsuitable when the indices had to relate both to later years and to 1913.

In view of the changes that have been made, discrepancies inevitably exist between the new indices and those published in the previous editions of this *Memorandum*, but, in overlapping years, the movement shown by the new general indices for the world differs but little from that shown by the old world indices based on 1913.¹

In Table I below, the most important indices relating to population, the production of raw materials and foodstuffs and the quantum of trade are set out in parallel columns. The estimates of population refer to the years 1925 and 1929 only, the other figures to the quinquennium 1925-1929. The indices for both production and trade are quantitative, changes in value having been eliminated by processes of analysis described later.

TABLE I.

GROWTH OF POPULATION, PRODUCTION AND TRADE OF THE WORLD, 1925 TO 1929.

Continental groups	Popula- tion	Production of foodstuffs and raw materials (indices weighted by 1929 values)					Quantum of trade				
	1929	1926	1927	1928	1929	1926	1927	1928	1929		
Europe, excluding U.S.S.R	102.9	94	106	110	119	100	113	117	122		
Europe, including U.S.S.R North America Latin America Africa Asia, excluding Asiatic Russia Oceania	$104.8 \\ 105.7 \\ 109.1 \\ 105.3 \\ 102.9 \\ 107.8$	$98 \\ 103 \\ 103 \\ 100 \\ 101 \\ 110$	$ \begin{array}{r} 107 \\ 101 \\ 108 \\ 103 \\ 104^{1} \\ 106 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 110 \\ 107 \\ 111 \\ 107 \\ 106^{1} \\ 115 \\ \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 117\\ 105\\ 108\\ 114\\ 107^{1}\\ 108 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 108 \\ 103 \\ 102 \\ 104 \\ 102 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 113 \\ 110 \\ 112 \\ 117 \\ 104 \\ 108 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 117 \\ 115 \\ 116 \\ 127 \\ 106 \\ 105 \end{array} $	122 119 119 133 108 107		
World	104.1	A 101 B 100 C 103	$104 \\ 102 \\ 108$	$ \begin{array}{r} 108 \\ 106 \\ 112 \end{array} $	$111 \\ 105 \\ 120$	103	111	115	119		

(Base: 1925=100)

A=Foodstuffs and raw materials; B=Foodstuffs; C=Raw materials.

¹ Excluding production of foodstuffs in China.

The evidence afforded by the table and later analysis points to the following general conclusions, certain of which will require subsequent interpretation and qualification :

(a) World population in 1929 was about 4 per cent greater than in 1925, world production of foodstuffs and raw materials was about 11 per cent greater, and world trade about 19 per cent greater.

¹ Cf. Memorandum on Production and Trade, 1913 and 1923-1927, Geneva, 1929.

World production and trade increased continuously throughout the quinquennium, but, according to the preliminary information available, trade and raw material production both fell off heavily in 1930 as a result of the general economic depression.

(b) World population appears to have grown between 1925 and 1929 at an average rate of about 1 per cent per annum. The rate of increase was smallest in Europe (excluding the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics) and highest in Latin America.

(c) World production of foodstuffs has increased at a considerably slower rate than that of industrial raw materials, except in 1928 when food crops were exceptionally heavy. In 1929, the production of raw materials advanced more than in any other year since the war; but, in spite of record crops in Europe and in Africa, foodstuff production declined owing to a great contraction in the harvests in America and Oceania. In 1930, on the other hand, while world production of foodstuffs remained practically stationary, the raw material output would appear to have declined by roughly 8 per cent, and the aggregate of both foodstuffs and raw materials by about 3 per cent.¹

(d) Such statistical information as is available suggests that manufacturing industry progressed more rapidly than the production of industrial raw materials between 1925 and 1929. The artificial silk industry, mechanical and electrical engineering and generation of electrical power all appear to have raised their output by over one-half, the rubber manufacturing industry by over 40 per cent (outside the United States by over 90 per cent), the iron and steel, shipbuilding and motor vehicle industries by about 30 per cent, the paper and printing industry by about 25 per cent and the timber industry by somewhat less, while the development of the leather, boot and shoe industry and still more that of the textile industry as a whole have been comparatively slow, not exceeding 15 and 10 per cent respectively. The economic depression in 1930 has affected all industries, although in a very varying degree. The motor industry, shipbuilding, mechanical engineering and iron and steel seem to have suffered most; rubber goods and timber have also been seriously affected; on the other hand, the electrical industries have been remarkably little affected.

(e) International trade was stimulated in 1927 and 1928 by considerable capital movements, largely due to the demand arising from the re-organisation of industry in Europe and industrial development in other parts of the world. In spite of a restriction in the capital supply from a number of capital-exporting countries, and a heavy fall in the general price level, there was a further increase in 1929. This continuous growth was to a large extent accounted for by manufactured articles. In 1930, the quantum of world trade fell to approximately the 1927 level, while total production of raw materials and foodstuffs appears to have been almost on the same level as in 1928.

¹ See provisional indices of production in 1930 given in Chapter II below.

(f) In comparing the indices of the different continental groups, it should be borne in mind that very different stages of development had been achieved by 1925. European production was a little above and European trade considerably below the 1913 level, while all other continental groups had made very substantial advance.

(g) Between 1925 and 1929, Europe has made the most rapid general progress, although the increase in Africa's international trade was greater. During 1930, the contraction in the quantum of production was greater in Europe and North America than in the rest of the world — a fact which in no way implies, of course, that the incidence of the depression was greater in, for instance, Europe than elsewhere. In Europe, excluding the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics (according to the provisional indices for that year) the production of foodstuffs appears to have been reduced by 5 per cent, that of raw materials by some 12 per cent, and that of both combined by about 8 per cent. But both food crops and raw material output increased considerably in Soviet Russia and the indices for Europe including that country show a slight increase in the foodstuff production, a reduction of about 9 per cent in the raw material output, and of 4 per cent in both combined. Europe's international trade appears to have been less reduced in 1930 than that of the other parts of the world.

(h) In North America, new records in production and trade were reached in 1928, although the rate of advance since 1925 was slower than in Europe. In 1929, the quantum of total production decreased, but this decline was exclusively due to light harvests. Indeed, North American raw material output and foreign trade rose considerably in 1929, and the national indices of industrial production for Canada and the United States show considerable progress in manufacturing activity in 1929. Since the middle of the latter year, however, industrial production declined rapidly and more than in most European countries. According to the data available, the foodstuffs production of North America was further reduced in 1930 by about 2 per cent, its raw material output dropped by 12 per cent and the two combined by 7 per cent.

(i) The general development of production and trade in Latin America between 1927 and 1929 is similar to that in North America. Production reached its peak in 1928 and fell in 1929 on account of exceptionally light harvests. Trade increased throughout the period at the same average rate as that of North America.

(j) Africa made more rapid headway between 1925 and 1929 than the other continental groups except Europe.

(k) The indices for Asia point to a steady, but rather slow, increase in production and trade. The output of industrial raw materials shows, however, comparatively rapid advance.

(1) In Oceania, production rose considerably in 1928, but experienced a serious setback in the following year. The trade of this continent, which declined in 1928, increased slightly in 1929, without reaching the level of 1927.

(m) In 1930, the production of foodstuffs in Africa, Asia, Latin America and Oceania taken together appears to have somewhat recovered from the decline in 1929, and their joint output of raw materials appears to have been almost the same as in that year. The provisional joint index of production in these continental groups was thus somewhat higher in 1930. Meanwhile prices slumped.

(n) In interpreting the general conclusions set forth above, it should not be forgotten that production statistics taken alone, without reference to the movement in commodity stocks and prices, fail to reflect accurately year-to-year changes in economic conditions, particularly in periods of general depression. In recent years, the consumption of the main cereals and of many raw materials has not kept pace with their production; stocks have therefore increased and weighed heavily on the market. The consequent slump in prices constitutes one of the chief factors of the severe depression of 1930.

(o) During the year 1930, as in all periods of economic depression, the prices of raw materials and crude products as a whole dropped more than the prices of manufactured goods. There are some reasons to believe that even in the preceding quinquennium, the discrepancy between these groups was somewhat greater than before the war; during the current depression the margin between them widened considerably. This phenomenon was concealed to some extent, first, by the influence of producers' associations and cartels in maintaining the prices of certain classes of raw materials and semi-manufactured products and, second, by the influence of Governmental policy, in particular tariffs and milling regulations, in maintaining the domestic prices of certain classes of crude food products.

* *

Such are the broad general results to which the analysis of available data on population, production and trade has led. They are based on statistics that are in some cases of doubtful comparability and seldom so comprehensive or so exact as to render it possible to draw conclusions of mathematical accuracy or incontrovertible finality from any single series of figures. For this reason, importance should be attached not so much to the absolute magnitude of this or that figure as to the direction towards which the whole mass of accumulated data tends to point.

I. POPULATION.

The figures relating to population, which are confined to the years 1925 and 1929 are given in this *Memorandum* only with a view to comparing the growth of population with the indices of production of foodstuffs, raw materials and international trade. It is not necessary, therefore, to consider in any great detail the demographic statistics of the world.

TABLE II.

Continental groups	Popu (000,	lation 000's)	Perce	entage ement	Percentage distribution	
	1925	1929	1925	1929	1925	1929
Europe, excluding U.S.S.R	362.5	373.0	100	102.9	19.0	18.9
Europe, including U.S.S.R North America Latin America Africa Asia (excluding Asiatic Russia) . Oceania	$506.1 \\ 125.3 \\ 105.9 \\ 137.1 \\ 1,028.0 \\ 9.0$	530.5 132.5 115.5 144.4 1,058.0 9.7	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 100 \\ 100 \\ 100 \\ 100 \\ 100 \end{array} $	$104.8 \\ 105.7 \\ 109.1 \\ 105.3 \\ 102.9 \\ 107.8$	$26.5 \\ 6.5 \\ 5.5 \\ 7.2 \\ 53.8 \\ 0.5$	$26.6 \\ 6.7 \\ 5.8 \\ 7.3 \\ 53.1 \\ 0.5$
WORLD WORLD (excluding China)	1,911.4 $1,467.4$	1,990.6 $1,546.6$	100 100	104.1 105.4	100	100

Changes in the Population of the World in the Period 1925 to 1929.

The figures on which the calculations are based are frequently open to doubt. In many Asiatic and certain other countries, no regular census of population is taken, and even the census figures of the native population in Africa, South America, as well as other parts of the world, are often conjectural in character. Moreover, censuses are usually taken at long intervals and often at different years in the various countries, so that the majority of the figures are official or unofficial intercensal estimates. The figures relating to the end of 1929, however, are based to a large extent on the results of recent censuses and are believed to be somewhat less conjectural in character than those relating to 1925. In several countries with a large population, particularly in Asia, the population figures recorded at these censuses were considerably higher than had been officially anticipated. Part of the increase over the previous estimates for 1925 no doubt results from the fact that the recent censuses have been more complete and accurate. Certain adjustments of the 1925 figures have been made on the basis of available annual figures for natural increase in representative areas in order thus to eliminate the apparent increase resulting from improvements in the method of census-taking. An apparent increase may also result from double counting of immigrants not excluded from the population figures of the countries whence they have emigrated. It has not proved possible to make any allowance for this factor, but its effect, if any, on the world figures is probably relatively small.

The information concerning China is particularly defective; the different estimates that have been made vary very considerably. The figures for that country adopted in the table above are based on the estimates of the Chinese Maritime Customs Service. It has been assumed that the Chinese population, which is generally believed to be stationary, did not increase between 1925 and 1929. As the figures adopted for China represent some 22 per cent of the world total, the calculations for the world as a whole, for this reason alone, are necessarily approximate.

In view of these facts, and also because China is not included in the foodstuffs production index, it is desirable to consider the world figures both with and without China. If China is excluded, the increase according to the figures shown in the table would be 5.4 per cent, and if China is included, 4.1 per cent in four years i.e., an average annual rate of increase of about $1^{1}/_{3}$ and 1 per cent respectively. For the reasons indicated above, however, the real growth may have been less.

The population of Europe, excluding Soviet Russia, has grown less than that of any other continental group except Asia, including China, and, as a result, its share in the world total has been somewhat reduced; but the share of Europe including Soviet Russia rose slightly owing to the rise in the population figures for that country which is estimated as high as 9 per cent between 1925 and 1929.

China weighs heavily in the Asiatic population figures; but, even if China is excluded, the rate of growth in Asia would appear to be somewhat less than the average rate for the world without that country. The population figures for Latin America and Oceania, which are most affected by immigration, show a much greater increase, while the growth in North America, in spite of a certainim migration, is but slightly higher, and that in Africa slightly lower than the average.

II. PRODUCTION.

Scope of the Production Index and Method of Compilation employed.

Very few countries publish comprehensive information concerning the output of industry, and it is impossible from the evidence available to obtain any accurate conception of the changes which have taken place in world industrial capacity or productivity. If a synoptic view is desired, it is necessary to approach the question indirectly and consider the figures of the production of crude foodstuffs and raw materials. Changes in the volume of raw materials produced, however, are not necessarily coincident with changes in the volume of industrial output. The science of industrial production is concerned largely with the discovery of means by which equal services may be rendered with a smaller consumption of crude products. In a later section (Chapter IV) the available information concerning the output and activity of some of the most important manufacturing industries is analysed.

Moreover, the statistics of the production of raw materials taken alone and without reference to variations in stocks may fail to reflect accurately changes in industrial activity over shorter periods. The supplies of vegetable raw materials in a single year will depend primarily on the atmospheric conditions and not on the immediate industrial demand. This applies particularly to the most recent years when the consumption of several foodstuffs and important raw materials failed to keep pace with production and, consequently, stocks increased and prices dropped heavily. The indices which are given below should be interpreted with these facts in mind.

In order to measure the changes in the aggregate production of the world and its main territorial divisions, it is necessary to take into account the output of a large number of different commodities. Owing to the multiplicity and variety of goods that require to be considered, the indices based on weight or volume statistics must be rendered comparable by expressing them in terms of some common denominator. It has been necessary, therefore, to calculate a quantitative index. For this purpose, the relative values of the various commodities calculated on the basis of representative price quotations in a defined period have been utilised as constant weights.

The prices employed are annual averages of actual quotations for medium qualities of the various articles in leading producing countries or free markets, and may be considered fairly representative of relative values on the world market. The index is calculated by the aggregative system. A further explanation of the procedure adopted will be found in Annex I, which should be consulted.

For the reasons set forth in the introduction new calculations have been made with 1925 as base. The statistical series have also been revised. In the case of a large number of commodities, more complete data have become available since tha

- 14 --

year than previously. The new indices, therefore, reflect more accurately the changes that have taken place in the different parts of the world since 1925 than the indices calculated from the old series, which were necessarily confined to those countries for which reasonably comparable information was available for both 1913 and the post-war period. The price data used as weighting coefficients have also been revised in the light of more detailed information now available. In view of these changes, it is obvious that, irrespective of differences in base years, strict comparability does not obtain between the new indices and those published in the previous issues of this *Memorandum*. For the world as a whole, however, the discrepancy between the new and the old general index is small in overlapping years; in 1926 and 1927 it amounted to less than one per cent (1925=100).¹

In view of the changes that have taken place in relative values in recent years, it has been considered desirable to calculate the index on the basis both of the prices ruling in 1925 and of those in 1929. These two calculations yield on the whole very similar results. It is sufficient, therefore, to consider in the following analysis only the results obtained by employing 1929 values. Discrepancies of some importance do, however, occur in certain groups of commodities composed of articles the prices of which underwent substantial changes between 1925 and 1929 and for this reason complete comparative figures are given in the annexes.

Sixty-three commodities, falling into two main divisions and thirteen groups, have been taken into consideration and sub-indices have been calculated for each division and group. The list of these commodities is given on page 16.

Owing to the absence of complete or sufficiently representative data, certain classes of products have had to be omitted, the most important being dairy produce, fruit, and timber. From the metal group, gold has been omitted as so large a part of the production is used for monetary purposes. For China, no comprehensive statistics of the production of cereals and other foodstuffs exist. Further, no adequate figures of cement production in Latin America and Africa are available; but this omission is of very small importance.

Certain minor modifications have been made in the subdivisions adopted in the previous year. The group entitled "Colonial produce, hops, tobacco" has been split into two, tobacco being now considered separately. While tobacco is maintained under raw materials, colonial produce and hops have been included among foodstuffs. Any rough division is necessarily largely arbitrary; thus some of the cereals, viz., barley, oats, and maize, are used mainly as fodder — i.e., as raw materials of meat, while some of the oils classed as raw materials are chiefly used for food.

The modification made in the subdivision according to continental groups has already been mentionned in the introduction.

¹ A rough comparison with 1913 may be made by linking up the new general index in 1925 with the old index weighted by 1927 values, as published in the *Memorandum on Production and Trade*, 1913 and 1923-27, Geneva, 1929.

LIST OF COMMODITIES INCLUDED IN THE PRODUCTION INDEX.

Vegetable oil materials :

Tobacco.

FOODSTUFFS

RAW MATERIALS

Fuels :

Cereals : Wheat Rye Barley Oats Maize

Other food crops :

Rice Potatoes Beet-sugar Cane-sugar

Meat :

Beef Veal Pork Mutton and lamb

Colonial produce and hops:

Coffee Cocoa Tea Hops Cotton-seed Linseed Rape-seed Hemp-seed Sesame-seed Soya beans Ground-nuts Copra Palm and palmkernel oil (raw) Olive oil (raw)

Textile materials : Cotton Flax Hemp Manila hemp Jute Wool Raw silk Artificial silk

Raw rubber.

Wood-pulp: Mechanical pulp Chemical pulp

Cement.

Coal Lignite Petroleum *Metals* (smelter production): Pig-iron and ferro-

alloys Steel (ingots and castings) Copper Lead Zinc Tin Aluminium Nickel

Chemicals (fertilisers) :

Silver

Natural phosphates Potash Sulphur Natural guano Chilian nitrate of soda Nitrate of lime (Norwegian and ammoniated) Cyanamide of calcium Sulphate of ammonia Superphosphates of lime **Basic** slag Sulphate of copper

Total Production.

It is convenient to show first the general index of foodstuffs and raw materials combined, based on 1925 and weighted by 1929 values, for the world as a whole and its main continental groups.

The available statistics of production in 1930 are far from complete. In particular, comprehensive information is lacking in respect of meat, tobacco, several vegetable oils and textiles, wood-pulp, cement and most chemicals. Rough provisional indices for Europe, North America and the rest of the world taken together may, however, be calculated from the figures available supplemented by estimates, based on less complete information, for the commodities mentioned above, which account for about 48 per cent of the production aggregate. These indices are given in italics in the tables below.

TABLE III.

GENERAL INDICES OF PRODUCTION, WEIGHTED BY 1929 VALUES.

Continental groups	1925	1926	1927	1928	1929	1930*
Europe, excluding U.S.S.R.	100	94	106	110	119	109
Europe, including U.S.S.R.	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 100 \\ 100 \\ 100 \\ 100 \\ 100 \end{array} $	$98\\103\\103\\100\\101\\110$	$ \begin{array}{r} 107 \\ 101 \\ 108 \\ 103 \\ 104 \\ 106 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 110 \\ 107 \\ 111 \\ 107 \\ 106 \\ 115 \\ \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 117 \\ 105 \\ 108 \\ 114 \\ 107 \\ 108 \end{array} $	113 97 110
World	100	101	104	108	111	107

(Base: 1925=100).

¹ Excluding production of foodstuffs in China.

* Provisional indices.

The old world index, based on 1913 and weighted by 1927 values, was well above the pre-war level by 1923, and stood at 116 in 1925. The eorresponding European index, however, was only 103 in that year, while the indices of all the other continental groups were substantially higher. A tentative calculation on the basis of the old series points to an increase in the production of foodstuffs and raw materials between 1913 and 1929 of just over 20 per cent in Europe, just under one-third in North America and something less than 30 per cent in the world as a whole. The apparently rapid progress achieved by Europe since 1925, therefore, represents partly a recovery of lost ground, while the rising figures of other continents represent more normal progress.

The considerable rise in the world index in 1927 primarily reflects the recovery in European production from the temporary set-back in 1926, due mainly to the



Aggregate Production of Foodstuffs and Raw Materials in Europe, North America and the World, 1925-1930.

WORLD PRODUCTION OF FOODSTUFFS AND RAW MATERIALS, 1925-1930





PRODUCTION OF FOODSTUFFS IN DIFFERENT CONTINENTAL GROUPS, 1925-1929/30





- 19 -

British coal dispute. In 1928, unusually good harvests, as well as a substantial advance in the output of meat and certain raw materials, and, in 1929, a remarkable advance in the output of raw materials, were mainly responsible for the continued rise in the index. The total increase during the period 1925-1929 amounts to 11 per cent, which is equivalent to an average rise of 2.6 per cent per annum.¹ In 1930, however, there was a very rapid decline, particularly in North America and Europe excluding the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics.

The rate of growth in Europe including the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics between 1925 and 1929 averaged about 4 per cent per annum, while, in the rest of the world taken together, it was only 1.6 per cent. The rapid rise in the European indices in 1929 and particularly in that for Europe excluding the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics was due in part to rich food crops but mainly to a very marked advance in the output of raw materials. The heavy drop in 1930 is likewise chiefly caused by the movement in the raw material production.

The indices for North and Latin America show a development very different from that of Europe. In both, the highest point was reached in 1928. The decline in 1929 was wholly due to a reduction in crops; the output of industrial raw materials continued to rise in that year, but contracted heavily in 1930. The net increase between 1925 and 1929 was less in North America than in any other continent.

An increase of about 14 per cent between 1925 and 1929 is recorded for Africa. It should be borne in mind, however, that the contribution of this continent to the world's total production is small. The exceptional rise in the African index in 1929 is largely due to heavy crops. The general index for Oceania, which, in 1928, was higher than that of any other continent, decreased in 1929 on account of light crops and a drop in the output of wool. Asiatic production shows a regular but comparatively slow development since 1926.

According to the provisional joint index for Latin America, Africa, Asia and Oceania shown above, their aggregate production of foodstuffs and raw materials in 1930 would appear to have been roughly equal to that in 1929; but the 1930 data available for these continental groups are less complete than those for Europe and North America.

Certain of the major factors responsible for the relative changes since 1925 indicated above will become clear from an examination of the indices for different groups of commodities.

Production of Foodstuffs.

The following table gives the indices for foodstuffs in a manner similar to that adopted in the preceding table.

¹ Throughout this chapter, the rates of development are calculated direct from production aggregates and therefore do not always exactly coincide with the changes indicated by the indices and percentages shown in the tables.

TABLE IV.

FOODSTUFFS PRODUCTION INDICES, WEIGHTED BY 1929 VALUES.

(Base: 1925=100)

Continental groups	1925	1926	1927	1928	1929	1930 *
Europe, excluding U.S.S.R.	100	94	100	105	112	106
Europe, including U.S.S.R.	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 100 \\ 100 \\ 100 \\ 100 \\ 100 \end{array} $	$99 \\99 \\104 \\100 \\100 \\112$	$ \begin{array}{r} 101 \\ 102 \\ 110 \\ 108 \\ 101 \\ 105 \end{array} $	$106 \\ 108 \\ 109 \\ 107 \\ 102 \\ 117$	$110 \\ 97 \\ 103 \\ 114 \\ 102 \\ 108$	111 95 107
World	100	100	102	106	105	105

* Provisional indices.

Foodstuffs indices for which a single year is used as base are obviously open to criticism. They are mainly useful as indicating the year-to-year variations. In 1925, the harvests of cereals and other food crops exceeded the average for the quinquennium 1923-1927 by some 9 per cent in Europe, about 3 per cent in Latin America and 1 per cent in Africa and Asia, while, in North America, they fell short of that average by about 1 per cent and, in Oceania, by roughly 7 per cent. World harvests in 1925 were about 3.5 per cent greater than the average for 1923-1927. Had that average been adopted as base in the case of these products, this would not have appreciably affected the indices of the total foodstuffs production (including meat and colonial produce) for North America, Latin America, Africa and Asia. The relative level of the world index for foodstuffs production would have been roughly two points higher throughout the period considered, the level of the Oceanian index would have been very considerably lower and that of the European indices very considerably higher. Thus, the 1929 index for Europe, excluding the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, would have risen to 119 and that for Europe, including the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, to 117. The increase in the foodstuffs production in recent years over the average output in 1923-1927 has, therefore, been much larger in Europe than in the other continental groups. On the other hand, this average was some 3 per cent lower than that for 1909-1913 in Europe, about 17 per cent higher both in North America and in the other continental groups taken together and about 8 per cent higher in the world as a whole.

World production of foodstuffs reached its peak in 1928, declined but slightly in 1929 and appears to have risen again in 1930 to a level which, according to the preliminary data available, was less than a half per cent below that of 1928.

The foodstuffs index reflects mainly the variations in the cereal harvests and other food crops. In 1928 (1928-29 in the southern hemisphere), crops were heavy all over the world and particularly in North and Latin America and Oceania. As a result, the carry-over of certain cereals was exceptionally large, and prices began to sag. In 1929 (1929-30), world harvests declined from the high figures of the preceding year on account of a considerable reduction in the crops of the great exporting countries in America and Oceania, while, at the same time, the requirements from overseas of the chief importing countries in Europe diminished on account of record harvests in these areas and the reappearance of Soviet Russia as an exporter. According to the preliminary information for 1930 (1930-31), the cereal harvests were again relatively heavy, exceeding those of the preceding year, in spite of a not inconsiderable reduction in Europe (apart from the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics) and North America. As a consequence, exportable stocks further increased during that year and are expected to reach unprecedented figures by the end of the commercial year 1930-31.

The production of meat reached its peak in 1928 and fell in 1929; a further slight reduction in meat production has been assumed in calculating the provisional foodstuffs index for 1930. The colonial produce and hops group has followed a different trend, but it weighs less in the food aggregate.

Europe (including the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics) accounts for more than 40 per cent of the world production of the foodstuffs considered. European erops, which, in 1925, were well above the pre-war average, shrank considerably in 1926, except in the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, but rose subsequently without interruption and reached a very high level in 1929. For the first time since the war, Europe's share in world production of cereals then exceeded 50 per cent. The cereal harvests and other food crops were reduced in Europe, excluding the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, in 1930, but this decrease was more than compensated for by an advance of about 20 per cent in Soviet Russia. The reduced requirements of the European countries further accentuated the depression in the cereal markets overseas. European meat production had, by 1925, probably recovered its 1913 level; it increased very rapidly (by 19 per cent) up to 1928, but has since declined to some extent.

The crops reaped in North America, the second largest supplier of these foodstuffs, show a movement between 1925 and 1928 somewhat similar to that in Europe : in the latter year, they exceeded the pre-war average by more than one quarter, but shrank heavily in 1929, and further decreased in 1930. American meat production, on the other hand, remained practically stationary, at probably 26 to 27 per cent above the 1913 level, during the whole period under review.

The foodstuff index for Latin America mainly reflects the fluctuations in wheat and coffee production. The record coffee crop of 1927-28 and the abundant wheat harvest in 1928-29 account for the high indices for these years. The drop in 1929-30 is entirely due to a 53 per cent reduction in the wheat harvest in the Argentine. In 1930-31, again, the wheat harvest in Latin America improved, without, however, reaching the high figures for 1926-27 to 1928-29, while the coffee crop was the lightest since 1925-26. Africa shows, in 1929-30, a higher index for foodstuffs than any other continent, a result of record harvests of wheat and maize. The exceptional rise in the index for Oceania in 1928 and the heavy fall in 1929 are mainly due to variations in the wheat crop and, to a less extent, in meat output. On the other hand, the index for Asia, in which rice plays a predominant rôle, has remained remarkably steady.

Production of Raw Materials.

Indices of the aggregate production of industrial raw materials are given in the following table :

TABLE V.

RAW-MATERIAL PRODUCTION INDICES, WEIGHTED BY 1929 VALUES.

(Base: 1925=100)

Continental groups	1925	1926	1927	1928	1929	1930 *
Europe, excluding U.S.S.R	100	94	118	117	130	114
Europe, including U.S.S.R.	$ 100 \\ 100 \\ 100 \\ 100 \\ 100 \\ 100 $	$96 \\ 108 \\ 101 \\ 99 \\ 102 \\ 107$	118 100 104 96 109 107	$119 \\ 106 \\ 118 \\ 108 \\ 114 \\ 113$	$131 \\ 114 \\ 122 \\ 115 \\ 116 \\ 108$	119 100 115
World	100	103	108	112	120	110

* Provisional indices.

The world index based on the old production series weighted by 1927 values showed an increase of 25 per cent in the output of raw materials between 1913 and 1925 as against 11 per cent in the case of foodstuffs. But the raw-material production in Europe (including the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics) was only fractionally higher than before the war, while in Oceania it was one-sixth, in North and South America about one-third, in Asia one-half, and in Africa two-thirds higher.

The above table shows that, in the quinquennium under review, the output of raw materials, in contrast to that of foodstuffs, has expanded without interruption. The growth in 1929 was greater than in any other single year since the war. The average annual increase between 1925 and 1929 was about 4.7 per cent as against 1.2 per cent in the case of foodstuffs. The aggregate production of raw materials appears to have dropped by more than 8 per cent in 1930: but the provisional world index is higher than in 1927 and only a little lower than in 1928. A more detailed analysis of the movement in the production of the various groups of commodities included in the raw-material index will be made later.

The outstanding general feature in raw-material production up to 1929 was the tendency toward a re-establishment of the pre-war balance between Europe and the rest of the world. The recovery of Europe was temporarily checked in 1926 and again in 1928, but in 1927 and 1929 very rapid growth is recorded. This advance was largely due to the fact that the production of heavy raw materials, such as coal, iron and steel, which had lagged much behind up to 1925-26, advanced very rapidly in subsequent years and reached record figures in 1929. According to the preliminary data available, raw-material production dropped in 1930 in Europe, excluding the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, by not less than 12 per cent, but Soviet Russia further raised her output to the effect that in Europe, including the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, the decrease was 9 per cent, and the quantum of production maintained the high level of 1927 and 1928.

Raw-material production in North America experienced a setback in 1927, but increased remarkably in the subsequent years. Peak figures were recorded in 1929 for iron and steel, copper and petroleum, but the production of certain other important products, such as cotton and coal, was on a lower scale than in some of the preceding years. Total production of raw materials in 1930 declined by 12 per cent, as in Europe excluding the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, and was lower than in any year since 1925.

The index for Latin America is mainly influenced by the output of petroleum in Venezuela, Colombia and Mexico, the wool clip in Argentine and Uruguay, and by copper and nitrate production in Chile. Egyptian cotton and South-African wool have a considerable influence on the African index. Rubber, tin, steel, natural silk, jute and vegetable oil materials together with tobacco all contributed to the rise in the index for Asia up to 1928; but the further increase in 1929 was almost exclusively due to the record output of natural silk in Japan, and of rubber, particularly in British Malaya, while the production of the other principal Asiatic products either remained stationary or declined. Raw material output in Oceania reached its peak in 1928, but declined by nearly 5 per cent in 1929, mainly as a result of the variations in the wool clip which has a decisive weight in the index for this continent.

A preliminary index of raw-material production in 1930 has been calculated for Latin America, Africa, Asia and Oceania, taken together. It appears that the aggregate production of these continents was practically the same in 1930 as in 1929.

A comprehensive production index including raw materials of agricultural origin must necessarily be based on annual figures. Monthly production figures are only available for a few of the other raw materials and in relatively few countries; but they show that, in certain cases, and particularly in North America, the trend of production had turned decidedly downwards in the course of 1929. The consumption of important raw materials did not, in fact, keep pace with the rapid advance in production in 1929 and declined more rapidly in 1930 as reflected by a marked increase in stocks since the middle of the former year. The increasing stocks weighed heavily on the market and precipitated the fall in prices and the gradual extension of the economic depression in 1930 to all parts of the world.

Relative Importance of the Different Continental Groups.

The extent to which the contributions of the different continental groups to the total volume of production considered have changed in relative importance in recent years is brought out in Table VI. This table gives the percentage distribution of the aggregate production of foodstuffs and raw materials and of these two groups of commodities combined in the years 1925 and 1929. Figures for each year, weighted both by 1925 and 1929 values, are given in Annex IV.

TABLE VI.

PERCENTAGE DISTRIBUTION OF AGGREGATE PRODUCTION OF FOODSTUFFS AND RAW MATERIALS, WEIGHTED BY 1929 VALUES.

Continental groups	Food	Foodstuffs		Raw materials		otal uction
	1925	1929	1925	1929	1925	1929
Europe, excluding U.S.S.R	29.0	31.0	28.0	30.3	28.6	30.7
Europe, including U.S.S.R	$ \begin{array}{r} 41.9\\ 25.8\\ 9.6\\ 2.7\\ 18.3\\ 1.7\\ 100\\ \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 44.2 \\ 23.8 \\ 9.5 \\ 3.0 \\ 17.8 \\ 1.7 \\ \end{array} $ 100	$ \begin{array}{r} 31.5 \\ 40.7 \\ 5.2 \\ 3.1 \\ 16.9 \\ 2.6 \\ 100 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 34.6 \\ 38.6 \\ 5.3 \\ 2.9 \\ 16.3 \\ 2.3 \\ \hline 100 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 38.0 \\ 31.5 \\ 7.9 \\ 2.9 \\ 17.7 \\ 2.0 \\ 100 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 40.2 \\ 29.9 \\ 7.7 \\ 3.0 \\ 17.2 \\ 2.0 \\ \end{array} $ 100

(World total=100)

Europe's share in world production of both foodstuffs and raw materials increased during the period under review, and more in the case of the latter than in that of the former.

The complement to this change in Europe's relative position is to be found in an almost equal drop in the share of North America. The share of the other continents taken together has dropped much less and this loss was indeed almost wholly confined to Asia.

Relative Importance of Foodstuffs and Raw Materials

That the production of foodstuffs should have developed less rapidly than that of raw materials is to be expected in all progressive countries after they have reached a certain standard of living. The figures for any single year are, in the case of foodstuffs and raw materials of agricultural origin, naturally influenced by weather conditions, but the nature of this tendency can be appreciated by an inspection of Annex V, condensed in Table VII below, which shows the percentage distribution of the production aggregates between foodstuffs and raw materials in 1925 and 1929. The figures are all weighted by 1929 values, so that the changes result from alterations in quantities only. As shown in Annex V, rather different results are obtained if the production figures are weighted by 1925 values, as a result of changes in relative prices between 1925 and 1929, but the tendency is equally clear.

TABLE VII.

SHOWING THE RELATIVE IMPORTANCE OF FOODSTUFFS AND RAW MATERIALS IN AGGREGATE PRODUCTION, WEIGHTED BY 1929 VALUES.

Continental groups	Food	stuffs	Raw materials		
	1925	1929	1925	1929	
Europe, excluding U.S.S.R.	62.6	59.1	37.4	40.9	
Europe, including U.S.S.R.	$68.3 \\ 50.7 \\ 74.8 \\ 59.1 \\ 63.7 \\ 51.5$	$\begin{array}{c} 64.4 \\ 46.5 \\ 71.6 \\ 58.9 \\ 60.8 \\ 51.5 \end{array}$	31.7 49.3 25.2 40.9 36.3 48.5	35.6 53.5 28.4 41.1 39.2 48.5	
World	61.9	58.6	38.1	41.4	

(Total production of each continental group=100)

It will be seen that foodstuffs have lost, and industrial raw materials gained, in relative importance in all continental groups except Oceania.

The percentages shown above are affected to some extent by the fact that, for metals, smelter production is taken instead of mine production. In consequence, the figures for Latin America and Africa are somewhat reduced. Moreover, it should be noted that the statistics of the foodstuff production in Asia (which omit China) and also those relating to Africa are incomplete, while the raw material output is fairly accurately recorded in all continents. Nevertheless, the table brings into light the remarkable differences which exist between the different continental groups in respect of the relative importance of foodstuffs and raw materials. The figures for North America and Europe where the bulk of the commodities produced is actually consumed within the respective continents, are of particular significance. In North America a much greater proportion of total expenditure is devoted to the production of raw materials than in Europe, even excluding the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics. A still greater proportion than that indicated above is, in point of fact, in North America devoted to the purchase of raw materials, for the United States of America is relying more and more on outside sources of supply. Had calculations been made for Western Europe separately, a result similar to that shown above for North America would have been obtained, although the preponderance of raw materials would have been somewhat less.

Production of the Principal Commodity Groups.

In Table VIII below will be found indices for each commodity group for the years 1925 to 1929, together with provisional indices for 1930 for most of these groups.

TABLE VIII.

GROUP INDICES OF PRODUCTION IN THE WORLD AS A WHOLE, WEIGHTED BY 1929 VALUES.

Groups of products	1925	1926	1927	1928	1929	1930 *
Cereals	$\begin{array}{c} 100\\ 100\\ (100)\\ 100\\ 100\\ 100\\ 100\\ 100\\ 100\\ 100\\$	$\begin{array}{c} 99\\ 98\\ (102)\\ 109\\ 103\\ 99\\ 104\\ 111\\ 110\\ 107\\ 100\\ 103 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 99\\ 100\\ (105)\\ 132\\ 101\\ 110\\ 98\\ 122\\ 114\\ 116\\ 110\\ 112\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 104\\ 104\\ (110)\\ 116\\ 106\\ 106\\ 106\\ 116\\ 117\\ 123\\ 110\\ 120\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 101\\ 103\\ (107)\\ 125\\ 113\\ 112\\ 108\\ 149\\ 131\\ 124\\ 119\\ 131 \end{array}$	102 105 107 106 109 140 109 107
Chemicals (fertilisers)	100	100	106	123	133	• • •
Foodstuffs	100 100	100 103	102 108	106 112	105 120	106 110
General Index	100	101	104	108	111	107

(Base: 1925=100)

* Provisional indices.

The first index given above is supplementary to the second which includes, in addition to cereals, rice, potatoes and raw sugar. Individual indices for each of the commodities comprised in the above groups are given in Annex II, and separate indices for the production by continents of each group of commodities will be found in Annex III.

Of all the commodity groups, that of cereals is the most important, accounting in 1929 for about 25 per cent of the aggregate on which the general index is based. The production of cereals has, however, increased but little since the war and remained in the years 1925 to 1927 4 to 5 per cent above the pre-war level; but the harvest of 1928 (in the southern hemisphere, 1928-29) was exceptionally large. In 1929 (1929-30), total world production of cereals shrank considerably owing to very light crops in the great exporting countries in America and Oceania which were only partly offset by record harvests in Europe. This increase in European crops, in conjunction with the accumulation of heavy stocks elsewhere from previous seasons, depressed the market and caused a slump in cereal prices. According to the preliminary information available, the aggregate cereal harvests of 1930 (1930-31) were somewhat heavier than in the preceding year, but not as good as in 1928 (1928-29). Both in Europe, excluding the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, and in North America, the harvests declined, but Soviet Russia reaped record crops; in the rest of the world, taken together, the harvests were considerably larger than in either 1925 or 1929. As a result, the agricultural depression was further accentuated in 1930 and the beginning of 1931.

The wheat market has been the most seriously affected. The commercial year beginning on August 1st, 1929, opened with abnormally large stocks amounting to about 122.5 million quintals. The world harvest of wheat was reduced by about 151 million quintals and was less than the average for the quinquennium 1923-1927 (1923-24 - 1927-28); almost half of this reduction was attributable to Canada and the remainder to the United States of America, Argentine and Australia. At the same time, the requirements from overseas of the chief importing countries of Europe were substantially reduced and the exporting countries were unable to market their whole supply. As a result, although the world harvest of 1929-30 was moderate, there remained, on July 31st, 1930, a carry-over of 114.3 million quintals. The consequent disturbances were particularly severe in the Argentine, Australia, Canada and the United States of America. An extremely heavy burden was imposed upon the Canadian Wheat Pool, which ultimately, however, received both official and private financial support. In the United States of America, a new organisation, the Federal Farm Board, was created in 1929 with the object of bringing about a stabilisation of prices and waging a campaign for the reduction of acreage under wheat and cotton.

The estimated world harvest in 1930 (1930-31) shows an increase of about 147 million quintals, or nearly 13 per cent over that of the preceding year; the greater part of this increase is due to record crops in Soviet Russia. The surplus of wheat that will be available for export at the end of the commercial year (July 31st, 1931) is estimated by the International Institute of Agriculture at some 130 million quintals, the highest figure ever recorded.

The harvest of oats in 1929 (1929-1930) was considerably above and that of barley very much above the average for 1923 to 1927. In 1929, Europe reaped record harvests of both cereals, but the fall in the North American oats crop in that year more than outweighed the increase in European countries. The world harvests of rye and maize, which were light in 1928, recovered in 1929 to about the average for 1923 to 1927. The greater part of the increase in the rye harvest in that year was attributable to Soviet Russia. In 1930 (1930-31), the harvests of rye and oats were heavier than in the preceding year, but those of barley and maize decreased.

Other Food Crops.

The yields of rice, potatoes and raw sugar in 1928 (1928-29) equalled or exceeded those for any preceding year. In 1929 (1929-30), the rice and sugar crops dropped, while the yield of potatoes advanced, largely owing to a record crop in France and other European countries. The preliminary figures for 1930 (1930-31) indicate a considerable increase in the rice crop, a slight advance in the total output of raw sugar, but a small decline in the yield of potatoes.

During the years preceding the period under review, cane-sugar gained ground from beet and ultimately represented about two-thirds of the total production of raw sugar. This tendency however was reversed in the period 1925 to 1930. The fluctuations in both crops were similar : after a fall in 1926-27, both increased in the two subsequent years, and dropped in 1929-30. But the average rate of increase up to 1929 was considerably higher for beet-sugar than for cane-sugar. In 1930-31, moreover, the beet-sugar crop rose by not less than 25 per cent — this increase being chiefly attributable to Soviet Russia — while that of cane-sugar decreased by nearly 8 per cent.

The beet-sugar industry has been largely stimulated, especially in European countries, by protective duties and subsidies. On the other hand, the output of cane-sugar was checked by the restriction scheme adopted in Cuba, the largest single producer. This policy eventually failed, however, and the scheme was abandoned in 1928. Since the record sugar crop in 1928-29, the accumulated stocks in Cuba and elsewhere have grown rapidly and prices have fallen continuously though total stocks are not large as compared with world production ; but they are, in the main, concentrated in a few exporting centres. The world output of raw sugar rose from 254 million quintals in 1925-26 to 282 million in 1930-31, and total stocks from 33 to 68 million quintals between the end of 1925 and the end of 1930. In 1930 and 1931, the chief sugar exporters of Cuba, Java, and Europe agreed to form a world cartel with a view to checking production and regulating exports.

Meat.

The statistics of meat production are very defective. In preparing the present edition of the *Memorandum*, the various figures and estimates employed in calculating the index were revised and completed as far as possible. The meat index remains, however, conjectural in character and is therefore printed in parentheses.

The world production of meat appears to have increased until 1928. This increase was largely due to an advance in the production of pork, more especially

in Europe. It would seem that there has been in recent years a substantial shift in demand from cereals to meat and potatoes; no doubt, if statistics were available, it would be found that the consumption of fruit has likewise increased rapidly.

Since 1925, meat production in North and Latin America has remained almost stationary. On the other hand, the European production of meat only reached the pre-war level in 1925, but increased by nearly one-fifth between 1925 and 1928. In 1929, a considerable drop seems to have taken place; but the index still remained well above the average for 1925 to 1927. In Africa, Asia and Oceania meat production advanced at a moderate rate after 1925. In 1929, a slight increase in Africa was offset by a drop in Oceania.

Colonial Produce and Hops.

The production of the commodities included in this group has nearly doubled since immediately before the war. The group index reflects mainly the great variations in the coffee crops. The crop of 1927-28 was the heaviest ever harvested, exceeding that of the preceding season by one-third. The crop was considerably reduced in 1928-29, recovered again by some 10 per cent in 1929-30, but is believed to have contracted by about 20 per cent in 1930-31, and to be smaller than in any year since 1925-26. The stocks accumulated in Brazil amounted at the end of 1929 to 12 million and at the end of 1930 to 14.5 million quintals, which nearly equals the average annual production of coffee in the world prior to 1926-27. In consequence, coffee prices have shown an unprecedented fall.

The production of tea has increased regularly during the period 1925-26 to 1929-30, but the rate of growth, although high, was lower than that for coffee. The stocks held in the United Kingdom, which consumes about half the total tea crop, increased from 1,093,000 metric quintals at the end of 1928 to 1,361,000 metric quintals at the end of 1930. The tea planters in British India and Dutch East Indies were led to take measures with a view to restricting output. As a result of these measures and also of unfavourable weather conditions, the estimated tea crop of 1930-31 is lighter than in the two preceding years.

The output of cocoa, which in 1925 was more than double that of 1913, has increased less during the period under review than that of coffee and tea. The production of hops slightly exceeded the pre-war level for the first time in 1929, but dropped considerably in 1930.

Tobacco.

Too much reliance should not be placed on the statistics for tobacco as, owing to lack of actual production data for India, the Asiatic production is, in the main, estimated on the basis of figures for area under cultivation. From the figures available, it would appear that a great increase in world production occurred between 1913 and 1925. In 1925 to 1927 the output changed but little, but in the two last years under review has made further advance. This advance has been particularly marked in Latin America.

Vegetable Oil Materials.

The group index for vegetable oil materials, which rose comparatively rapidly up to 1925, has since risen less than that for any other group of raw materials.

The movement in the three last years covered is largely influenced by great variations in the output of olive oil, which was very large in 1927, but reached in 1929 the highest figure ever recorded. Indeed, the European index for vegetable oils, which is almost wholly governed by olive-oil production, advanced in that year to 173 (excluding the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics). On the other hand, the yield of linseed decreased heavily in 1928 and still more in 1929. As the Argentine produces about one-half of the world supply of linseed, and as other vegetable oils are of small importance in Latin America, the index of this continent for 1929 dropped to 75. In 1930, the olive-oil output was little more than one-third of that in the preceding year, while the linseed crop rose by more than one-fourth. The cotton-seed crop, another important oil product of temperate regions, has varied but little in the last three years.

The total tropical supplies of vegetable oils increased slightly in 1928, but contracted in 1929. This decrease is wholly due to a considerable fall in the crop of ground-nuts in India which accounts for more than one-half of the world total. The yields of all other tropical oils increased.

Textiles.

The production of textile raw materials as a whole developed less rapidly than that of any other commodity group, except food and fuels, up to 1925 and, since that year, the index has risen but little, the net advance up to 1930 being about 9 per cent. Nevertheless, the supplies of textile raw materials have, in recent years, been in excess of requirements owing to a contraction in the demand for finished textile products.

The chief textile, cotton, has continued to suffer from the competition of the finer and more expensive materials. The production of raw cotton decreased from 1925-26 to 1929-30 by 7 per cent; the figure for the latter year, although above the average for 1921-22 to 1925-26, is the lowest recorded in the period under review. The estimated crop of 1930-31 exceeds that of the preceding year by about 7 per cent. On the other hand, the mill consumption of raw cotton increased slightly in 1929, but fell by about 12 per cent in 1930. According to the estimate of an expert body (Liverpool Cotton Association), the world stocks of raw cotton increased from 7,024 million bales at the end of 1928 to 7,234 million at the end of 1929, and reached as much as 9,396 million at the end of 1930, which corresponds to about 40 per cent of the average annual cotton-mill consumption of the world.

Increased consumption of mutton helped to augment the supplies of wool coming forward up to 1928-29, the year of record clip. During the second half of 1929, however, it became evident that the supplies could no longer be absorbed by the market, and the increase was accordingly arrested. The wool clip of 1929-30 was nearly as large as in the preceding year, but, according to preliminary information, the clip of 1930-31 is likely to show a considerable reduction. The flax crops of the years 1926 to 1928 were much lighter than that of 1925, which was below the pre-war average; for 1929 and 1930, however, a remarkable advance is recorded, chiefly owing to very favourable crops reaped in the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics. The production of jute, which is practically confined to India, likewise increased both in 1929 and 1930.

The output of artificial silk increased, between 1925 and 1929, by as much as 132 per cent — that is, more than that of any other commodity considered and the production of natural silk also showed a steady and considerable advance during that period. In 1930, a moderate decrease was recorded for both products.

Rubber.

The production of raw rubber increased extremely rapidly during the whole post-war period until 1927, in spite of the restriction scheme adopted in the British controlled areas in 1922. This scheme was abandoned in November 1928. The total production of 1928, however, was about 32,000 tons below that of the preceding year. In spite of this decrease, total shipments of rubber increased by some 6 to 7 per cent, owing to the stocks previously accumulated. The removal of the restriction scheme made itself felt in 1929, when both production and shipments increased more than in any single year of the period under review. The total output of rubber in 1929 exceeded that of 1925 by almost a half, and that of 1928 by nearly one-third. The bulk of the increase is attributable to British Malaya and also to a considerable extent to the Dutch East Indies. In 1930, the British and Dutch producers in the Asiatic plantation areas ceased tapping for one month. The total output of rubber decreased by about 6 per cent in that year, but rubber consumption, which had increased less than production in 1929, declined considerably. The consequent over-supply of raw rubber in recent years is reflected in a rapid increase in stocks. According to the Wijnand & Keppler's Rubberbericht, world stocks of raw rubber grew from 275,000 tons at the end of March 1929 to 409,300 in March 1930 and 517,900 in March 1931. The last-mentioned figure represents over 60 per cent of the world output in 1930.

Wood-pulp.

The production of wood-pulp, which, by 1925, was over 50 per cent greater than in 1913, increased by more than one-third in the subsequent four years and thus developed more rapidly than that of the other groups considered, except rubber. The growth was particularly rapid in 1929 and, since 1926, considerably greater in Europe than in North America; consequently, Europe's share in world production has increased continuously since that year.

The tendency, to which reference has been made in preceding editions of this *Memorandum*, for chemical pulp to gain ground from mechanical has persisted in recent years. The syndicate of Norwegian, Swedish and Finnish producers of mechanical pulp took measures in 1929 to curtail production, and the principal producers of chemical (sulphite) pulp in Northern and Central Europe did likewise in 1930. Comprehensive production figures for that year are not yet available.
Cement.

As already stated, the cement index does not include Latin America or Africa and is not complete for certain other continents. It is, however, sufficiently representative to afford a fair indication of the growth of this particular industry in the regions to which it relates; these regions undoubtedly account for the bulk of the production of the world as a whole. But the index should not be employed as a measure of building activity. Between 1925 and 1929, output increased at an average rate of a little more than 6 per cent per annum, but this rate was not maintained in 1930, according to the somewhat incomplete data available.

Fuels.

World production of fuels, which rose by 10 per cent in 1927, the year after the British coal dispute, remained unchanged in 1928, and advanced by another 8 per cent in 1929. In 1930, however, it dropped below the level of 1927-28.

The increase in the aggregate output of coal and lignite (in terms of coal) in 1929 by some 80 million tons, or about 6 per cent, was very remarkable, being greater than that recorded in the whole period 1924 to 1928. Of this increase, nearly two-thirds was accounted for by Europe, where demand was stimulated by, *inter alia*, a hard winter. In the United States of America, output was also large, though less than in either 1923 or 1926. The drop in world production in 1930 amounted to 127 million tons, or about 9 per cent. The output of the United States decreased by over 70 million tons and fell to a lower figure than for any year since 1922. The decline in output was considerable also in Germany (27 million tons), the United Kingdom (over 14 millions) and in Poland (almost 9 millions). On the other hand, output remained on the 1929 level in France and Belgium, and continued to increase in the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics.

The petroleum output of the world has for many years increased uninterruptedly and, particularly in recent years, considerably more than consumption. Between 1925 and 1929, output rose by 39 per cent - i.e., at an average rate of 81/2 per cent per annum. The advance in 1929 alone was 12 per cent (22.5 million tons). Twothirds of the additional supply of crude oil in that year was accounted for by the United States of America, where the stocks at the end of December reached the unprecedented figure of 95 million tons - almost two-thirds of its total production figure for the same year. The producers attempted, in the second half of 1929, to tighten up the policy of restriction, but were hampered by the continuation of unrestricted production in Venezuela and elsewhere. Venezuela, indeed, increased her output by 30 per cent in 1929. Record figures were also reached in the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, where output rose by 17 per cent. The world petroleum output decreased in 1930 by nearly 11 million tons, or 5 per cent. This drop was chiefly due to the restriction effected in the United States of America. The output of Venezuela remained practically unchanged, but, towards the end of 1930, the oil companies in that country also agreed to cut down production. The only countries which increased output considerably were the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics and Roumania.

The group index of fuel production does not allow for such electrical power as is generated by hydro-electric plants. The rapid development that has taken place in the output of electricity is referred to in Chapter IV.

Metals.

The statistics on which the metal index is based relate to smelter production and not to the mine production. In consequence, the continental distribution in the annexes must not be interpreted as indicating the primary sources of supply. The figures for North America and Europe are higher and those for the other continents appreciably lower than they would have been had it been possible to employ data relating to the output of mines.

It will be seen that the group index for metals rose without interruption throughout the period 1925 to 1929. The advance by 10 per cent in 1929 was quite exceptional. The aggregate production in that year was nearly one-third as high as in 1925. On the other hand, the output of metals dropped in 1930 by 19 per cent—i.e., more than any other commodity group for which comprehensive data are available.

Pig-iron and raw steel account for about three-quarters of the aggregate upon which the metal index is based, and thus largely determine the movement in that index. The iron and steel industry is dealt with in Chapter IV and need not be discussed in detail here. It is sufficient to point out that the output of both iron and steel advanced very considerably in 1929, and fell heavily in 1930 — steel being more seriously affected than pig-iron.

The total production of non-ferrous metals has likewise advanced considerably in recent years and was, in 1929, the highest on record. The total increase between 1925 and 1929 was about 50 per cent for aluminium and nickel, 40 per cent for copper, 30 per cent for zinc and tin, but only 16 per cent for lead. In spite of a steady advance in consumption, there was a considerable over-supply of all these metals and large stocks were accumulated. In 1930, a heavy drop in output was registered for all the metals concerned. The production of copper declined by 357,000 tons, or 18 per cent; that of tin by 18,000 tons, or 9 per cent; that of lead by 133,000 tons, or 7 per cent; and that of zinc by 88,000 tons, or 6 per cent. Consumption declined still more, however, and stocks rose very rapidly, as shown by the following end-of-year figures :

STOCKS O	OF CERTAIN	NON-FERROUS	METALS.
----------	------------	-------------	---------

000

	1928 1929	1930
	Tons (00	0's)
Copper, refined (North and Latin America)	60 81	276
Lead (United States of America).	49 56	100
Zinc (Europe and United States of America).	. 117	238
Tin (World)	23 28	42

The figures at the end of 1930 shown above for tin, copper and zinc, which practically cover total world stocks, represent roughly one-fourth, one-fifth and one-sixth respectively of the world production of these metals in that year. The production and marketing of non-ferrous metals is to a great extent under the control of large groups. The copper market was controlled by the American Copper Cartel until 1930. The Tin Producers' Association, which includes the great majority of producers in the different continents, adopted a restriction scheme for 1930. The great American and British nickel interests combined in 1929. The aluminium market is dominated by the European cartel, on the one hand, and the American-Canadian Trust, on the other. In 1929, the latter group considerably increased its output, so that the European cartel now controls less than half the world production. On the other hand, the zinc cartel, formed in 1928, made unsuccessful attempts to check the decline in prices, and was dissolved at the end of 1929, but efforts to form another cartel were made in 1930. ¹

The recent developments on the silver market are of special interest. Silver is largely obtained as a by-product at copper and lead mines, and the supply of new metal has varied but little, the net increase between 1925 and 1929 being only 4 per cent. But old silver made available through demonetisation of subsidiary coin or by reduction of their silver content has swelled the supply. On the other hand, the demand for silver for monetary purposes has declined, and the Oriental market has become saturated. In 1928, Siam adopted the gold standard; in 1929, the Indian Government effected large sales; in 1929 and 1930, the Chinese authorities practised to an increasing extent the policy of exchanging silver for more stable values, and in 1930, Indo-China adopted the gold standard and placed large quantities of silver on the market. In spite of a drop of about 7 per cent in the world output of silver in 1930, its price continued to fall, and reached in 1931 the lowest level on record.

Chemicals (Fertilisers).

The chemical industry has been among the most prosperous in recent years, and the group index shows an increase in total production of about one-third during the period 1925 to 1929. The advance realised in 1929 was, however, not as great as in the preceding year. The rate of increase has been about equal in Europe and North America, but sensibly lower in Latin America. Europe now accounts for nearly 60 per cent of the world's total production of fertilisers. Though incomplete, the available data for 1930 would appear to suggest that the production of fertilisers was not reduced in that year.

The three principal groups of fertilisers considered are phosphates, potash and nitrates. The increase has been least in the phosphates group as a whole, although, in certain countries, remarkable progress has been made in recent years.

The production of potash, the world monopoly of which is shared by Germany and France, has risen since 1925 by 23 per cent. The absolute increase in the output of both countries was about the same, but the relative increase was greater in the French (Alsatian) industry.

The nitrate industry, the most important branch of the fertiliser group, has shown the greatest advance. In 1927, the production of Chilian nitrate of soda,

¹ The cartel was reconstituted in 1931.

which was being rapidly replaced by synthetic products, was little more than one-half of the pre-war figure; but it almost doubled in 1928, exceeding the 1913 level for the first time, and advanced further in 1929. In that year, an agreement was concluded between the Chilian nitrate industry and the largest European producers of synthetic nitrogen.

The output of sulphur has increased during the period under review by as much as 58 per cent, that of natural guano has risen by 11 per cent only. The production of copper sulphate made rapid progress until 1928, but, owing to a market contraction in Italy, dropped considerably in 1929.

III. INTERNATIONAL TRADE.¹

The recorded aggregate import value of goods in international trade increased from \$33,150 million in 1925 to \$35,343 million in 1929. The corresponding export figure, which differs from the import figure partly because it excludes freight and insurance, rose from \$31,434 million to \$32,742 million. The percentage distribution of this trade among different continental groups and the percentage movement of the value of imports and exports of each group during the period under review are shown in Table IX. The values for each group upon which these percentages are based were reached simply by adding those of the individual countries belonging to it. The figures for each group thus represent, in addition to the trade of the group with the rest of the world, the trade between its constituent parts.

The share of Europe in world trade, after the decline during and immediately after the war, grew from 50.8 per cent in 1925 to 52.2 per cent in 1929. The share of North America in 1929 was over one-sixth and that of Asia just over one-seventh. During the five years shown these three continents accounted for over 84 per cent of world trade. The figures are to some extent affected by the exclusion of freights from the recorded imports of some countries, particularly the United States of America and Canada. If freights were included throughout, North American imports and total trade in 1929 would rise from 15.9 and 17.5 per cent to about 17.1 and 18.2 per cent of world imports and total trade, and the shares of Europe would fall by an almost corresponding amount.

Trade movements during the years under review, and particularly the irregular movements of imports and exports of the individual groups, were largely influenced by capital movements and variations in crops.

The supply of capital from a number of capital-exporting countries fell off in 1926 and 1929, when these countries employed a larger proportion of their national income for domestic consumption or investment. Their trade balance then became less active or more passive than in the years 1925, 1927 and 1928, when international capital movements were on a larger scale, while the reverse is true of certain borrowing countries. It is largely for this reason that, as is shown by the last five columns of Table IX, the value of North American imports reached a maximum in 1926 and 1929, while exports in these years fell off in value. The fluctuations in the European balance of trade during the period were largely determined by the borrowings of Germany. In spite of the fact that the British coal dispute in 1926 affected British exports more than imports, the contraction

¹ A more detailed analysis of international trade during the years 1927-1929 is given in Volume I of Memorandum on International Trade and Balances of Payments, 1927-1929 (Series of publications : 1930. II.54/1). The three previous issues of the same Memorandum deal with trade in 1925-1926, 1926-1927 and 1926-1928.

TABLE IX.

PERCENTAGE, DISTRIBUTION AND MOVEMENT OF WORLD TRADE, BY CONTINENTAL GROUPS.

(Basis : Recorded values ; special trade ; merchandise only.1)

		Perci	Percentage distribution amongst Continental groups					MOVEMENT OF THE VALUE OF TRADE (PERCENTAGES: 1925=100)				
		1925	1926	1927	1928	1929	1925	1926	1927	1928	1929	
Imp	ports:											
1. Euroj	pe, excluding U.S.S.R	54.6	52.1	54.9	54.9	54.5	100	92.8	5 102	105	106.5	
 Europ North Latin Africa Asia, Occan 	pe, including U.S.S.R America ² America ³	$55.9 \\ 15.5 \\ 7.5 \\ 4.1 \\ 14.0 \\ 3.0$	$53.3 \\ 17.0 \\ 7.6 \\ 4.1 \\ 14.9 \\ 3.1$	$55.9 \\ 15.7 \\ 7.2 \\ 4.4 \\ 13.7 \\ 3.1$	$56.2 \\ 15.5 \\ 7.2 \\ 4.6 \\ 13.8 \\ 2.7$	$55.7 \\ 15.9 \\ 7.3 \\ 4.8 \\ 13.7 \\ 2.6$	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 100 \\ 100 \\ 100 \\ 100 \\ 100 \end{array} $	92.5 106.5 97.5 97 103 99.5	5 102 103 90.8 108 100 103.8	$ \begin{array}{c c} 105 \\ 104.5 \\ 101 \\ 116 \\ 103 \\ 95.5 \\ \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 106 \\ 109 \\ 104.5 \\ 122.5 \\ 104.5 \\ 95 \end{array} $	
T	DTAL (groups 2-7)	100	100	100	100	100	100	97	102	104.5	106.5	
Exp	orts :											
1. Europ	e, excluding U.S.S.R	44.3	44.3	45.9	45.8	46.9	100	94.5	103.5	107	110.5	
 Europ North Latin Africa Asia, Ocean 	e, including U.S.S.R. America ² . America ³ . excluding Asiatic Russia ia	$\begin{array}{r} 45.3 \\ 19.8 \\ 9.2 \\ 4.3 \\ 18.1 \\ 3.3 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 45.5 \\ 20.2 \\ 9.2 \\ 4.2 \\ 17.7 \\ 3.2 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 47.2 \\ 19.3 \\ 9.5 \\ 4.5 \\ 16.4 \\ 3.1 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 47.0 \\ 19.9 \\ 9.7 \\ 4.7 \\ 15.7 \\ 3.0 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 48.3 \\ 19.3 \\ 9.3 \\ 4.7 \\ 15.4 \\ 3.0 \end{array}$	$ 100 \\ 100 \\ 100 \\ 100 \\ 100 \\ 100 $	9596.5959492.592	$ \begin{array}{r} 104 \\ 97.5 \\ 104 \\ 105 \\ 90 \\ 92.5 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 107 \\ 104 \\ 108.5 \\ 114.5 \\ 89.5 \\ 95 \end{array} $	$111 \\ 101.5 \\ 105.5 \\ 113.5 \\ 88.5 \\ 95.5$	
Тот	CAL (groups 2-7)	100	100	100	100	100	100	94.5	100	103.5	104	
Totai 1. Europy 2. Europy 3. North 4. Latin 5. Africa 6. Asia, c 7. Oceani	e, excluding U.S.S.R. e, including U.S.S.R. America ² America ³ excluding Asiatic Russia	49.6 50.8 17.6 8.3 4.2 16.0 3.1	$ 48.4 \\ 49.6 \\ 18.6 \\ 8.3 \\ 4.2 \\ 16.2 \\ 3.1 $	50.6 51.8 17.4 8.3 4.4 15.0 3.1	50.4 51.7 17.7 8.4 4.6 14.7 2.9	50.8 52.2 17.5 8.3 4.7 14.5 2.8	100 100 100 100 100 100 100	93.5 93.5 101 96 95.5 97.5 96	103 100 101.5 106.5 95.5 98	$ \begin{array}{r} 105.5 \\ 106 \\ 104 \\ 105 \\ 115 \\ 95.5 \\ 95 \end{array} $	108 108.5 105 105 118 95.5 95	
To	TAL (groups 2-7)	100	100	100	100	100	100	96	101	104	105.5	

¹ The figures upon which the table is based include, in the case of a few countries (among which the Union of South Africa, Australia and Mexico), bullion and specie. ² *i.e.*, Canada, United States of America, Newfoundland, Greenland and St. Pierre and Miquelon. ³ *i.e.*, America other than "North America", as defined above.

in European trade in that year was greater in imports. In 1929 the growth of European exports far exceeded that of imports.

The reduction in the supply of capital from North America in 1926 and 1929 coincided with, and may indeed be partly attributed to, the small cereal crops in North America in 1925-1926 and 1929. In Europe, on the other hand, food crops were heavy in 1925 and 1928-1929, and the need for imported cereals was thus reduced.

The movement of trade, as shown in the last five columns of the above table, is the result of both price and *quantum* changes, and the figures cannot therefore be compared with the world indices of the volume of production given in the preceding section. For a number of countries, representing not far from threequarters of world trade, compilations are made with a view to showing the variations in the *quantum* of imports and exports. On the basis of these data it is possible to calculate rough world indices of the movement of prices and volume of goods entering into international trade.

	1925	1926	1927	1928	1929
World imports :					
Prices (gold) . <	$100 \\ 100 \\ 100$	94 103 97	91 112 102	$90 \\ 116 \\ 104.5$	$\begin{array}{c} 88\\121\\106.5\end{array}$
World exports :					
Prices (gold) . <	$100 \\ 100 \\ 100$	$93 \\ 102 \\ 94.5$	$91\\110\\100$	$91 \\ 114 \\ 103.5$	88 118 104
Total world trade:					
Prices (gold) . <	100 100 100	$93.5\\103\\96$	$91 \\ 111 \\ 101$	$90.5 \\ 115 \\ 104$	$\begin{array}{c} 88\\120\\105.5\end{array}$

Owing to deficiencies in the material upon which the calculations are based, the increase in the *quantum* of world imports during the period works out at a slightly higher figure (21 per cent) than the increase in the *quantum* of world exports (18 per cent). The average annual growth in the volume of trade would seem to have been between 4 and 5 per cent.

The aggregate increase of some 20 per cent during the period should be compared with the growth in the production of foodstuffs and raw materials, amounting to about 11 per cent, and that in industrial production which is extremely difficult to measure for the world as a whole, but, according to the partial evidence afforded by the indices compiled in certain European countries and North America, may be estimated somewhere in the neighbourhood of 25 per cent. "Manufactured articles" alone (not including semi-manufactured goods and finished foodstuffs) represent not far from two-fifths of the goods entering into international trade, and it is natural that the increase in the total volume of such trade should have been considerably higher than the increase in the production of foodstuffs and raw materials, but lower than that of industrial goods. The information available concerning the fluctuations in prices and the volume of trade is not sufficient for establishing indices of the kind given above for imports and exports of each continental group of countries. Such information can be given only for Europe and North America as shown below :

	Imports				Exports					
	1925	1926	1927	1928	1929	1925	1926	1927	1928	1929
Europe : Prices (gold)	100 100	92 100	91.5 111	92 114	90 118	100 100	95.5 99.5	93.5 111	93 115.5	90.5 122
North America : Prices (gold)	$\begin{array}{c}100\\100\end{array}$	$97\\109.5$	91 113	88 119	85 128	100 100	93 104	87.5 111	$\frac{86.5}{120}$	86.5 117

A rough idea of the changes in the *quantum* of trade of all continental groups may, however, be afforded by the following figures which are obtained by dividing the value of trade of each group by the world price indices shown above, disregarding the discrepancies in the movement of the prices at which trade was conducted in different continents. Figures for total trade only are given, as these are less affected by inaccuracies arising from variations in relative prices than are figures for imports and exports considered separately.

TABLE X.

MOVEMI	ENT OF	Quantum	OF	TRADE.
--------	--------	---------	----	--------

Continental groups 1. Europe, excluding U.S.S.R.	1925 100	1926	1927 113	1928 117	1929 122
2. Europe, including U.S.S.R. 3. North America 4. Latin America 5. Africa 6. Asia, excluding Asiatic Russia 7. Oceania World	100	100	113	117	122
	100	108	110	115	119
	100	103	112	116	119
	100	102	117	127	133
	100	104	104	106	108
	100	102	108	105	107
	100	103	111	115	119

This table slightly over-estimates the growth of European trade and probably under-estimates that of other continents, as prices of goods in the former fell less than the world price index employed in the calculation. While trade prices for the world as a whole fell by about 12 per cent during the period, the fall would appear to have been about 10 per cent only for Europe and on an average some 13-15 per cent for other continents. During the period under review North America continued rapidly to expand its foreign trade. A remarkable change took place in the nature of United States exports : between 1925 and 1929 agricultural products fell by \$443 million or from 44.3 to 32.8 per cent of the export value, while non-agricultural products mainly such articles as motor-cars, machinery, iron and steel products, chemicals and mineral oils — rose by \$778 million or from 55.7 to 67.2 per cent of the export value.

In the course of the period there were, however, signs of a slackening in the rate of growth of North American trade. On the other hand, European trade made headway and regained some of the ground lost in preceding years. In view of the fact that European trade represents more than half of world trade, its rapid growth since 1926 which implies a reversal of previous tendencies, is worthy of special attention. It was far from uniform; one of the main characteristics of trade in these years is the very slow growth in the volume of British trade. The largest increase is recorded by a number of countries in Central, Eastern and Northern Europe. Of decisive importance is the growth in German trade: the quantum of German exports rose between 1925 and 1929 by 45 per cent and the quantum of German imports by 18 per cent. The volume of Russian exports nearly doubled and that of Russian imports grew by 40 per cent. The increase in the volume of Swedish trade (imports as well as exports) was over one-third ; the volume of Danish and Norwegian exports rose by 29 and 27 per cent respectively. For a number of other countries no quantum figures are available, but the value of Polish exports rose by 29 per cent and that of Belgian exports by 30 per cent.

The expansion of European trade is largely due to trade between European countries. The proportion of manufactured goods in the trade of most countries has been increasing in recent years — a tendency which can be traced in the trade of countries in all continents, but which has naturally affected European trade most.

Temporary circumstances contributed to the growth in inter-European trade during the last year under review. The cold season early in the year led to a marked increase in the European coal trade, and in consequence of the important European cereal crops of 1928 and 1929 some of the industrial countries in Western and Central Europe imported more foodstuffs from Eastern Europe and less from other continents.

The rapid growth since 1925 in Latin-American trade is to be attributed partly to a succession of rich crops in the Argentine and Brazil, partly to the increased activity in mining and oil production in Peru, Chile, Venezuela and other countries. The growth in African trade largely reflects the rapid development of the French territories in North Africa.

The quantum of trade of Asia and Oceania has grown during the period by 7-8 per cent only, or less than half the rate of that of the world as a whole. The trade of Oceania was, indeed, lower in 1928 and 1929 than in 1927.

Trade movements during and after the war up to 1926 inclusive resulted in an increase in the share of the countries bordering the Pacific in comparison with Europe and other parts of the world. Since then, a reaction has taken place and there has been a movement towards a re-establishment of the previous balance.

* *

Trade values for the world as a whole in 1930 were roughly 20 per cent lower than in 1929 and 6 to 17 per cent lower than in 1925. It is not yet possible to estimate closely to what extent this reduction was due to the fall in prices. But there are strong reasons to believe that the price fall, however great in primary products, was somewhat less than the relative fall in trade values and that there was thus a real contraction in the volume of world trade in 1930. Undoubtedly, however, the volume of trade during the year as a whole remained on a higher level than in 1925 and 1926, perhaps even as high as in 1927. Allowing for ordinary seasonal variations, the regression continued, however, throughout the year, and the average level for the year is of little real significance. The decline in the volume of trade is reflected in the growth of the tonnage of laid-up ships : such tonnage which during the period of growing activity in trade had fallen from 6.6 millions in the middle of 1925 to 3.2 millions on January 1st, 1930, rose to 5.4 millions in the middle and 8.3 millions at the end of the same year.¹

In the absence of full information concerning trade movements in 1930, the monthly trade figures (largely of a provisional nature) from the beginning of 1928 up to February 1931 available for 45 countries, representing in 1929 about 88 per cent of world trade,² are summarised in the diagrams on page 43.

Account should be taken of the fact that in the last quarter of every year there is regular expansion of European and North American trade in agricultural products, and that the diagrams thus somewhat exaggerate the fall in trade values which set in late in 1929.

From 1929 to 1930 European trade fell in value by some 12 per cent only, or less than half as much as the trade of the other continents, taken together. Trade in industrial products, between European countries, was not materially affected. Trade between Europe and other continents, on the other hand, was affected primarily by the excessive fall in prices of raw materials and foodstuffs, which reduced the purchasing power of these continents. The value of both imports and exports of European countries in this trade shrank considerably, but the reduction in *quantum* was far less for imports than for exports.

It follows that the trade depression has been most severely felt in those European countries whose exports are to a large extent directed towards countries in other continents. British exports, of which only 35 per cent went to Europe in 1929, were 21 per cent lower in value than in that year, while German exports, of which 74 per cent went to Europe in the same year, fell by 10.5 per cent only. Other causes than those now referred to contributed, however, to the drastic fall in British exports, in particular, disturbances in certain Asiatic markets for British goods.

¹ According to statistics published in the Commerce Reports.

² The number of countries considered for Europe was 25, representing 99 per cent of European trade. The corresponding figures for North America are : two countries (the United States and Canada), 99 per cent : and those for the rest of the world : 18 countries, 61 per cent. With a few exceptions of small importance, the figures upon which the diagrams are based refer to merchandise only (special trade).



MOVEMENT OF TRADE VALUES, BY MONTHS (Monthly Average 1928=100)

North American trade (imports as well as exports) fell off in value by just over one-quarter. United States total trade, which since the British coal dispute in 1926 up to 1929 inclusive had slightly exceeded the trade of the United Kingdom, again fell appreciably below it. United States exports, however, were still more than one-third greater than the British.

Countries in other continents, which produce mainly foodstuffs and raw materials naturally had difficulty in adjusting their trade to the less favourable barter terms. Between the middle of 1929 and the end of 1930 their exports dropped in value on an average more than their imports. As new long-term borrowing during that period was seriously curtailed, the change in the trade balances of these countries was accompanied by a considerable reduction of their reserves of gold and foreign assets.

IV. INDUSTRY.

The great diversity of the products of the manufacturing industries renders a general study of industrial production difficult. Moreover, a review of the development of industrial activity cannot embrace as many countries and branches of production as do the statistics relating to the output of foodstuffs and raw materials, in view of the fact that comprehensive industrial statistics are compiled in relatively few countries and in some of these for a few industries only.

All that can be aimed at, therefore, is a rough survey of general industrial activity in a few countries and of the trend of development in a few branches of production. For the review of general industrial activity only those countries which publish composite indices of production are taken into account. The composition of these indices and the methods employed in compiling them vary widely.¹ The indices generally cover both mining and manufacturing and, in some cases, also the building industry. Most of them do not, of course, measure the real volume of production of the various countries, but serve to indicate the changes which have taken place in industrial activity.

For many industries covered by the indices periodic figures for quantity or value of output are not available. Other periodic data reflecting changes in industrial activity, such as figures for raw materials consumed, goods despatched, orders filed, degree of employment, etc., are therefore used to a considerable extent in the compilation of the indices. There is no uniformity, however, between the supplementary data thus used in the different countries. In some countries and for certain industries figures for consumption of raw materials relate to quantities actually delivered at factories or, in the case of textiles, quantities " conditioned ", while, in other cases, only import figures or estimates of the market supply of raw materials are available. The activity of factories is sometimes measured by the number of workers employed, sometimes by the number of hours worked or by figures expressing the degree of utilisation of plant, etc. Figures for orders filed relate to an early stage and those for finished goods despatched to the final stage of the process of production. Indices for a particular month or year may therefore reflect both past, present and prospective activity in varying degrees.

Thus, it is evident that a close comparison between the production indices reproduced below must not be attempted; they should only be regarded as rough indications of the general trend of industrial activity in the various countries.

¹ For details concerning the manner in which these indices are computed see Introduction to Monthly Bulletin of Statistics, 1928, No. 8; 1929, Nos. 3 to 6 and 9; 1930, No. 2; 1931, No. 3

General Industrial Activity.

The general impression afforded by the data relating to industrial activity confirms the results of the preceding analysis regarding raw materials. From 1925 to 1929 there was a general increase in industrial activity which was specially marked in a number of European countries and in Canada. In the earlier years under review, Europe was adversely affected by the instability of the Belgian, French and Italian currencies, the readjustments required in Germany and elsewhere as a consequence of currency reforms just accomplished, and in 1926 by the coal stoppage in Great Britain. In the following year, France and Italy were handicapped by the readjustments necessitated by the stabilisation of the franc and the lira. In 1928, conditions were relatively favourable in almost all industrial countries and continued to improve in the first half of 1929. In the second half of that year there was a reaction in certain countries which, in the course of 1930, spread to practically all countries except the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics. The extent of the slump in 1930 may be judged from Table XI below giving annual averages of the production indices for a number of countries which publish regular data of this kind.

TABLE XI.

Countries			1925 = 10	1928	1929=100			
	1926	1927	1928	1929	1930	1929	1930	1930
America ·							-	
Canada United States	$\begin{array}{c} 117\\104 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 125\\ 102 \end{array}$	138 107	154 114	131 93	112 - 107	95 87	85 82
Europe :								
France	$ \begin{array}{r} 116 \\ 95 \\ 98 \end{array} $	$102 \\ 120 \\ 123$	$ \begin{array}{r} 119 \\ 120 \\ 138 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 130 \\ 122 \\ 138 \end{array} $	131 101 113	$ \begin{array}{r} 109 \\ 102 \\ 100 \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{c}110\\84\\82\end{array}$	101 82 82
Official	$\begin{array}{c} 110\\ 103 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 113\\108\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 120\\ 104 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 135\\127\end{array}$	124	$\begin{array}{c}113\\123\end{array}$		
Board of Trade ²		(107)	(106)	(112)	(103)	106	98	92
brige ³ U.S.S.R	$\frac{77}{139^4}$	111 164 ⁴	105 198 4	113 223 ⁴	101	$\frac{108}{124}{}^5$	$96\\153^{\mathtt{5}}$	89 123 ⁵

INDICES OF INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTION.¹

¹ The source and original base of each series are indicated in Annex VI.

² Board of Trade index based on 1924=100.

³ Index of the London and Cambridge Economic Service.

⁴ Old index of the Conjuncture Institute of Moscow discontinued since August 1929; the figure for 1929 is an average for 8 months only.

⁵ New index based on value of production at 1926-27 prices as published by the State Bank of the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics.

The indices for the United States, Germany and Poland dropped by nearly 20 per cent, that for Canada by 15 per cent and those for the United Kingdom by 8 to 11 per cent in 1930 as compared with 1929. The countries which appear to have been least affected by the general economic depression are France and Sweden. France actually increased its industrial activity in 1930, and in Sweden there was a drop of only 2 per cent in the annual average. Annual averages do not, however, give an accurate impression of the course of events; this is better illustrated by the diagrams on the following page showing on a common scale the monthly indices for the whole period under review. The fact that the averages for 1930 remained so high in the case of France and Sweden is due to the intense industrial activity of these countries in the earlier part of the year. The Swedish monthly production index has declined very considerably since April 1930 and since the middle of the year the French index has also dropped.

The Canadian index, which shows an astonishing rise between 1925 and 1929, relates mainly to mining and the simple forms and early stages of manufacture, milling, sugar manufacture, butter and cheese making, slaughter, the production of pig-iron and crude steel and of news-print paper. The development of the textile industry is indirectly measured by two series based on the imports of raw cotton and wool and that of petroleum refining by the imports of crude petroleum. The only highly finished products directly measured are motor vehicles. The average index rose by 17 per cent in 1926, by 11 and 12 per cent in 1928 and 1929 respectively. The highest monthly figure was recorded in January 1929; after this date, the index shows a downward trend, which was accentuated in 1930.

The United States index of production, which is compiled by the Federal Reserve Board, included mining and covers about sixty series of returns relating to 35 industries. "It includes many commodities which enter as materials into great numbers of other factory products, and thus serves as a fairly close measure of variations in manufacturing activity, especially over relatively short periods."¹ It will be seen from the diagram that — apart from a check in 1927, due largely to the temporary closing down of one of the large motor plants — the index rose steadily, and in the latter part of the period, rapidly, up to the middle of 1929. A decline set in in 1929 and became very pronounced in November and December. There was a slight recovery in the early months of 1930, after which the figures dropped steadily throughout the year.

The French index covers mining, textiles, the heavy metal industries, various forms of engineering, including shipbuilding and the manufacture of motor vehicles, building, pulp paper manufacture and rubber. A rapid and very remarkable recovery was made from the temporary set-back in 1927 (caused by the *de facto* stabilisation of the franc). The index remained stable for three months at a maximum reached in March 1930, but has declined steadily since June.

The German index includes some thirty distinct series, of which one-half refer to basic industries — mining, heavy metals, production of cement, bricks, etc. —

¹ Commerce Year-Book, 1929, Volume I, page 2.



INDICES OF INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTION IN VARIOUS COUNTRIES, 1925-1930.

and the other half to finishing industries, such as engineering, manufacture of textiles, shoes, porcelain, pianos, clocks and watches, etc. The development in Germany has been irregular and may more easily be followed from the diagram than from the table. It will be seen that there was a rapid recovery in 1926 and 1927 from the temporary depression towards the end of 1925. During the year 1928 and the first half of 1929 the position was fairly maintained without any marked increase in production. Since the middle of 1929, however, the index shows a decline which was greatly accelerated in the winter 1929-30. In the spring of 1930 there was a slight recovery, but subsequently production fell rapidly.

The Polish index likewise covers the whole range of production from mining to finished textile products, although, owing to the industrial structure of the country, the basic industries predominate. Textiles, however, constitute 20 per cent of the whole. The general movement has not been unlike that in Germany, although the degree of recovery between 1925 and 1928-29 was greater. The average decline in 1930, was roughly equivalent to that in Germany, but the monthly fluctuations were more irregular.

For the United Kingdom two indices are shown in the table. The official index (Board of Trade) embraces mining, quarrying, production of iron and steel and manufactures thereof, non-ferrous metals, engineering and shipbuilding, textiles, chemicals and allied trades, paper, building, leather, boots and shoes, food, drink and tobacco, gas and electricity. This index does not go back farther than 1927. For this reason, the index of the London and Cambridge Economic Service, which is less comprehensive but covers the years 1925 and 1926, is given in the diagram. Industrial activity in the United Kingdom was largely arrested in 1926 on account of the coal dispute, but recovered rapidly from the middle of that year up to February 1927. Subsequently, there were no marked fluctuations until the end of 1928, and in 1929 the index rose to a slightly higher level. The decline which has taken place since the early months of 1930 has been less marked than in many of the other countries covered by the table and the diagrams.

The Swedish official index (Kommerskollegium) is only annual. It is based exclusively on quantitative data of production and covers the total output of all extractive and manufacturing industries of the country; but it does not include the generation of electric power and production of gas, nor does it extend beyond 1929, as complete production data for 1930 are not yet available. This index shows throughout the whole period a considerably greater increase in industrial activity than the less comprehensive monthly index of *Svensk Finanstidning* which is confined in the main to a few large export industries, and very incompletely represents the industries working primarily for the home market and particularly those producing consumers' goods. Owing to the economic structure of the country the index mainly refers to industries employing wood as raw material, iron ore mining and iron and steel works. Wood, pulp and paper account for well over half the total weighting. The drop in 1928 shown in the diagram is due to the fact that in that year, especially in the first quarter, labour disputes seriously affected the production of the industries included in the monthly index. It will be observed from the table, however, that the more complete official index shows an increase in 1928 over 1927 of more than 6 per cent. In 1929, there was a further remarkable increase in total production of 13 per cent, but, as already mentioned, the general economic depression has affected the activity of the export industries since the second quarter of 1930.

The production index published by the Moscow Economic Research Institute up to August 1929 covers mining and manufacturing industries in the proportion of 27 to 73. Heavy industries and textiles predominated in the latter group, which also included leather, paper and tobacco. For recent years, a new index has been calculated on the basis of the returns of the total value of industrial production at 1926-27 prices published by the State Bank of the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics. The two indices show almost identical fluctuations in the years for which they overlap. Since the end of 1927 the figures point to a remarkable increase in activity reflecting the effort towards industrialisation that has been made in this country under the so-called five-year plan.

The indices for the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics shown below in some of the sections relating to particular industries are based on the production statistics, expressed in terms of 1926-27 values, published by the Supreme Economic Council.

Review of Important Industries.

The recent development of the more important industries for which periodic data are available in various countries and which, as a rule, are covered by the general production indices, is analysed in greater detail in individual sections below. The industries which have expanded relatively most in the quinquennium 1925-1929 are on the whole the new industries, such as the artificial silk industry, electrical engineering and generation of electrical power and the rubbermanufacturing industry. But in mechanical engineering industry a very remarkable increase in activity has also been recorded, on the whole even greater perhaps than that in electrical engineering. The relative growth in the output of motor vehicles exceeded but little that in shipping tonnage launched and was even somewhat less than the rise in steel output, which was due, of course, to the great expansion in mechanical and electrical engineering mentioned above. The development of the leather, boot and shoe industry and still more that of the textile industry, apart from artificial silk, natural silk and jute, appears on the whole to have been comparatively slow in the period considered, even though it has been more rapid than the simultaneous increase in world population. Linen and hemp have not been able to maintain the 1925 level and the cotton spinning and weaving and the wool weaving industries in the North America and Europe have conspicuously failed to keep pace with the general economic development since 1925. But the knitting and hosiery industries for the products of which demand has increased as a result of post-war changes in fashion, seem to have expanded

considerably in the same period. Finally, the advance in the paper and printing industry appears on the whole to have kept pace with the general rate of economic development, while the output of the European timber industry increased somewhat less and that of the North American saw mills definitely declined.

The economic depression in 1930 affected the activity of the main industries in a very varying degree. Those which have been hardest hit are the motor vehicle industry, shipbuilding (according to tonnage under construction), mechanical engineering and the iron and steel industry. Rubber goods and timber have also suffered considerably from the crisis. In the textile group, the woollen industry would appear to have suffered more than the natural silk and the cotton industries in the world as a whole, while in the case of artificial silk output decreased comparatively little and exports not at all. The leather and boot and shoe industries were on an average less affected than the main textiles, and the decline in the paper and printing industry was comparatively small. Electrical engineering to judge from aggregate exports of electrical goods from the chief producing countries hardly suffered, and the generation of electrical energy has been only slightly influenced by the depression. It should be mentioned, however, that the generation of current consumed in industry is to a great extent ignored in official statistics.

This rapid review of the relative development of the main industries in the world as a whole necessarily fails to take into account the different conditions in individual countries or groups of countries. Some light is thrown on this aspect of the question by the national indices and other significant data analysed below.

Iron and Steel Industry.

As was shown in the study of raw materials the world production of pig-iron and steel, which had increased continuously during the period 1925-1929, dropped very considerably in 1930. Figures for the principal producing countries are given in Table XII.

World output increased steadily up to 1929 inclusive in spite of the disturbances which occurred in one or another of the great centres of production in most of the years under review. The most important of these disturbances were the British coal stoppage in 1926, the effects of which extended to the iron and steel industry; the temporary closing down of one of the most important motor-car plants in America in 1927; and the industrial dispute in the Ruhr works in 1928. In 1930, the world production of pig-iron dropped by over 18 per cent and that of steel ingots and castings by almost 22 per cent as compared with the record figures of 1929. Physical output was thus reduced almost to the 1926 level. In fact, as shown by the detailed figures given above, production in 1930 declined everywhere except in the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics and Japan. The latter country was able to maintain its steel production near the high level of 1929, and its production of pig-iron increased somewhat during the year.

Among the leading producers the decline was most marked in Germany, the United States of America and the United Kingdom, while it was comparatively TABLE XIIA. PIG-IRON AND FERRO-ALLOYS.

ntage of tal		1930		41.3 1.0 40.3	4.0	$2.1 \\ 1.9$	54.2	34.4 4.2 19.6	3.1	2.4	0.7	0.0	6.2 2.6	0.5	100.0
it as perce		1929	ž	$ \begin{array}{c} 44.0 \\ 44.0 \end{array} $	3.2	$1.6 \\ 1.6$	<i>5</i> 1.1	33.5 4.1 10.6	13.6 3.0	2.2	0.7	1.8	2.6	0.5	100.0
Outpu		- 1925	6 07	48.5 48.5	2.6	$1.2 \\ 1.4$	47.4	3.3	3.1	1.9	0.7	H eng 1 2 00 m	2.3	0.7	100.0
itage of sars	1929 = 100	1930	T T	69.6 74.5	102.0	106.7 97.4	86.4	83.8 84.0 96.7	72.3 85.1	90.8 87.2	79.5	81.6	81.9	81.3	81.5
tt as percer receding ye	=100	1930	87.4	136.5 86.6	160.4	178.7 144.4	119.5	133.5	96.1 104.7	123.1	107.8	99.0 99.6	120.6	70.6	104.4
Outpi	1925	1929	117 5	196.0 116.2	157.2	167.4 148.2	138.2	158.9 122.8	132.8	141.1	130.6 224.1	121.2	147.2	86.9	128.2
		1930	33,089	827 32,262	3,200	1,667 1,533	43, 450	$\begin{array}{c} 27,581\ 3,394\ 10,106 \end{array}$	9,695 2,474 1,019	1,435	478	6,296 4 982	2,100	361	80,100
00 ^(s)	12 000	1929	44.486	1,188 $43,298$	3,136	$1,562 \\ 1,574$	50, 270	32,900 4,041 10,447	$ \begin{array}{c} 13,401 \\ 2,906 \\ 9,105 \\ 9,105 \end{array} $	1,645	706	7,711	2,563	444	98,336
tric tons (1928	39,836	1,100 38,736	2,833	$1,540 \\ 1,293$	45,385	30,348 3,857 9,981	11,804 2.770 1.936	1,569	684	6,716 3.282	2,232	502	88, 556
tput in me	4	1927	37,895	37,117	2,653	$1,285 \\ 1,368$	45,580	30,596 3,709 9,295	$ \begin{array}{c} 13,089\\ 2,732\\ 1.771 \end{array} $	1,260	618	7,410 2,966	2,201	617	86,745
Out		1926	40,797	827 39,970	2, 221	1,135 1,086	35,181	3,368 4,430	2,559 1,635	1,088	327	2,498 2,206	1,875	541	78,740
		1925	37,863	606 37,257	1,995	$^{933}_{1,062}$	36, 362	2,543 8,505	2,363 1,453	1,166 536	315	0,302	1,741	514	76,731
	Countries		North America.	Canada	Asia	Japan	$Europe \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	European Steel Entente Belgium	Luxemburg	Czechoslovakia	Poland	U.S.S.R.	rest of Europe	Rest of the World	World

	-
B.	CASTINGS)
XI	AND
TABLE	(INGOTS
	STEEL

100.0 30.23.623.623.623.622.42.42.41.92.41.92.41.92.41.92.42.41.92.42.61.92.91.92.91.92.91.92.91.92.91.92.91.92.91.92.91.92.91.92.91.92.91.92.91.92.92.91.92.90.53.0 $2.4 \\ 0.6$ 51.7 44.8 $1.1 \\ 43.7$ 1930 Output as percentage of of world total 100.0 48.3 $\begin{array}{c} 29.0\\ 2.4\\ 3.4\\ 8.1\\ 1.3.5\\ 2.2\\ 1.8\\ 1.8\\ 1.8\\ 1.8\\ 3.9\\ 3.9\\ 2.6\end{array}$ 0.5 $1.2 \\ 47.5$ $2.0 \\ 0.5$ 48.7 20 1929 3 100.0 0.645.6 $\begin{smallmatrix} & 2.8 \\ & 2.3 \\ & 2.3 \\ & 2.1 \\ & 2.2 \\ &$ $\begin{array}{c}
0.8 \\
51.0
\end{array}$ $1.5 \\ 0.5$ 51.80 1925 ાં 1929 = 10081.6 82.55 97.0 71.0 84.0 83.7 75.7 75.7 83.7 75.7 83.7 75.7 84.1 84.1 83.9 84.0 ١Q $73.4 \\ 72.1$ 95.39 1-3 193078. Output as percentage of 72. 92 86 preceding years 20. $\begin{array}{c} 130.0\\ 126.1\\ 95.2\\ 95.2\\ 108.8\\ 1124.3\\ 99.3\\ 99.3\\ 99.3\\ 98.8\\ 98.8\\ 98.8\\ 297.2\\ 127.5\end{array}$ 118.7 0 $134.4 \\ 89.7$ 153.1 171.7105.390.41930104. 88 1925 = 100 $\begin{array}{c} 161.2\\ 129.9\\ 134.1\\ 129.5\\ 140.3\\ 1440.3\\ 1440.3\\ 1440.3\\ 1140.3\\ 1120.0\\ 176.1\\ 176.1\\ 130.5\\ 252.8\\ 151.6\\ 151.6 \end{array}$ 3 125.3 183.0124.3150.6 175.4 141.3 ° 1929 133 104 $\begin{array}{c} 28, 549\\ 3, 390\\ 9, 412\\ 9, 412\\ 2, 270\\ 1, 938\\ 1, 774\\ 1, 238\\ 7, 416\\ 7, 416\\ 2, 552\\ 2, 586\end{array}$ 94,600 1,028 41,353 2,8202,28753348,950 455 42,3811930 $\begin{array}{c} 34,\,967\\ 4,\,110\\ 9,\,699\\ 2,\,210\\ 2,\,702\\ 2,\,1193\\ 2,\,1193\\ 2,\,1193\\ 2,\,1193\\ 2,\,1193\\ 2,\,1193\\ 3,\,777\\ 9,\,771\\ 3,\,076\\ 3,\,076\\ \end{array}$ 120,5091,40057,339 2,958 $2,343 \\ 615$,270 54258,7391929 58. Output in metric tons (000's) $\begin{array}{c} 32,415\\ 3,905\\ 9,500\\ 2,567\\ 2,074\\ 1,973\\ 1,973\\ 1,960\\ 1,438\\ 8,656\\ 4,104\\ 2,785\end{array}$,371 589 109,947 1,95544653,626 2,40153, 3311928 52. $\begin{array}{c} 32,586\\ 3,680\\ 8,375\\ 8,375\\ 8,375\\ 2,471\\ 1,893\\ 1,893\\ 1,893\\ 1,246\\ 1,246\\ 1,246\\ 2,243\\ 3,636\\ 2,448\\ 2$ $922 \\ 45,656$ 52,445101,918 46,5781,728613554 2,3411927 $\begin{array}{c} 3,339\\ 8,617\\ 12,264\\ 1,337\\ 1,337\\ 1,337\\ 1,780\\ 1,780\\ 2,900\\ 2,146\end{array}$ 93, 296 $^{789}_{49,069}$ 2,1281,54858040,813 858 497 192649, $\begin{smallmatrix} & - & - \\ & 2,549 \\ & 7,464 \\ & 1,575 \\ & 1,575 \\ & 1,786 \\ & 1,782 \\ & 1,782 \\ & 1,782 \\ & 1,868 \\ & 1,868 \\ & 2,029 \end{smallmatrix}$ 887 765122 842 336 506517 90,48441,238 1925 46,46,Ι, -. ٠ . • • . . • Belgium • . European Steel Entente • . . • ٠ Countries Japan Rest of Asia . . . ٠ • Canada U.S.A. Rest of the World Europe . . . Asia North America.

•

WORLD

small in France. These four countries together accounted for more than threequarters of the total world production of iron and steel in 1929. In 1930, their share dropped some 3 per cent. The course of the recent depression in these countries is illustrated by the following figures, which show the percentage which production in each quarter of 1930 constituted of production in the corresponding quarter of 1929:

Pig-iron, etc. :	JanMarch	April-June	July-Sept.	OctDec.	12 months
United States of America	86	83	67	59	75
France	101	99	96	92	97
Germany	98	74	62	58	72
United Kingdom	115	93	66	59	82
Total	93	85	70	64	78
Steel Ingots and Castings :					
United States of America	88	77	62	64	72
$France \dots \dots$	102	99	97	92	97
Germany	90	69	64	61	71
United Kingdom	99	80	69	54	76
Total \ldots \ldots	91	78	67	66	75

The United States of America still holds the position of leading iron and steel producer, but its share in the world total dropped from 51 per cent in 1925 to 44 per cent in 1930, while the share of Europe rose from about 46 per cent to roughly 52 per cent and that of Asia from 2 per cent to almost 3 per cent in the same period.

In Europe the iron and steel production of the countries outside the western group of the "European Steel Entente"¹ and the United Kingdom increased more in the period 1927-1929 and their production of pig-iron dropped less in 1930 than the output of that group. The steel production of these countries (which include the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics) decreased only slightly in 1930 as will be seen from the following statement showing percentage changes:

	Output as percentage of as total Europe	Outp 1929 percentage of	out in : 1930 as percentage of	Output as percentage of total Europe		
Pig-iron, etc. :	1927	1927	1929	1929	1930	
Western group of Steel						
Entente	67.1	108	84	65.5	63.5	
United Kingdom	16.3	104	82	15.3	14.5	
Other Europe	16.6	128	99	19.2	22.0	
Total Europe	100.0	110	86	100.0	100.0	

¹ The eastern group, comprising several minor producers, is more loosely connected with the Entente.

	Output as percentage of a total Europe	Outpu 1929 s percentage of	it in: 1930 as percentage of	Outpu percent: total E	it as age of urope
	1927	1927	1929	1929	1930
Steel Ingots and Castings :					
Western group of Steel					
Entente	62.1	107	82	60.0	58.3
United Kingdom	17.6	106	76	16.8	15.2
Other Europe	20.3	127	96	23.2	26.5
Total Europe	100.0	111	84	100.0	100.0

As a result of the more rapid development of the iron and steel industry in the countries east of Germany and particularly in the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, the share of the western group of the "European Steel Entente" in total European output was substantially reduced between 1927 and 1930. In 1930, France became the largest producer of pig-iron in Europe, while Germany maintained the leading position among European steel producers.

The effects of the general depression on the foreign trade in iron and steel is illustrated by the following statement showing total exports in 1929 and 1930 of raw and semi-manufactured iron and steel (including all products of iron and steel plants proper) from the four most important producing countries. Figures showing the relative changes in their production of raw steel and pig-iron are added for comparison.

	Expo	rt of Iron and	Steel	Production of		
Countries	Metric ton	as (000's)	1930 as percentage	Raw steel 1930 as per-	Pig-iron 1930 as per-	
	1929	1930 of 1929		1929	1929	
United States of America France	3,087 4,121 5,813 4,450	1,9294,0134,7943,209	62 97 82 72	72 97 71 76	75 97 72 82	
Total	17,471	13,945	80	75	78	

The prices of iron and steel, which advanced in 1928 and 1929, dropped universally in 1930, as is demonstrated by the following rough indices of the annual averages of some representative quotations.

Countries		1929=100				
	1926	1927	1928	1929	1930	1930
Germany (Stabeisen, Oberhausen) Belgium (Bars, free station) France (Aciers marchands, Eastern works) Great Britain (Middlesbrough rounds and squares 3/8 in. to 3 in., free	101 90 99	101 87 88	$ \begin{array}{r} 105 \\ 103 \\ 100 \end{array} $	107 106 109	105 90 93	98 85 86
destination) . Board of Trade index numbers, group IV,	93	93	88	90	89	99
United States (Pittsburgh, steel bars, ex	98	95	89	90	89	99
works)	99	91	93	95	86	89

The quotations on which these indices are based are, of course, not strictly comparable and for this reason the absolute figures have not been given. These latter show clearly, however, that there was a tendency in the period 1925-1929 for prices in different countries to draw closer together; but the price movement in 1930 has resulted in a new dispersion.

Mechanical Engineering.

Owing to the diversity of the products of the mechanical engineering industry, no uniform and comparable measure of the quantities of production is possible. The variation in the activity of this industry in certain countries may, however, be roughly gauged from the data relating to it which enter into the general production indices or else are specially compiled in these countries. The partial indices based on these data, excluding those relating to shipbuilding and motor vehicles,¹ where shown separately, are reproduced in Table XIII. The indices vary in scope and method of compilation and are therefore not closely comparable from one country to another.

Two indices are given for the United States of America; they show the fluctuations in the demand for machine tools and for foundry equipment respectively. The demand for these products is regarded as " a significant indicator of the prospective activity anticipated by the machinery-manufacturing industry " as these products are chiefly used in that industry.² The demand for machine tools shows wider fluctuations than that for foundry equipment. Both indices probably overstate the extent of the variations in the actual output of the engineering industry.

The French index is computed on the basis of indirect calculations of the consumption of those iron and steel products which are used as raw material in the engineering industry including shipbuilding and motor vehicle manufacture.

¹ The activity in these branches is revised in separate sections below.

² Commerce Year-Book, 1929, Volume 1, page 429.

TABLE XIII.

INDICES OF PRODUCTION IN THE MECHANICAL ENGINEERING INDUSTRY.

Countries		1	925=10		1928	1929 = 100		
	1926	1927	1928	1929	1930	1929	1930	1930
United States of America. ¹ Demand for machine tools Demand for foundry equipment	$\begin{array}{c} 108 \\ 106 \end{array}$	92 93	158 130	187 148	85 79	119 114	$54\\61$	$\begin{array}{c} 46\\ 53\end{array}$
<i>France</i> ²	115	99	120	137	137	114	114	100
Germany ³	85	112	122	122	101	100	83	83
Netherlands. ⁴ Value of products Workers employed	109 99	$\begin{array}{c} 119\\ 105 \end{array}$	$144\\124$	$\frac{167}{142}$		$116 \\ 115$		
Poland ⁵	92	119	146	147	111	101	76	76
Sweden ⁶	119	124	151	166		110		
United Kingdom. Board of Trade Index London and Cambridge Economic						107	104	97
U.S.S.R. ⁷						141	221	157

¹ Indices published by the United States Department of Commerce.

² Production index of the Statistique générale de la France. ³ Monthly index of the Institut für Konjunkturforschung.

⁴ Indices based on figures published in the Maandschrift van het Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek, January 31st, 1931.

⁵ Production index of the Economic Research Institute.
⁶ Official production index published in *Kommersiella Meddelanden*, 1931. No. 1, page 5.

⁷ Production values of engineering and metal working (1926/27 prices) published in Sowjetwirtschaft und Aussenhandel No. 10, 1931.

The German index is based on data for despatches of machines. It is closely confirmed for 1929 and 1930 by data showing changes in the degree of utilisation of workers in the engineering industry. The data showing the value of orders filed, as might be expected, indicate a greater decline in 1930 than those relating to despatches (29 per cent and 17 per cent respectively as compared with 1929).

The two indices for value of production and number of workers employed in the Dutch engineering industry show very similar variations since 1927; the level of the former is, however, higher throughout.

The Polish index shows changes in the number of hours worked.

The Swedish index includes shipbuilding and manufacture of vehicles and instruments in addition to engineering proper. It shows changes in total output of these industries calculated at 1913 prices.

The indices of the British Board of Trade and of the London and Cambridge Economic Service cover both engineering proper and shipbuilding, but the data selected as representative of the machinery industry are not the same in both indices; these, therefore, show a different movement in the years covered by both.

The index shown for the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics is based on production values at 1926-27 prices.

The above indices all indicate a very considerable increase in the activity of the engineering industry in the period 1925-1929. The increase was particularly marked in the United States of America, the Netherlands, Sweden and the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics. For the last country data comparable from year to year are only available since 1928. In view of the fact that the Swedish shipyards doubled their output and that of the British shipyards increased by 40 per cent in the period 1925-1929, the development of the engineering industry proper in these countries must have been less than the more comprehensive indices in the table would suggest. This may also be true of the Netherlands, in which the tonnage launched increased by 137 per cent in the same period.

Data for 1930 are not available for the Netherlands and Sweden. The recent economic depression appears to have affected the activity of the engineering industry more severely in the United States of America than in any other of the countries included in the table. It appears, indeed, to have declined in the United States to roughly half the 1929 level. The drop shown by the indices for the United Kingdom, Germany and Poland, though considerable, was much less serious. The tonnage launched by British shipyards in 1930 was only 3 per cent lower than in 1929: the activity of other branches of engineering included in the second British index must therefore have dropped somewhat more than the table suggests.

The French engineering industry seems in 1930 to have maintained the high level of activity of the preceding year. In fact, the index rose slightly until the middle of the year and then dropped, slowly at first, but more rapidly towards the end of the year. In sharp contrast to the movement in the other countries for which 1930 figures are available, the Russian engineering index showed a very remarkable increase.

Shipbuilding.

In contrast to the general tendency in other industries, shipbuilding in the world as a whole increased in 1930. The total tonnage launched rose from 2,793,200 tons (including the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics) to 2,889,500 tons (excluding the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics) or by over 3 per cent. Figures for the output of Russian shipyards in 1930 are not available; but judging from the movement in the quarterly figures for tonnage under construction it may have reached about 50,000 tons. If this figure be included the world output of shipping tonnage would have risen by 5 per cent in 1930 and was greater than in any year since 1921. Indeed, there has been a steady progress year by year except in 1926, when a number of the British yards were temporarily closed down. Thus, as illustrated in detail by Table XIV below, the shipbuilding industry has been gradually recovering from the depression from which it suffered after the largely artificial boom of 1920 and 1921.

This, of course, does not mean that shipbuilding has escaped the effects of the depression. The figures for tonnage launched in 1930 relate largely to orders given in the preceding year. Only annual world figures are compiled for tonnage launched, but Lloyd's Register Shipbuilding Returns give quarterly figures for tonnage under construction which clearly indicate the decline in the activity of the world's shipbuilding industry since the first quarter of 1930 as shown below:

E :								Tonnage under construction	Figure for end of March, 1930=100
1929					٠			2,721,000	86.6
))								2,713,000	86.3
))								2,705,000	86.0
))	•							$2,\!990,\!000$	95.1
1930								$3,\!143,\!000$	100.0
))								$2,\!901,\!000$	92.3
))								$2,\!569,\!000$	81.8
))		•	٠	•	٠		•	$2,\!326,\!000$	74.0
1931				•	•	•		2,000,000	63.6
	E: 1929 » » 1930 » » » 1931	E: 1929 . » . » . 1930 . » . » . 1931 .	E: 1929 » » 1930 » » 1931	E: 1929 » » » 1930 » » 1931	1929 . . . >> . . . >> . . . >> . . . >> . . . >> . . . >> . . . >> . . . >> . . . >> . . . >> . . . 1930 . . . > . . . > 1931 . . .	1929 > > > 1930 > > > 1930 > 1931 	1929 .	1929 .	f:Tonnage under construction1929 $2,721,000$ 3 . $2,713,000$ 3 . $2,705,000$ 3 . $2,990,000$ 1930. $3,143,000$ 3 . $2,901,000$ 3 . $3,143,000$ 3 . $3,143,000$ 3 . $3,143,000$ 3 . $3,143,000$ 3 . $3,143,000$ 3 . $3,143,000$ 3 . $3,143,000$ 3 . $3,143,000$

The Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, for which no figures since June 1930 are available, is excluded above; but as the Russian figures are comparatively low — they rose from 116,000 to 156,000 between the end of March 1929 and the end of June 1930 — this omission is of no appreciable consequence. By the end of the second quarter of 1930, the figure for tonnage under construction still exceeded the average for 1929; but by the end of the year it had dropped to threefourths of the March figure. The decline continued at the same rapid rate in the beginning of 1931 as is indicated by the figure for the end of March of this year, which, indeed, is lower than at any previous date since 1926.

The tonnage launched in the United States more than doubled in 1930, and the coastal tonnage under construction in that country at the end of 1930 and even at the end of March 1931 was greater than at any previous date since 1921. Similarly, several minor European shipbuilding countries — Denmark, Sweden, France and Italy — increased their output by almost one-quarter in 1930, and the tonnage under construction in their shipyards at the end of March 1931 was greater than the average for 1930. But the four largest shipbuilding countries in 1929 — *i.e.*, the United Kingdom, Germany, the Netherlands and Japan — all show a decline in shipbuilding activity in 1930. The tonnage launched decreased most in the Netherlands and Japan, and tonnage under construction in the United Kingdom dropped from 1,615,000 (51 per cent of the world total) at the end of March 1930 to 694,000 (35 per cent of the world total) at the end of March 1931 — *i.e.*, by 921,000 tons or 57 per cent. In Japan, indeed, an even greater TABLE XIV.

SHIPBUILDING.

(All vessels, including sailing vessels.)

l as per- 1 total		1930	7.4	5.2	4 X	9. D.	0 0 0 0	2.3	4.6	51.2	100.0
te launched ge of world		1929	3.6	5.9	4 0	2.9	0.0 8	6.7	3.8	54.5 7.1	100.0
Tonnag		1925	3.6	2.5	50 50	3°.0	اھ م	3.6	2.5	$49.4 \\ 6.6$	100.0
as per- 1g ycars	1929 = 100	1930	213	92	123	124	99 193	82	123	97 96	103
e launched of precedi	=100	1930	272	271	187	133	69	194	245	136 131	132
Tonnag centage	1925	1929	128	295	152	108	01 20	237	199	$140 \\ 137$	127
		1930	214.0	151.3	137.2	100.9	0.042	153.1	131.8	1,478.6 189.3 ²	2,889.52
pe		1929	100.6	164.5	111.5	81.6	71.5	186.5	107.2	1,522.6 198.1	2,793.2
age launch omitted)		1928	86.1	103.7	138.7	81.4 276 A	58.6	166.8	106.9	$1, \frac{440.9}{134.7}$	2,699.2
Gross tonn (000's		1927	124.3	42.4	72.0	44.3 980 6	101.1	119.8	1 00% 0	1,220.9	2,285.7
0	-	1926	115.2	52.4	72.1	121.3	220.0	93.7	03.0 690 6	126.7	1,675.0
		1925	78.8	55.8	73.3	406.4	142.0	70.0	00.00 1 084 8	144.3	2, 193.4
Connervises	6011011000		North America: United States (Coast) ¹	Asia: Japan	Europe: Denmark	Germany	Italy	Sweden	United Kingdom	Other countries	World

¹ Excluding Great Lakes (tonnage launched in 1930, 32.7 tons). ² Excluding the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, for which complete returns are not available.

- 60 -

relative drop was recorded — 69 per cent between the end of December 1929 and March 1931; but, as the Japanese figures represented only some 6 per cent of the world total in 1929, this reduction is not so significant. Tonnage under construction in Germany decreased in the same fifteen-month period by 46 per cent, and in the Netherlands by 48 per cent.

The share of the three leading European shipbuilding countries in the world total of tonnage launched (excluding the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics) dropped from 71 per cent in 1929 to 65 per cent in 1930; while their share in tonnage under construction fell from 70 per cent at the end of December 1929 to 48 per cent at the end of March 1931.

The shipbuilding industry has developed most rapidly in recent years in Sweden and Denmark, which are both producing to-day more sea-going tonnage than France. In Japan, the United States, the Netherlands and the United Kingdom there has been a marked recovery since 1925. In Germany and Italy, on the other hand, tonnage launched in 1930 was less than in 1925.

In the world as a whole, figures for tonnage launched have not regained the level of 1920 and 1921. This is partly due to the fact that the abnormal output of these years could not be fully utilised for a long time. Even in the years 1925 to 1927 the bulk of tonnage launched was built for the purpose of replacing old vessels rather than of meeting a demand for additional tonnage, as shown by the following percentages relating to world totals.

Proportion of total tonnage launched required for replacing old vessels was :

			I	Per cent				Pe	r cent
1925				72	1928				34
1926				92	1929			•	60
1927				82	1930				47

Motor Vehicles.

.

Statistics of the manufacture or sale of motor vehicles are available only for the principal producing countries, but it is believed that these account for about 99 per cent of the world output. The statistics, as a rule, show only the total number of vehicles of various kinds produced or sold and do not include motor cycles. All types of vehicle are thus arbitrarily treated as equal; the totals so obtained are of course not the totals of like units. Nevertheless, the changes in the number of vehicles produced as shown in Table XV afford a rough idea of the development of the automobile industry in the various countries.

The figures for North America are more accurate than those shown for European countries which in several cases, particularly in 1930, are estimates. The table indicates that the European industry developed more rapidly in the years 1925-1929 and suffered less from the depression in 1930 than that of North America, which, however, in that year still accounted for about five-sixths of the total number of motor vehicles produced. TABLE XV.

PRODUCTION OF MOTOR VEHICLES EXCLUDING MOTOR CYCLES

IN PRINCIPAL COUNTRIES.

	1930	3.7 80.2	83.9	0.6 5.7 2.2 5.7 5.7	16.1	100.0
ntage	1929	4.1 84.2	88.3	$\begin{array}{c} 0.5\\ 3.9\\ 2.1\\ 1.4\\ 3.8\\ 3.8 \end{array}$	11.7	100.0
Percel	1927	4.3 81.1	85.4	$\begin{array}{c} 0.6\\ 4.5\\ 3.0\\ 1.4\\ 5.1\end{array}$	14.6	100.0
-	1925	3.3	90.0	$\begin{array}{c} 0.3 \\ 3.6 \\ 1.4 \\ 3.4 \\ 3.4 \\ 3.4 \\ \end{array}$	10.0	100.0
1930 as per-	centage of 1929	59 63	62	81 96 99 99	90	66
	1930	96 79	79	156 136 133 123 142	136	85
0	1929	163 126	127	194 141 193 142 143	151	129
925-10	1928	150 102	104	206 126 213 116 127	140	108
Ĩ	1927	111 80	81	$163 \\ 108 \\ 179 \\ 92 \\ 127 \\ 127 \\$	124	80
	1926	127 101	102	$113 \\ 109 \\ 73 \\ 98 \\ 1119$	106	102
	1930	$154 \\ 3,356$	3,510	251 2402 932 792 2372	674 2	4,1842
I (000's)	1929	5,358	5,621	$\begin{array}{c} & 9 \\ & 250 \\ & 135 \\ & 135 \\ & 135 \\ & 239 \\ & 239 \end{array}$	746	6,367
ss produced	1928	$242 \\ 4,359$	4,601	$\begin{array}{c} 12\\ 13\\ 223\\ 149\\ 74\\ 212\end{array}$	691	5,292
of vehicle	1927	$^{179}_{3,401}$	3,580	$\begin{array}{c} 9 \\ 10 \\ 191 \\ 125 \\ 539 \\ 212 \end{array}$	613	4, 193
Number	1926	4,301	4,506	5 6 193 51 198 198	523	5,029
	1925	$162 \\ 4,266$	4,428	5 6 177 70 64 64	494	4,922
Countries		Canada	Total I [•] .	Austria Austria Belgium	Total II.	Grand Total .

² Provisional figure.

¹ Rough estimate,

France is the leading motor-car producer in Europe, closely followed by the United Kingdom, but the German motor-car industry showed the most rapid development in the quinquennium 1925-1929. It will be observed that none of the European producers turned out as many motor vehicles in 1928 and 1929 as Canada, but the Canadian output fell the most in 1930. Among European producers, Germany suffered most from the depression in that year, and France and the United Kingdom comparatively little. The production of the world as a whole fell by one-third from the 1929 figure.

Motor-cars belong to the groups of commodities the demand for which might a priori be expected to be most radically cut in times of general economic depression. The decline in the activity of the motor vehicle industry in the course of 1930 was indeed considerably greater than the above comparison of annual figures would suggest. This is shown in the following statement comparing the output in each quarter with the average for all quarters of 1930 in those countries for which quarterly production figures or indices are available.

				First quarter As per	Second quarter centage of av	Third quarter erage of all q	Fourth quarter uarters	Fourth quarter as percentage of second quarter
United	States	of	America	119	143	85	53	37
Canada				121	166	73	40	24
France				104	105	98	93	88
German	y			115	153	79	-52	34

In all the above countries there was a recovery in the second quarter and a subsequent rapid decline which reduced the output in the last quarter of the year by three-fourths of that of the second quarter in Canada, almost two-thirds in Germany and the United States and one-sixth in France. As these figures in the first instance reflect changes in the demand, they may be regarded as rough indicators of the relative seriousness of the general depression in the above countries. Corresponding figures are not available for other countries.

It may be mentioned that the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, which is not included in the table, is stated to have produced 14,900 motor-cars and 11,000 tractors or, in all, 25,900 motor vehicles in the economic year 1929-30 as compared with 4,150 in 1928-29 and 1,900 in 1927-28; these figures indicate a very remarkable progress. Similarly, in Sweden, according to the official production statistics, the gross value of the output of the automobile industry, including the value of cars made from finished parts, increased tenfold between 1925 and 1929.

It is of interest to compare the figures for production given above with the figures for exports given in Table XVI below. For all countries included in this table both the number and the value of the motor vehicles exported are shown. In addition, figures for exports of parts and engines are given for the United States of America.

TABLE XVI.

~							1929	1930
Countries	1925	1926	1927	1928	1929	19301	as perce 1925	ntage of 1929
			Number	(000's)	1			
Canada	74.1	74.3	57.4	79.4	101.7	44.5	137	44
(cars)	303.0	305.0	385.0	507.0	536.0	255.0	177	48
Total (1)	377.1	379.3	442.4	586.4	637.7	299.5	169	47
France. . </td <td>$\begin{array}{c} 63.8 \\ 2.6 \\ 29.1 \\ 29.0 \end{array}$</td> <td>$59.8 \\ 2.2 \\ 34.2 \\ 32.5$</td> <td>$52.1 \\ 4.1 \\ 33.3 \\ 35.6$</td> <td>$46.0 \\ 8.0 \\ 28.3 \\ 32.5$</td> <td>$\begin{array}{r} 49.2^{1} \\ 8.2 \\ 23.7^{1} \\ 42.0 \end{array}$</td> <td>$14.1 \\ 6.2 \\ 20.7 \\ 29.8$</td> <td>$77 \\ 315 \\ 81. \\ 145$</td> <td>29 76 87 71</td>	$\begin{array}{c} 63.8 \\ 2.6 \\ 29.1 \\ 29.0 \end{array}$	$59.8 \\ 2.2 \\ 34.2 \\ 32.5$	$52.1 \\ 4.1 \\ 33.3 \\ 35.6$	$46.0 \\ 8.0 \\ 28.3 \\ 32.5$	$\begin{array}{r} 49.2^{1} \\ 8.2 \\ 23.7^{1} \\ 42.0 \end{array}$	$14.1 \\ 6.2 \\ 20.7 \\ 29.8$	$77 \\ 315 \\ 81. \\ 145$	29 76 87 71
Total (2)	124.5	128.7	125.1	114.8	123.1	70.8	99	58
Total $(1+2)^2$	501.6	508.0	567.5	701.2	760.81	370.3	152	49
			Value in \$	(000,000	`s)			
Canada	33.1	32.8	28.5	33.9	44.6	18.8	135	42
(cars)	222.6	223.6	278.1	354.9	345.7	172.9	155	50
Total (1)	255.7	256.4	306.6	388.8	390.3	191.7	153	49
United States of America (parts and engines)	101.0	103.3	117.2	152.4	200.8	111.5	199	56
France	$\begin{array}{c} 110.9\\ 5.6\end{array}$	$77.5\\4.6$	$68.0 \\ 6.4$	$\begin{array}{c} 60.4 \\ 11.3 \end{array}$	61.3^{1} 13.3	18.6 9.2	55 238	30 69
Italy United Kingdom	$\frac{26.6}{35.8}$	$\begin{array}{c} 27.6\\ 34.8 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 31.2\\ 41.0 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 21.5\\ 34.5\end{array}$	$\frac{18.6}{40.9}^{1}$	15.2 32.2	70 114	82 79
Total (2)	178.9	144.5	146.6	127.7	134.1	75.2	75	56
Grand Total $(1+2) \begin{cases} 2 & \ddots \\ 3 & \ddots \end{cases}$	$\begin{array}{c} 434.6\\535.6\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 400.9\\ 504.2\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 453.2\\570.4\end{array}$	$516.5\\668.9$	524.4^{1} 725.2	266.9 378.4	121 135	51 52

EXPORTS OF MOTOR VEHICLES (EXCLUDING MOTOR CYCLES).

¹ Provisional figures.

² Excluding parts and engines exported from the United States.

³ Including parts and engines from the United States.

In 1929, Canada exported 39 per cent of the number of motor vehicles which it produced, Italy 26 per cent (in 1926, 54 per cent), France 20 per cent (in 1925, 36 per cent), the United Kingdom 18 per cent, the United States 10 per cent and Germany 6 per cent. The ratio of exports to production of North America as a whole rose from 9 to 11 per cent between 1925 and 1929 and dropped again to 8 per cent in 1930. For France, Germany, Italy and the United Kingdom together the ratio dropped from 26 to 17 per cent between 1925 and 1929 in spite of the remarkable increase in their output. Thus the absorption by their domestic markets increased more than in proportion to output while their exports were affected by American competition in foreign markets. In 1930, there was a further drop to 11 per cent in the above ratio, owing mainly to the widespread economic depression, which caused a great curtailment in the demand for motor-cars on these markets.

The total value of the motor-cars exported from North America increased less in the quinquennium 1925-1929 than the number of units. Thus there was a reduction in price per unit. With reference to the four European countries, the aggregate value of the motor-cars exported dropped in the same period to 75 per cent of the 1925 figure, although the number of units exported was practically equal in 1929 and 1925. This points to a drop of roughly one-fourth in the average price of the cars exported, assuming that the composition of the export quantities was approximately the same in the two years.

Owing to the remarkable increase in the export of parts from the United States (chiefly to foreign branch factories of American motor-car companies) the total value of the North American exports, including such parts and separate engines, rose in this period by 66 per cent or almost in the same proportion as the number of complete cars. The share of North America in aggregate world exports of motor vehicles amounted to 84 per cent in 1929 and 81 per cent in 1930, measured by the number of units, and to 74 and 72 per cent respectively, measured by value. If the value of American exports of parts be included (such exports are of less importance in the case of European producers), its share amounted to about 80 per cent in both years.

Aggregate exports of all the countries included in the table dropped in 1930 by about one-half according to both the number of units and total value, as compared with 1929. As mentioned above, total output was reduced by one-third. The effects of the general depression were thus felt more seriously on the export markets than on the home markets. French exports declined most (by 70-71 per cent), but the drop in Canadian exports (56-58 per cent) was also greater than the average. The exports of the United States declined in almost exactly the same proportion as the average, while the German, British and especially the Italian motor-car industries suffered a much smaller reduction in the foreign demand for their products.

Electrical Industry.

Annual production figures or other data measuring changes in the annual volume of output of the electrical industry are available only for a few of the more important producing countries. The United States Department of Commerce compiles an index of the value of orders for electrical goods filed with certain companies which account for about 60 per cent of the total output of the electrical industry of the United States. The movement in this index since 1925 is shown below (1925=100):

1926	1927	1928	1929	1930
108	102	113	141	115

In 1930, the index dropped by 19 per cent as compared with 1929; the orders decreased rapidly towards the end of the year.

The British Electrical and Allied Manufacturers' Association compiles an index of activity of the electric engineering industry with 1924 as base year which is published in the *Board of Trade Journal*. Figures for 1925 and 1926 are not available, but the movement since 1927 is shown below (averages of quarterly figures, 1924=100):

1927	1928	1929	1930
120	90	107	108.

The movement during the course of the year 1930 is illustrated by the following quarterly figures :

OctDec.	JanMarch	April-June	July-Sept.	OctDec.
1929	1930	1930	1930	1930
111	116	109	109	98

As a result of the depression the index in the last quarter of 1930 was 12 per cent lower than in the first quarter 1930 and 8 per cent lower than the average for 1929.

In Germany, which is the largest producer of electrical goods in Europe, no production data or indices are published.

The Maandschrift van het Centraal Bureau voor de Statistick in the Netherlands publishes data regarding the gross value of the production of, and the number of workers employed in, the Dutch electrical industry, which indicate a remarkable development up to 1929 as shown below by the annual indices for the electrical industry (1925=100):

			1926	1927	1928	1929
Value of products .	•	•	100	134	139	197
Workers employed .			105	115	135	154

The official annual report on industry in Sweden contains complete data of the value of total production of electrical goods in that country. The following index, unadjusted for price changes, has been calculated on the basis of these data (1925=100):

1926	1927	1928	1929
122	134	157	158

In view of the continuous drop in the price of the goods produced since 1925, the physical output has been greater than the above index would suggest. The official price index for finished goods dropped by 15 per cent between 1925 and 1929. If the above production index be corrected accordingly, it would show an increase of 82 per cent during this period.

Figures for 1930 are not available in the case of the Netherlands and Sweden.

The value of the output of the electrical industry in the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics increased by 42 per cent in the year 1929 and by 159 per cent in 1930 as compared with 1928.

The following table shows the value of the exports of electrical goods for a number of important producing countries.

TABLE XVII.

EXPORTS OF ELECTRICAL GOODS.

		\$ (00	0,000's)	1929	1930	1930 as percent-	
	1925	1928	1929	as percent	age of 1925	1929	
America : United States	84	89	121	119	144	142	98
France	19 84 13 10 10 85	$16 \\ 126 \\ 15 \\ 27 \\ 14 \\ 90$	$ \begin{array}{r} 13 \\ 149 \\ 39 \\ 23 \\ 14 \\ 96 \\ \end{array} $	$15 \\ 150 \\ 32 \\ 24 \\ 14 \\ 90$	$ \begin{array}{c} 68\\177\\300\\230\\140\\113\end{array} $	$78 \\ 179 \\ 247 \\ 240 \\ 140 \\ 106$	$ \begin{array}{r} 115 \\ 101 \\ 82 \\ 104 \\ 100 \\ 93 \end{array} $
Total	305	377	455 ¹	444	149	146	98

¹ Provisional figures.

The definition of the term "Electrical Industry" is not uniform in all countries, and the classification of electrical goods in the trade returns varies. But as far as possible the above statistics have been compiled on a uniform basis, and embrace electrical machinery (motors, dynamos, transformers, etc.), bulbs, electrical installation materials, boiling apparatus, telephones, radio receivers, electrometers, cables, etc. The indications they furnish of the changes in the activity in, and the relative importance of, the total electrical industry are of course not comparable as between the various countries, as exports constitute a different and varying proportion of the value of national output. The value of the exports of the United States, Germany and the United Kingdom was practically equal in 1925, but exports represented only 5 per cent of the value of the output in the United States, 17 per cent in Germany and 25 per cent in the United Kingdom. In France the corresponding ratio was 19 per cent and in Sweden 42 per cent (in 1929, 63 per cent).

In more recent years Germany has been by far the greatest exporter of electrical goods, followed at a considerable distance by the United States; both these countries, and particularly Germany, have very much expanded their exports since 1929 while those of the United Kingdom have increased comparatively little. The most rapid expansion, however, has taken place in the Netherlands and Sweden,

whose economic development in post-war years, as their various production indices show, has been very remarkable.

The drop in French exports since 1925 has no doubt been accompanied by a substantial growth in domestic consumption. All other countries show larger exports in 1930 than in 1925. The drop in aggregate export values in 1930 as compared with 1929 is remarkably small and, in view of the fall in prices, it would appear that the aggregate quantities exported were actually greater than in previous years. This points to the conclusion that in 1930 the electrical industry of the world as a whole was relatively little affected by the general economic depression.

Electrical Energy.

The statistics relating to generation of electrical current are not very complete. In many countries none are published and, even where figures are available, they often do not include part or the whole of the power privately generated (mainly that produced by industrial undertakings for their own consumption). British figures account for something less than 95 per cent of the total national output, the Canadian, Dutch, French, Italian and Swiss figures for about 90 per cent, the United States figures for about 80 per cent, the Polish for 75 per cent, and those for the Argentine for only 50 per cent.

Owing to the inadequacy of the data available, it is difficult to estimate the total output of electricity in the world. According to one authority¹, this total would appear to have been as follows:

1925	•	•	186,595	million	kw. h.	1927		233,407	million	kw. h.
1926	•		204,836	,,,	22	1928		255,622	**	

The increase in 1929 in countries for which figures are available was somewhat more than 11 per cent. On this basis the world output of electricity in that year may be put at roughly 285,000 million kw. h. The growth in the world production of electric current between 1925 and 1929 may be safely estimated at not less than 50 per cent.

The generation of electricity has been developed to a greater extent in North America than in other continents. The joint total output of the United States and Canada is certainly almost half of the world total, and the United States alone probably accounts for over 40 per cent. The aggregate generation of the European countries appears to constitute something more than 40 per cent of world total. In Europe, Germany is the largest producer, being followed in order of importance by the United Kingdom, France, Italy and Norway. The output of Japan is not far short of that of France.

The output of electricity per head of population is greatest in Norway and greater in Canada and Switzerland than in the United States, where it exceeds that of all remaining countries, both in Europe and elsewhere.

¹ Institut für Konjunkturforschung, Vierteljahrshefte zur Konjunkturforschung, Sonderheft 19 (Berlin, 1930).
Table XVIII gives an indication of the relative rates of progress in electrification in the principal countries during the years 1925-1930.

TABLE XVIII.

PRODUCTION OF ELECTRICAL ENERGY IN VARIOUS COUNTRIES.

Countries	Produc in n	tion of ele aillions of k.	etricity w.h. ¹		Produc- tion as percent- age of that in 1929				
	1925	1929	*1930	1926	1927	1928	1929	1930	1930
North America : Canada United States Japan Asia : Japan Japan Europe : Austria Belgium Czechoslovakia Finland France Germany Italy Norway Poland Sweden United Kingdom	$10,110 \\ 65,870 \\ 8,172 \\ 2,320 \\ 2,274 \\ 1,955 \\ 541 \\ 10,222 \\ 20,328 \\ 6,545 \\ 1,004 \\ 7,820 \\ 1,297 \\ 3,673 \\ 3,665 \\ 11,278 \\ 1$	$\begin{array}{c} *17,633\\97,352\\12,036\ ^{2}\\ *2,500\\4,270\\2,749\ ^{2}\\995\\14,327\\30,661\\9,794\\1,606\\9,490\ ^{2}\\2,355\\4,967\\5,300\\ *17,392\\\end{array}$	17,828 95,638 2,500 29,450 10,025 ³ 1,818 18,340	$\begin{array}{c} 120\\ 112\\ 114\\ 105\\ .\\ 107\\ 113\\ 110\\ 104\\ 117\\ 106\\ 108\\ 111\\ 109\\ 114\\ 101\\ \end{array}$	$144 \\ 122 \\ 129 \\ 108 \\ 143 \\ 122 \\ 127 \\ 111 \\ 124 \\ 124 \\ 123 \\ 111 \\ 134 \\ 120 \\ 120 \\ 119 \\ 119 \\ 120 \\ 110 \\ 120 \\ 120 \\ 120 \\ 110 \\ 120 \\ 120 \\ 120 \\ 110 \\ 120 \\ 120 \\ 120 \\ 110 \\ 120 $	$162 \\ 133 \\ 147 \\ 108 \\ 164 \\ 141 \\ 140 \\ 127 \\ 137 \\ 139 \\ 121 \\ 148 \\ 120 \\ 141 \\ 129 \\ 141 \\ 120 \\ 141 \\ 120 \\ 141 \\ 120 \\ 141 \\ 120 \\ 141 \\ 120 \\ 141 \\ 120 \\ 141 \\ 120 \\ 141 \\ 120 \\ 141 \\ 120 \\ 141 \\ 120 \\ 141 \\ 120 \\ 141 \\ 120 \\ 141 \\ 120 \\ 141 \\ 120 \\ 141 \\ 120 \\ 141 \\ 120 \\ 141 \\ 120 \\ 141 \\ 120 $	$174 \\ 148 \\ \dots \\ 108 \\ 188 \\ \dots \\ 184 \\ 140 \\ 151 \\ 150 \\ 160 \\ \dots \\ 182 \\ 135 \\ 145 \\ 154 \\ 154$	176 145 108 145 153 181 163	101 98 100 96 102 113 105
U.S.S.R. $4 \dots$	2,274	6,465	8,700	155	179	228	284	383	135
Oceania : Australia New Zealand	$\substack{1,537\\477}$	2,286 *1,200		$\begin{array}{c} 113\\ 133\end{array}$	129 166	$\begin{array}{c}143\\197\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 149 \\ 252 \end{array}$		

¹ More complete statistics, with notes concerning their scope, are given in the Statistical Year-Book of th & League of Nations, 1930-31, Table 60 (Geneva, 1931). ² Production in 1928 : figures for 1929 not yet available.

³ Italy : revised figure for 1930.

⁴ U.S.S.R.: economic year ending 30. IX.

* Estimate or provisional figure.

Between 1925 and 1929, North American output increased by 51 per cent and that of Europe excluding the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics by 48 per cent. The rate of increase was more rapid in Soviet Russia than in any other country.

Very few figures are available for 1930. Those given appear to indicate a slackening of the rate of development in Europe and a small drop in North America. But in view of the fact that a large proportion of the industrial consumption of current—e.g., that generated by the industries themselves, is not included in the official statistics, the figures probably understate the actual effects of the industrial depression on the production of electricity.

The proportion of current generated in thermo-electric and hydro-electric stations varies widely from country to country. Information available for the principal countries shows that the greater part of the world's supply of electricity is produced by fuels, although water power is being more and more used and accounts for the rapid increase in the generation of electricity in countries where fuel resources are small or non-existent.

The percentage of total power generated by fuels and water power has varied but little between 1925 and 1929. In the latter year, the percentage generated by fuels was 99 per cent in the United Kingdom, 88 per cent in Germany, 64 per cent in the United States, and 57 per cent in France. On the other hand, practically only water power is used in Norway, Sweden, Switzerland and Canada, while the proportion generated in hydro-electric stations was 96 per cent in Italy ¹.

Textiles.

The indices of world production of the more important textile raw materials given in Chapter II and Annex II of the present *Memorandum* show in broad outline the development of the different branches of the textile industry in the quinquennium 1925-1929. Comprehensive figures for 1930 are only available for a few of these materials and do not afford a sufficiently broad basis for an estimate of the movement in textile production as a whole; they indicate a slight decline in the production of cotton, natural silk and artificial silk and an increase of about 8 per cent in that of jute.

Only a few countries compile more or less comprehensive indices showing the variations in the activity of the textile industry as a whole. Those available are reproduced herewith (Table XIX).

The composition of the indices given in the table varies considerably. That for France refers to the cotton, wool and silk industries and is based on average output of cotton per spindle and per loom, spinning and weaving being combined in the proportion of 7: 12, wool conditioned at two manufacturing centres and silk conditioned at Lyons. The German, British, Dutch, Polish and Swedish indices are much wider in scope. The German index refers to nearly all branches of textile industry — namely, the artificial silk industry, silk weaving, wool combing, weaving and worsted, cotton spinning and weaving, linen weaving, hemp spinning and jute spinning. The Dutch indices relate to the whole cotton and woollen manufacturing industry and include in addition, the more important hosiery

¹ For detailed statistics, cf. the Statistical Year-Book of the League of Nations, 1930-31, Table 60.

factories in the Netherlands. The Polish index covers cotton spinning, weaving, bleaching, dyeing and printing, the woollen and worsted industry, jute, silk and artificial silk. The Swedish index includes the total production of all branches of the textile industry of the country and, in addition, rope making (ready-made clothing, which is included in the official index, has been excluded above). That for the United Kingdom covers cotton spinning, weaving, bleaching, dyeing and printing, the woollen and worsted industry, jute, hemp and linen, hosiery, lace, silk and artificial silk. The United States index includes the production of cotton, woollen and worsted goods and silk manufactures, and is based on the mill consumption of raw material and on spindle and loom activity for wool and silk.

TABLE XIX.

Countries		19	925 = 10	0	1928=100		1929=100	
		1927	1928	1929	1930	1929	1930	1930
America : United States 1	100 1111 90 86 105 96 114 93	109 106 124 94 112 142 121 102	$103 \\ 116 \\ 111 \\ 102 \\ 116 \\ 147 \\ 126 \\ 96 \\ 96$	111 108 104 102 117 131 125 100	88 100 102 102 85	107 93 94 100 102 89 99 103	85 86 92 69 88	79 92 98 78 85

INDICES OF ACTIVITY IN THE TEXTILE INDUSTRY.

¹ Production index of the Federal Reserve Board.

² Production index of the Statistique générale de la France.

³ Annual production index of the Institut für Konjunkturforschung.

⁴ Based on returns published by the Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek (Maandschrift, January 31st, 1931).

⁵ Production index of the Economic Research Institute.

⁶ Official production index of the Kommerskollegium, excluding ready-made clothing.

⁷ Annual production index of the London and Cambridge Economic Service.

The table shows that, except in Sweden and Poland, the development of the textile industry has been relatively slow in the five-year period 1925-1929 and that there was a marked decline in 1929 in the activity of the French, German and Polish textile industries.

The Swedish index was practically the same in 1929 as in 1928. This is true also of the Dutch indices the first of which relates to the value of production and thus is influenced by the drop in cotton and wool prices and therefore shows a decline in the early years of the period, although the quantity of the output may in fact have risen. It will be observed that the index of workers employed points to a continuous expansion of the Dutch textile industry. The value of the production of the hosiery branch increased without interruption and was in 1929 38 per cent greater (the number of workers employed in the reporting factories was 40 per cent greater) than in 1925. The Swedish hosiery industry expanded still more, the quantity of its production being 55 per cent larger in 1929 than in 1925. Separate indices for this branch of the textile industry, which has largely profited (partly at the cost of the others) from the changes in fashion in post-war years, are unfortunately not available for the other countries.

The activity of the German industry was greatest in 1927 and the British index was also higher in that year than in 1929. In the United States the textile index has fluctuated in close harmony with the variations in general business activity. It declined suddenly towards the end of 1929 and dropped further in 1930. The average for that year lies more than 20 per cent below that for 1929. The Polish index for 1930 shows a drop of roughly the same proportion, while the decline by 8 per cent in the French index points to a less serious general depression in that country. The index of the London and Cambridge Economic Service for the United Kingdom shows a general decline of 15 per cent in 1930. According to the indices for individual industries the activity of the British cotton industry declined by 28 per cent, that of the artificial silk industry by 14 per cent, that of the natural silk industry by 12 per cent ; the activity in the woollen industry, however, increased by 4 per cent. In Germany, the index of the textile industry shows a decrease of only 2 per cent in 1930. This is explained by the fact that in 1929 the activity of this branch of industry was already much less than in the two preceding years.

In studying the table it is necessary to bear in mind, first, that certain important textile countries, such, for instance, as Czechoslovakia, Italy and Switzerland, are omitted and, secondly, that these indices are computed with fixed weights and do not therefore take into account the very substantial changes in the relative prices of the products of the various branches of the textile industry which have taken place in the last few years. They refer to quantities and not to values (except one of the Dutch indices) and accordingly indicate changes in the volume of production but not in the profits earned.

The recent development of the more important branches of the textile industry are analysed in greater detail in separate sections below.

Cotton.

In Table XX (pages 74 and 75) is given the consumption of raw cotton in all countries from which information is obtained by the Federation of Master Cotton Spinners' Associations. The original statistics are expressed in numbers of bales the average weight of which, however, differs widely for the different kinds of cotton. They have therefore been converted into metric tons according to the average rates used by the Cotton Trade Statistical Bureau at Manchester. It should be observed that the scope of the statistics is not quite worldwide and that the continental totals cover those countries for which information is available and not necessarily to the whole area of the continents concerned.

The economic years run from August 1st to July 31st. The figures for total production and total consumption in the period under review are the following :

	Metric tons (000's)										
Cotton production Cotton Mill Consumption	$1924 \\ 1924-25 \\ 5,350 \\ n 5,066$	$1925 \\ 1925-26 \\ 6,050 \\ 5,352$	$1926 \\ 1926-27 \\ 6,150 \\ 5,716$	$1927 \\ 1927-28 \\ 5,190 \\ 5,594$	$1928 \\ 1928-29 \\ 5,690 \\ 5,646$	$1929 \\ 1929 - 30 \\ 5,640 \\ 5,434$	1930 1930–31 5,600				

After allowance has been made for such discrepancies as may arise from overlapping dates and from slight differences in the rates used for converting the bales into metric tons¹, the agreement is fairly close in general between the two series of figures. The raw cotton crops are, of course, subject to considerable year-to-year fluctuations, but have tended to fall since 1926. The cotton mill consumption was also largest in the economic year 1926-27 and remained at a slightly lower level in the two consecutive economic years, during which part of the surplus crops of the preceding years was consumed; but the year 1929-30 shows a decided decline as a result of the general economic depression. The available figures for the half-year August 1930 - January 1931 reflect the depression much more markedly than the figures given in the table above. Compared with the corresponding period of the previous year, the drop in mill consumption amounted to 17 per cent. The decline has been most marked in the case of American cotton, the consumption of which dropped by 14 per cent in the year 1929-30 and by 24 per cent in the second half of 1930 compared with that of 1929. The consumption of Egyptian cotton dropped by only 5 per cent in the year 1929-30, and that of East Indian and sundry cotton rose by 17 and 11 per cent respectively. But these were also seriously affected in the second half of 1930, when the consumption of East Indian cotton hardly rose at all and that of Egyptian and sundry cotton declined by 22 and 6 per cent respectively. During the whole period under review, American cotton lost ground to the miscellaneous crops and, in the last year and a-half, to East Indian cotton, especially on the European market.

The share of Europe in total cotton consumption remained almost stationary at about 43 per cent throughout the whole period, while that of North America dropped from 28 per cent in the beginning of the period to 24 per cent in the latter half-year of 1930 and that of Asia rose from 25 to about 30 per cent between the same dates, largely as a result of the rapid development of the cotton industry in China and Japan. The consumption of India, which had declined considerably in 1927-28 and 1928-29, recovered in 1929-30 and continued to rise in the second half of 1930. The consumption of China also rose in the latter half of last year,

¹ These differences may be accounted for by the fact that the bales, when reaching the factories, are, as a rule, somewhat lighter than at the original places of production.

TABLE XX.

•

COTTON MILL CONSUMPTION FROM 1924-25 TO 1929-30. Metric tons (000's).¹

	1929-30	51 47	111	$\begin{array}{c} 20\\1\\5\\14\end{array}$	2229 2229 66 61 137 104 104 104 104	323	97	
	1928-29	57 33 54		$15 \\ 1 \\ 14 \\ 14 \\ 14 \\ 14 \\ 14 \\ 14 \\ 1$	264 244 244 237 244 126 126 126 126 20	341	102	
Cotton	1927-28	50 1 49	г _ г	15 1 13	$\begin{array}{c} 255\\ 2359\\ 1\\ 2333\\ 2333\\ 223\\ 223\\ 223\\ 223\\ 223$	329	66	
gyptian	1926-27	51 3 8 51 3 8		18 1 16	261 240 240 334 173 233 127 127 231 232	342	102	
μ.	1925-26	49 47		15 122 122	$\begin{array}{c} 2350\\ 234\\ 17\\ 17\\ 135\\ 16\\ 16\\ 16\\ 16\\ 16\\ 16\\ 16\\ 16\\ 16\\ 16$	318	95	
	1924-25	44 	1 1	16 3 13	$\begin{array}{c} 269\\ 2555\\ 1\\ 255\\ 20\\ 20\\ 149\\ 149\\ 149\\ 149\\ 149\\ 149\\ 149\\ 149$	334	100	
	1929-30	11 	Yennada Alian and	$ \begin{array}{c} 799\\ 84\\ 407\\ 308 \end{array} $	288 288 288 288 288 288 288 288 288 288	1,104	110	
u	1928-29	9 6			241 322 325 324 16 324 46 324 7 7 334 7 7 334 7 7 33 4 6 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	939	94	
an Cotto	1927-28	<u>م</u> مر		$615 \\ 56 \\ 334 \\ 225$	011 101 101 101 101 101 101 101	821	82	
ast Indi	1926-27	סי סי 		763 397 283 283 283 283	177 177 177 177 177 177 177 177 177 177	943	94	on southing
E	1925-26	or or		776 89 321 321	222 222 2222 2222 2222 2222 2222 2222 2222	1,011	101	the foll
	1924-25	0.2 0.2		$ \begin{array}{c} 756 \\ 62 \\ 426 \\ 268 \\ 268 \\ \end{array} $	25 32 32 32 32 32 32 32 32 32 32 32 32 32	1,002	100	rding to
	1929-30	1,361 43 1,318		$324 \\ 66 \\ 10 \\ 248 \\ 248 $	$\begin{array}{c} 1,245\\ 1,181\\ 73\\ 151\\ 151\\ 334\\ 64\\ 64\\ 64\\ \end{array}$	2,954	98	000 500
u	1928-29	1,589 49 1,540		$325 \\ 63 \\ 12 \\ 250 \\ 250 \\$	1,476 1,388 50 50 187 187 187 189 169 169 189 888 888 888 888	3,419	114	ulletin.
n Cotto	1927-28	$^{1,526}_{1,482}$		$ \begin{array}{c} 343 \\ 67 \\ 31 \\ 245 \\ 245 \end{array} $	1,609 $1,497$ $1,497$ $1,497$ $1,889$ 1889 160 133 333 112 1112	3,494	116	Cotton B
America	1926-27	1,605 44 1,561		398 62 79 257	$\begin{array}{c}1,559\\1,471\\447\\154\\154\\154\\88\\88\\88\end{array}$	3,579	119	ational (
	1925-26	$1,446 \\ 47 \\ 1,399$	1 1	$229 \\ 27 \\ 200 \\ 200 $	1,426 1,364 40 1,364 40 161 161 27 37 62 62	3,113	104	: Intern
	1924-25	$1,375 \\ 36 \\ 1,339$		$175 \\ 16 \\ 156 \\ 156 $	1,441 1,371 734 1,371 1,372 2,322 2,324 2,327	3,006	100	Source 1 Bales
Countries		North America	Caribbean and S. America Brazil	Asia	Europe ¹ Including U.S.S.R. Ercluding U.S.S.R. Belgium Czechoslovakia France Germany Italy Netherlands United Kingdom U.S.S.R.	Total as percentage of	1924-25	

^a The totals for Europe include also the following rates: ^b The totals for Europe include also the following rates: ^c The totals for Europe include also the following countries: American cuttories: A following countries: A following countries and A following countries a following countries: A following countries

TABLE XX (continued).

COTTON MILL CONSUMPTION FROM 1924-1925 TO 1929-1930. Metric tons (000's).

percen- total	1929-30		$26.5 \\ 1 \\ 25.5$	2.5 1.5	28 9 11	848 8488888841118 1	IUU
ption as of world	1928-29		$\begin{array}{c} 30\\1\\29\end{array}$	2 0.5 0	24 7 10	₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩ ₩	IUU
Consum tage c	1924-25		$^{28}_{27}$		$\begin{smallmatrix} 25\\ 6\\ 10\\ 10\\ \end{smallmatrix}$	164.55	100
1928-29 = 100	1929-30		86 90 86	98 88 129	$114 \\ 117 \\ 122 \\ 107 $	94 94 955 955 955 955 955 955 955 955 95	96
=100	1929-30		$100 \\ 130 \\ 99$	86 77 111	$121 \\ 144 \\ 100 \\ 124$	$\begin{array}{c} 105\\ 105\\ 151\\ 103\\ 108\\ 1108\\ 111\\ 189\\ 189\\ 173\\ 173\\ 173\\ 173\\ 173\\ 173\\ 173\\ 173$	107
1924-25	1928-29		116 144 115	88 88 86	$105 \\ 123 \\ 82 \\ 115$	$\begin{array}{c} 112\\ 102\\ 102\\ 104\\ 105\\ 114\\ 105\\ 195\\ 195\\ 216\\ 216 \end{array}$	II
	1929-30		1,433 47 1,386	128 128 84 44	1,516465447604	2,293 1,851 1,851 955 2010 2955 295 444 444 442 6442 64	5,434
	1928-29		1,663 52 1,611	130 130 34	$1,325 \\ 3396 \\ 367 \\ 562 \\ 562 \\$	2,448 1,992 111 279 232 422 422 662 422 662 422 662 80 80 80 80 80 80	5,646
al	1927-28		1,594 45	1,540 152 113 39	1,309 412 377 520	$\begin{array}{c} 2,480\\ 2,079\\ 123\\ 256\\ 213\\ 213\\ 40\\ 684\\ 40\\ 684\\ 101\end{array}$	5,594
Tot	1926-27		1,681 47 1,624	1,034 128 91 27	1,457 1,457 1,457 1,457 1,457 1,459 1,459 1,457 1,457 1,457 1,457 1,457 1,457 1,457 1,457 1,457 1,457 1,457 1,457 1,457 1,289 1,580 1,580	$\begin{array}{c} 2,397\\ 2,025\\ 2,025\\ 114\\ 2114\\ 208\\ 36\\ 36\\ 36\\ 711\\ 372\\ 53\end{array}$	5,716
	925-26		1,512 49 1,469	205 160 160 150	1,287 351 377 559	$\begin{array}{c} 2,305\\ 1,935\\ 1,935\\ 1,935\\ 106\\ 271\\ 228\\ 33\\ 33\\ 33\\ 33\\ 33\\ 370\\ 43\\ 716\\ 43\\ 716\\ 43\\ 716\\ 73\\ 716\\ 73\\ 716\\ 73\\ 716\\ 73\\ 73\\ 73\\ 73\\ 73\\ 73\\ 73\\ 73\\ 73\\ 73$	5,352 106
	924-25		1,439 36	1,403 149 109	1,258 1,258 446 446 489	2,183 1,949 107 2559 2559 2200 300 46 746 234 234 234 234	5,066 100
	929-30		10	128 84 84	$ \begin{array}{c} 44 \\ 314 \\ 314 \\ 325 \\ 34 \\ \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{c} 519\\ 180\\ 19\\ 23\\ 23\\ 339\\ 23\\ 23\\ 23\\ 23\\ 23\\ 23\\ 23\\ 23\\ 23\\ 23$	1,053 146
	928-29		11	130 130 96	$ \begin{array}{c} 3302 \\ 302 \\ 13 \\ 13 \\ 28 \\ 28 \\ \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{c} 4467\\111\\11\\16\\7\\1\\348\\37\\37\\37\\37\\37\\37\\37\\37\\37\\37\\37\\37\\37\\$	947 131
lries	99.7-28		13	151 113 113	3336 336 11 288 288 233 232 232 232 232 232 232 232	$\begin{array}{c} 1415\\ 150\\ 16\\ 16\\ 2657\\ 35\\ 35\\ 35\\ 35\\ 35\\ 35\\ 35\\ 35\\ 35\\ 35$	950 131
Sund	126-966	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	13	13 91 91	37 242 12 94	263	852 118
	96-360	07-070	12	$12 \\ 204 \\ 160 \\ 100 \\$	44 267 234 7	292	910
	1004-05	07-7761	14	$\begin{array}{c} 14\\ 148\\ 109\end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	2399 2999 2999 201 10 150 150 127 221 212	724 100
	Countries		North America	United States	Mexico	Europe Including U.S.S.R. Eucluding U.S.S.R. Excluding U.S.S.R. Excluding U.S.S.R. Erente Caechoslovakia France France Germany Italy Netherlands Vortea United Kingdom U.S.S.R.	Total as percentage of 1924-25

Source: International Cotton Butletin.

¹ Bales have been converted to metric tons according to the following rates: American cotton. 1 bale = 500 lb. = 226.7962 kg. East Indian cotton. 1 bale = 760 lb. = 344.720 kg. Egyptian cotton. 1 bale = 760 lb. = 234.720 kg. Supprise cotton. 1 bale = 450 lb. = 204.1106 kg. ^a The totals for Europe include also the following countries. Austria, Denmark, Finland, Norway, Portugal, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland. These countries are not included in the group: *Various countries*, n.e.i.

but that of Japan dropped by 20 per cent compared with the corresponding period in 1929.

The consumption of the United States expanded relatively little up to 1928-29 and dropped by 14 per cent in the following year. In the second half of 1930 it was 26 per cent below the figures for the corresponding period in 1929. The far less important Canadian cotton industry expanded rapidly up to 1928-29 and appears to have suffered less than that of the United States from the recent depression, except in the second half-year of 1929; since then its consumption has declined only slightly.

The development in European countries during the period under review has been far from uniform. A steady and rapid advance up to 1928-29 will be observed in the case of Belgium, the Netherlands and the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics. The Polish cotton industry also expanded considerably and the German industry more than those of France, Italy and Czechoslovakia, while there was a steady decline in British cotton mill consumption throughout the period. In 1929-30 the Dutch cotton industry continued to expand, and the consumption of the Belgian industry was maintained at the level of the preceding year, while consumption declined in the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, though slightly, and in all other European countries shown. The contraction was most marked in the already depressed cotton industry of the United Kingdom and in that of Poland.

The various European countries have been affected in very different degrees by the general depression. This is clearly seen from the following figures showing the percentage drop (—) or increase (+) in the cotton mill consumption in the halfyear ending January 31st, 1931, compared with the corresponding period in 1929-30:

United Kingdom \ldots $=$ 32Czechoslovakia \ldots $=$ 11Italy \ldots $=$ 27Netherlands \ldots $=$ 3	entage
Italy $\dots \dots \dots$	1
	3
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1
$\begin{array}{cccc} \text{Germany} & \dots & $	2

The United Kingdom stands out again as the country which has been most severely hit; but the Italian, Belgian and Germany industries, which had been much less affected in the first half of the year, were also seriously depressed in the second. The Dutch and French industries were remarkably little affected and Polish cotton mill consumption even recovered from the drop in the first half of the year. The 14 per cent decline in the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics attracts special interest in view of the fact that cotton spinning and weaving would appear to be the only important branch of industry in that country which failed to increase its output in 1930.

The following table gives indices of the activity in cotton spinning and weaving in the limited number of countries for which production figures or other significative data, apart from mill consumption figures, are available. It confirms on the whole the conclusions drawn from the preceding table, due regard being paid to the fact that the twelve-month periods to which the figures relate are not identical in the two cases. Separate indices relating both to the weight and the value of the output of the Swedish cotton industry are given. The quantity indices point to a more rapid development up to 1928 in the industry of that country than in that of any of the other countries shown, except the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics and Belgium. As a result of the drop in prices, the value indices are of course very considerably lower than the quantity indices; that relating to yarns even remained slightly below the level of 1925 in all subsequent years, except 1928. The Dutch value index, which does not distinguish between yarns and tissues, shows the effects of the decline in prices to be still more striking.

TABLE XXI A.

Countries		19	925=10	0		1928=	=100	1929=100
	1926	1927	1928	1929	1930	1929	1930	1930
America : Canada ¹	$ 113 \\ 105 \\ 106 \\ 118 \\ 107 \\ 107 $	114 117 99 118 104	$ 113 \\ 103 \\ 128 \\ 94 \\ 100 $	114 111 121 114	85 84 103	$ \begin{array}{r} 101 \\ 107 \\ \dots \\ 129 \\ 114 \end{array} $	76 81 103	75 76 118 ⁵ 90
Europe : Belgium ³	$ \begin{array}{r} 116 \\ 102 \\ 85 \\ 100 \\ 118 \\ 97 \\ 84 \\ 128 \\ \end{array} $	$ 128 \\ 101 \\ 116 \\ 87 \\ 124 \\ 99 \\ 93 \\ 160 \\ $	$ \begin{array}{r} 136 \\ 107 \\ 105 \\ 97 \\ 132 \\ 110 \\ 85 \\ 167 \\ \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{c}\\ 105\\ 95\\\\ 124\\ 98\\ 84\\ 184\\ \end{array} $	97 94 61 178	$ \begin{array}{c}\\ 98\\ 90\\\\ 94\\ 89\\ 98\\ 110\\ \end{array} $	91 90 72 107	93 100 78 97

ACTIVITY IN THE COTTON-SPINNING INDUSTRY.

¹ Production index of the *Monthly Bulletin of Business Statistics*, based on raw cotton imports. ² Production index of the Federal Reserve Board based on cotton consumption.

³ Actual quantities of yarn produced.

⁴ Twelve months (April 1st-March 31st); base year: April 1925-March 1926.

⁵ Provisional figures, based on returns for April-August only.

⁶ Production index of the Institut für Konjunkturforschung, relating to output of yarn.

⁷ Annual Report on Industry, Kommerskollegium.

⁸ Production index of the London and Cambridge Economic Service, relating to output of yarn.

⁹ Economic years ending September 30th.

TABLE XXIB.

Countries		1	925=10	1928=100		1929=100		
	1926	1927	1928	1929	1930	1929	1930	1930
America : United States ¹	•	116	•	•••	•	• • •	•	•
Asia : India ^{1 2}	$\begin{array}{c} 116 \\ 109 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 122\\110\end{array}$	96 118	$\begin{array}{c} 121 \\ 131 \end{array}$	 118	$\begin{array}{c} 126\\111\end{array}$	 100	118 ³ 90
Europe : $France^1$ $Germany^4$ $Italy^1$	$104 \\ 78 \\ 115$	$104 \\ 117 \\ 100$	$106 \\ 110 \\ 108$	$\begin{array}{c} 108\\94\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 109\\94\\ \end{array}$	102 86	103 85	101 99
Netherlands : ⁵ Workers employed Value of production Sweden (tissues produced) : ⁶	105 82	111 88	114 96	115 96		101 100		
Weight	$120 \\ 110 \\ 136$	$127 \\ 108 \\ 152$	$129 \\ 110 \\ 165$	129 111 180	$\frac{\dots}{176}$	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 101 \\ 109 \end{array} $	 106	 98

ACTIVITY IN THE COTTON WEAVING INDUSTRY.

¹ Actual quantities of tissues produced. ² Twelve months (April 1st-March 31st); base year: April 1925-March 1926.

³ Provisional figure, based on returns for April-August only.

⁴ Production index of the Institut für Konjunkturforschung.

⁵ Spinning and weaving, Maandschrift van het Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek, January 31st, 1931.

⁶ Annaul Report on Industry, Kommerskollegium.

⁷ Economic years ending September 30th.

Large as is the trade in cotton goods, most production is nevertheless for domestic purposes. According to an unofficial estimate by one expert body¹ less than 10 per cent of the cotton yarn and less than 20 per cent of the cotton tissues produced enters to-day into international trade. Exports are, however, vital to certain national industries. The total exports of yarn have declined substantially in recent years, and the value of the exports of piece-goods have fallen steadily throughout the whole period under review, partly as a result of the decline in prices and partly owing to a quantitative reduction in British exports, which constitute a very large proportion of the world total. Certain features of the trade in cotton goods have been discussed in a companion volume² and need not be further referred to here.

Wool.

The statistics of raw wool production should not be accepted as more than expert estimates. They probably give a fairly accurate indication of the general

¹ The Manchester Cotton Trade Statistical Bureau.

² League of Nations Memorandum on International Trade and Balances of Payments, 1927-1929, Volume I.

trend of development. It was not until about 1925 that the post-war production and consumption of wool reached the pre-war level. Between that year and 1928, production rose by about 12 per cent and remained stationary in 1929.

The available production indices for the woollen industry are given in the following table. These indices of the different countries are based on very different data — in some cases on raw wool consumption, in others on quantity of wool conditioned, actual output by weight or square measure or value, number of workers employed, etc. — and some only cover part of the industry. The indices therefore are not directly comparable with one another; they only serve to indicate the general trend.

TABLE XXII.

		1925=100					
1927	1928	1929	1930	1929	1930	1930	
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	102 153 110 142 114 123 125 113 108 107	111 147 104 137 111 118 124 115 108 117	78 98 120 115 	108 97 94 97 96 99 102 100 110	77 89 94 114	71 94 98 104	
	$ \begin{array}{c} 104 \\ 152 \\ 101 \\ 150 \\ 115 \\ 153 \\ 116 \\ 109 \\ 2 \\ 101 \\ 112 \\ \dots \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	

ACTIVITY IN THE WOOL INDUSTRY.

¹ Production index of the Federal Reserve Board, based on raw wool consumption.

² Production index based on wool conditioned at Verviers and Dison.

³ Production index of the *Statistique générale de la France* based on wool conditioned at Roubaix-Tourcoing and Mazamet.

⁴ Annual Production index of the Institut für Konjunkturforschung.

⁵ Based on returns published by the Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek (Maansdchrift, January 31st, 1931). ⁶ Annual Report on Industry, Kommerskollegium. The index for the value of these products (1925=100)

was:				
	1926	1927	1928	1929
	97	96	103	101

⁷ Annual production index of the London and Cambridge Economic Service, based on raw wool consumption.
 ⁸ Actual production of woollen fabrics (quantities).

In the quinquennium 1925-1929, the woollen industry seems on the whole to have expanded in Belgium, Germany and the Netherlands more than the average increase suggested by the index for world production of raw wool. Production in the United Kingdom appears to have grown almost in proportion to that average increase, while the indices for the United States, Sweden and France have risen less. The indices of those countries in which the expansion has been greatest and, in addition, that of France, dropped somewhat in 1929. The indices of the United States, the United Kingdom and the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, on the other hand, rose in 1929; the rapid development in the latter country, however, slackened in 1930. Annual indices for 1930 are available for the United States, France, the United Kingdom and Germany in addition to the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics. As a result of the general economic depression, the activity of the industry has apparently been very considerably reduced in the United States and to a much less extent in France. In France, indeed, the depression was felt by the woollen industry only in the second half of the year, when the index declined by 9 per cent. In Germany, activity seems to have been on an average even somewhat greater than in 1929. The woollen textile index of the London and Cambridge Economic Service, which is based on wool consumption also shows a small increase.

The total value of woollen tissues exported annually by the six European countries covered by Table XXIII below changed comparatively little in the period 1925-1929. That of the woollen and worsted yarns exported was 25 per cent greater in 1928 and only slightly higher in 1929 than in 1925. But the price for raw wool dropped in the same period by about 35 per cent.¹ In 1930 the aggregate value of woollen fabrics exported was reduced by about one-quarter compared with 1929; but in view of the continued drop in wool prices, which fell in the course of the year 35 per cent from the average of 1929 — a drop which involved a considerable decline also in the prices of woollen fabrics — the reduction in quantity was certainly nothing like as great as that in value.

German woollen exports expanded more than those of any other country up to 1927-28 and remained high in 1929 in spite of the general slackening in productive activity. It is true indeed that exports of yarns from Italy have increased relatively more, but these exports, are only a fraction of those of Germany. Moreover the value of Italy's exports of tissues in 1929 was lower, compared with 1925, than that of any of the other countries shown above. In all these countries, except Czechoslovakia, the value of exports both of tissues and yarns in 1929 was below the 1925 level. The aggregate exports of the United Kingdom and France were more affected in 1930 than those of Germany.

¹ Average Australian export price of greasy wool, in terms of dollars.

EXPORTS OF WOOLLEN FABRICS.

Countries	Va	lue in \$ (00	00's omitte	d)	19	25 = 100)	1929=100
	1925	1928	1929	1930*	1928	1929	1930	1930
		I	Wo	ollen tissue	8		I	
Belgium	$\begin{array}{c} 6,046\\ 32,308\\ 68,920\\ 50,673\\ 18,237\\ 176,680\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 6,721\\ 36,267\\ 69,900\\ 66,549\\ 12,905\\ 170,946\end{array}$	5,954 35,046 64,800 66,307 14,000 158,920	$\begin{array}{r} 4,962\\ 28,114\\ 50,300\\ 54,793\\ 13,046\\ 113,889\\ \hline \end{array}$	111 112 101 131 71 97	98 108 94 131 77 90	$ \begin{array}{r} 82\\ 87\\ 73\\ 108\\ 72\\ 64\\ \end{array} $	83 80 78 83 93 72
Total	352,864	355,238	345,027	265,104	101	98	75	77
			Woollen	ted yarr	1 18			
Belgium	$18,887 \\13,762 \\34,698 \\21,991 \\2,026 \\57,194$	$19,916 \\ 17,300 \\ 34,500 \\ 29,063 \\ 5,644 \\ 57,834$	$\begin{array}{c c} 15,705\\ 15,942\\ 30,500\\ 28,975\\ 5,000\\ 53,582 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c c}12,314\\12,856\\25,300\\21,707\\3,012\\36,038\end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{r} 105 \\ 126 \\ 99 \\ 132 \\ 279 \\ 101 \end{array} $	$\begin{vmatrix} 83\\116\\88\\132\\247\\94 \end{vmatrix}$	$ \begin{array}{c c} 65 \\ 93 \\ 73 \\ 99 \\ 149 \\ 63 \\ \end{array} $	78 81 83 75 60 67
Total	148,558	185,792	149,704	111,227	125	101	75	74

* Provisional figures.

Silk.

The recorded production of raw silk increased between 1925 and 1929 from about 48,000 to about 61,000 metric tons, or by 27 per cent, mainly on account of an expansion by over 40 per cent in the output of Japan, the producer next in importance to China, for which, however, production figures are not available. Chinese exports, which amount to between one-third and one-fourth of the total output of Japan, only rose by 13 per cent, and the output of Italy, the main European producers, by 10 per cent. The aggregate output of the other European producers remained practically stationary. In 1930 there was a drop of $1\frac{1}{2}$ per cent in the figures for Japan and it is possible that world supply fell slightly.

The most important silk industries are those of the United States of America, Japan, France, Italy, Germany, Switzerland and the United Kingdom. Table XXIV gives such indices of activity in the silk industry as are available.

TABLE XXIV.

		<u> </u>							
Countries	Countries		1	925=10	1928=	=100	1929=100		
		1926	1927	1928	1929	1930	1929	1930	1930
America : United States 1	· · ·	100 108 105 101 86 106 	110 117 87 134 98 98 	114 119 110 120 109 112 	124 116 91 128 108 127 	115 107 74 119 112 	109 98 83 107 99 113 130	101 90 67 100 99 169	93 92 81 93 88 130

INDICES OF ACTIVITY IN THE SILK INDUSTRY.

¹ Silk deliveries to mills.

² Production of silk tissues.

³ Production index of the Statistique générale de la France based on silk conditioned at Lyons.

⁴ Annual production index of the Institut für Konjunkturforschung (silk weaving).

⁵ Actual quantities of silk yarn produced.

⁶ Annual production index of the London and Cambridge Economic Service, based on production of silk thrown and spun.

⁷ Economic years beginning October 1st. Index based on values at 1926-27 prices.

Considerable year-to-year fluctuations are noticeable. In 1929 there was a remarkable increase in the activity of the silk industries of the United States of America, the United Kingdom and Germany. The production of silk yarn in Italy and of tissues in Japan was slightly lower than in 1928, while the French index dropped by 17 per cent as compared with that year. The available figures for 1930 point to a further sharp decline in the activity of the French industry; the contraction in the German, British, American and Japanese silk industries appears to have been less serious. The index of the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics for production of silk goods rose by as much as 30 per cent in 1930.

Artificial Silk.

As shown in Table XXVI below the aggregate output of artificial silk increased without interruption between 1925 and 1929, and more than doubled in the period, but in 1930 there was a small decline.

TABLE XXV.

Countries	Production in metric tons (000's)			Pı	oductio of t	n as p hat in]	ercentaş 1925	1930 as percen- tage	Pro per wo	duction centage orld tot	as of al	
	1925	1929	1930 ¹	1926	1927	1928	1929	1930	of 1929	1925	1929	1930
America :	$\begin{array}{c} 24.1 \\ 23.5 \end{array}$	57.3 55.4	$56.3 \\ 53.8$	124 123	147 146	191 189	237 235	233 229	98 97	$\begin{array}{c} 27.8\\ 27.1 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 28.5\\ 27.6\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 28.7\\ 27.4 \end{array}$
Asia: Japan	1.3	14.0	15.8	196	286	428	1100	1243	113	1.5	7.0	8.1
Europe : Belgium France Germany Italy Netherlands Switzerland United Kingdom Other Countries	$\begin{array}{c} 61.2 \\ 5.0 \\ 6.5 \\ 11.8 \\ 13.9 \\ 4.0 \\ 2.8 \\ 13.5 \\ 3.7 \end{array}$	$129.5 \\7.3 \\16.8 \\25.0 \\32.3 \\9.1 \\5.6 \\25.8 \\7.6$	$123.9 \\ 5.4 \\ 18.1 \\ 27.0 \\ 30.1 \\ 8.2 \\ 4.8 \\ 22.2 \\ 8.1 \\ \end{bmatrix}$	$114 \\ 120 \\ 122 \\ 115 \\ 120 \\ 153 \\ 130 \\ 86 \\ 117$	$156 \\ 150 \\ 147 \\ 154 \\ 176 \\ 187 \\ 168 \\ 130 \\ 162$	$188 \\ 136 \\ 210 \\ 202 \\ 188 \\ 204 \\ 194 \\ 175 \\ 202 \\$	212 146 258 212 234 227 199 191 208	$203 \\ 108 \\ 279 \\ 229 \\ 218 \\ 204 \\ 173 \\ 165 \\ 216$	96 74 108 108 93 90 87 86 104	$\begin{array}{c} 70.7 \\ 5.8 \\ 7.5 \\ 13.6 \\ 16.1 \\ 4.6 \\ 3.2 \\ 15.6 \\ 4.3 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 64.5\\ 3.6\\ 8.4\\ 12.5\\ 16.1\\ 4.5\\ 2.8\\ 12.8\\ 3.8\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 63.2\\ 2.8\\ 9.2\\ 13.8\\ 15.4\\ 4.2\\ 2.4\\ 11.3\\ 4.1\\ \end{array}$
World .	86.6	200.8	196.0	118	155	192	232	226	98	100.0	100.0	100.0

PRODUCTION OF ARTIFICIAL SILK.

¹ Provisional figures.

The industry was concentrated in a few European countries before the war, but, in recent years, it has been rapidly developed in other countries. In 1913, the United Kingdom, Germany, France and Belgium were probably responsible for about 80 per cent of the world output. Their share was only 42 per cent in 1925 and not more than 37 per cent in 1929-30. Italy had by 1925 risen to the leading position among European producers and has since more than doubled its output. The rate of increase, however, has been greatest in Japan, although its output is still below that of the European countries mentioned, except Belgium. The total share of Europe in the world output dropped from 71 to 63 per cent between 1925 and 1930, and that of North America rose from 28 to 29 per cent.

In 1930, production dropped everywhere except in Japan and France; the reduction was largest both absolutely and relatively in the United Kingdom. The trade in artificial silk has kept pace with production and, up to 1928, indeed increased somewhat more rapidly, as shown in Table XXVI.

In 1930, the decline in output was not fully reflected in the export quantities, which were indeed slightly higher than in 1929. But although the weight of exports in 1928 was double that of 1925, the decline in prices has been so great that the values were only up by 35 per cent and actually dropped by 6 per cent in the two subsequent years in spite of a further increase of 15 per cent in the total weight.

TABLE XXVI.

Countries		Quan	tities in	quintals	(000's)		1929 as percentage	1930 as percentage
	1925	1926	1927	1928	1929	1930 1	of 1925	of 1929
Belgium	$\begin{array}{r} 33.2 \\ 6.4 \\ 38.0 \\ 72.6 \\ 30.4 \\ 18.7 \\ 32.7 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 32.2 \\ 10.9 \\ 36.6 \\ 97.9 \\ 55.4 \\ 29.5 \\ 26.5 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 37.2 \\ 48.4 \\ 44.1 \\ 147.6 \\ 72.0 \\ 33.3 \\ 37.9 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 39.8 \\ 51.2 \\ 62.8 \\ 150.0 \\ 77.8 \\ 37.6 \\ 43.3 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 31.9\\ 65.2\\ 89.9\\ 175.9\\ 88.5\\ 39.3\\ 37.0 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 30.3\\79.4\\69.6\\186.7\\92.2\\43.2\\29.2\end{array}$	$96\\1,019\\237\\242\\291\\210\\116$	$95 \\ 122 \\ 77 \\ 106 \\ 104 \\ 110 \\ 79$
Total	232.0	289.0	420.5	462.5	527.7	530.6	228	101
Total value (million dol- lars)	63.3	61.2	78.5	85.4	81.4	80.6	129	99
Average price in dollars per quintal	272.8	211.7	186.7	184.6	154.3	151.9	57	98
Indices of Exports	100 100 100	125 97 78	$181\\124\\68$	$199 \\ 135 \\ 68$	228 129 57	229 127 56		

EXPORTS OF ARTIFICIAL SILK.

Source: National foreign trade returns.

¹ Preliminary figures.

By 1930 indeed the average export price was little more than half that of 1925. The quantitative indices, therefore, must not be taken as indicating the financial prosperity of the industry. The above table is of particular interest as showing the enormous changes that have taken place in the relative importance in international trade of the various competing countries. In the period 1925-1929 the exports of France increased over tenfold, those of the Netherlands almost trebled, and those of Italy, Germany and Switzerland more than doubled. On the other hand, the exports of the United Kingdom and Belgium expanded relatively little compared with those of the other countries up to 1928 inclusive and showed a definite contraction in 1929 and 1930. In 1930, the German exports also declined very substantially, while those of Italy, the Netherlands, Switzerland and, above all, those of France continued to rise.

Italy is by far the largest exporter; the Netherlands come next on the list, but their exports are not even half those of Italy. German exports, which in 1929 slightly exceeded those of the Netherlands, were outstripped in 1930 also by those of France. The indices available for textile industries not dealt with above are given in the following table :

TABLE XXVII.

ACTIVITY IN THE LINEN, HEMP AND JUTE INDUSTRIES, ETC.

Countries		1	925=10	00		1928=100		1929=100
	1926	1927	1928	1929	1930	1929	1930	1930
United States of America : 1 Jute	$ \begin{array}{r} 107\\130\\72\\111\\87\\83\\\hline\\97\\66\\66\\66\\95\end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{r} 143 \\ 86 \\ 53 \\ 82 \\ 87 \\ 96 \\ \hline 99 \\ 104 \\ 112 \\ 136 \\ \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 140\\105\\53\\76\\99\\77\\\hline102\\\hline64\\73\\124\end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 136\\ 108\\ 44\\ 115\\ 99\\ 74\\ \hline 110\\ 56\\ 69\\ 123 \end{array} $	 54 57 99	98 102 83 153 100 96 108 89 95 99	 	
Jute-spinning ³ Sweden ⁴ Production of : Linen and hemp yarn and tissues . Jute yarn and tissues <i>United Kingdom : ⁵</i> Jute, hemp and linen industries	78 99 88 94 92 75	100 104 93 101 89 125	110 108 94 108 94 104	101 97 88 116 99 110	66 80	92 89 93 107 106	60 77	65 73
U.S.S.R. : ⁶ Linen fabrics		•••				120	124	104

¹ Consumption of raw materials based on imports.

² Monthly production index for the Institut für Konjunkturforschung.

³ Annual production index of the Institut für Konjunkturforschung.

⁴ Annual Report on Industry. Kommerskollegium.

⁵ Annual Index of the London and Cambridge Economic Service, based on consumption of raw materials.

⁶ Actual production in quantities.

The various branches of the textile industry in the United States of America for which indices are given above are chiefly dependent upon foreign supply for their raw material. The figures for the imports of the main raw materials are therefore taken as indicative of the activity of the industries concerned. For a similar reason, the British textile index is likewise based mainly on raw material imports. The German indices are based on various other data indicative of the activity in the linen, hemp and jute industries, while the Swedish and Russian indices have been calculated from actual production figures. In the United States of America the jute industry shows a very rapid development up to 1927 and a slight decrease in activity in subsequent years; in the linen and manila hemp industrics, a moderate expansion since 1927 is recorded. The ordinary hemp industry and industries using sisal, henequen and kapok as raw materials appear to have remained less active throughout the period 1926-1929 than in 1925.

In Germany the linen industry has been seriously depressed since 1927, and the jute spinning index dropped 40 per cent between 1928 and 1930; activity in the hemp spinning industry, on the other hand, although less than in 1927, was considerably greater than in 1925 until 1930. The British jute, hemp and linen industries had by 1929 only partly recovered from the setback of the previous year. In Sweden, the linen and hemp spinning and weaving industries made comparatively little advance up to 1928 and the production dropped in 1929 below the 1925 level. In 1930, however, activity declined considerably. The weight of jute yarn and tissues produced in that country increased between 1927 and 1929; but, in consequence of the decrease in price, the value of the output remained below the 1925 level throughout the whole period. In contrast to the development in most other industries in the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics for which indices are available, the Russian output of linen fabrics rose by 20 per cent between 1928 and 1929; in the following year, however, production increased only by 4 per cent.

Rubber Industry.

The available figures for the consumption of crude rubber indicate roughly the importance of the various national rubber industries. The kind of rubber fabrics produced, however, vary from country to country, and the large tyre and tube industries naturally consume more crude rubber than the industries manufacturing higher-priced articles. In 1929, the quantity of crude rubber used in the United States of America for making tyres and tubes amounted to about 84 per cent of the total rubber consumption in that country, while the value of tyres and tyre sundries is estimated at not more than two-thirds of that of all rubber products.

The development of the rubber industry has of course been chiefly dependent upon the growth of the automobile industry. The United States of America, however, which in 1930 accounted for 80 per cent (in 1929, 84 per cent) of the motor vehicles produced in the world, was in the same year responsible for less than 57 per cent (in 1929, 59 per cent) of total raw rubber consumption, as shown in Table XXVIII.

The world consumption of crude rubber remained almost stationary in the period 1925 to 1927, increased very greatly in 1928 and 1929 and dropped substantially in 1930. Consumption in the United States of America rose much less rapidly up to 1929 and fell considerably more in 1930 than in the rest of the world. Only in the United Kingdom did the consumption of rubber expand in 1930.

TABLE XXVIII.

Countries	Metric	tons	(000's)		19	925=10	0	1929 = 100	Percentage of worl total			
	1925	1929	1930	1926	1927	1928	1929	1930	1930	1925	1929	1930
United States of America Canada	388 20 13 40 35 30 34 560 172	$ \begin{array}{r} 470 \\ 37 \\ 34 \\ 61 \\ 50 \\ 71 \\ 77 \\ \hline 800 \\ 330 \\ \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 378 \\ 28 \\ 27 \\ 55 \\ 44 \\ 74 \\ 61 \\ \hline 667 \\ 289 \\ \end{array} $	94 100 146 98 66 137 115 98 106	96 135 162 98 111 150 126 	$ \begin{array}{r} 114\\155\\192\\105\\109\\163\\165\\\hline\\122\\140\end{array} $	$121 \\ 185 \\ 262 \\ 152 \\ 143 \\ 237 \\ 226 \\ \hline 143 \\ 192 \\ \hline$	97 140 208 138 126 245 179 119 168	80 76 79 90 88 104 79 83 88	$\begin{array}{c} 69.3 \\ 3.6 \\ 2.3 \\ 7.1 \\ 6.2 \\ 5.4 \\ 6.1 \\ \hline 100 \\ 30.7 \end{array}$	$58.8 \\ 4.6 \\ 4.2 \\ 7.8 \\ 6.2 \\ 8.8 \\ 9.6 \\ \hline 100 \\ 41.2 \\ \hline$	$56.7 \\ 4.2 \\ 4.1 \\ 8.3 \\ 6.6 \\ 10.7 \\ 9.2 \\ 100 \\ 43.3$

CONSUMPTION OF CRUDE RUBBER.

Source: The Statist, February 7th, 1931 (No. 2763).

The conclusions which may be drawn from the above table are generally confirmed by the available indices of the activity of the rubber-manufacturing industry in certain countries shown in Table XXIX.

TABLE XXIX.

1928 = 1001929 = 1001925 = 100Countries $\mathbf{74}$ United States of America¹... Value of production Workers employed Sweden: 5 Quantity. Value United Kingdom⁶

ACTIVITY IN THE RUBBER INDUSTRY.

¹ Production index of the Federal Reserve Board (rubber tyres and tubes).

² Index of production of the Statistique générale de la France.

⁵ Annual index of the Institut für Konjunkturforschung.
⁴ Maandschrift van het Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek, January 1931.

³ Official production index of the Kommerskollegium; all rubber goods.

⁶ Annual production index of the London and Cambridge Economic Service, based on indiarubber trade.

It will be noted that, except in the case of France, the expansion up to 1929 shown by these indices is somewhat smaller than that indicated in the preceding table. The index for the United States of America, which is based on the members of tyres and tubes produced, even dropped in 1929, while crude rubber consumption increased, the average size of tyre being larger than previously. The quantity of rubber fabrics produced in Sweden (mainly galoshes) was 40 per cent and the value 32 per cent greater in 1929 than in 1925. The expansion was considerably less rapid in the same period in the United States of America, Germany and the Netherlands. The value index of the Netherlands indeed remained below the 1925 level throughout the period. The manufacture of rubber tyres and tubes in the United States of America naturally contracted in 1930 as a result of the decline in the activity of the motor-vehicle industry. In Germany, the setback was much less pronounced, and the French rubber industry was even more active than in 1929, this is true also of the British rubber industry.

Leather and Boot and Shoe Industries.

The available indices showing changes in the activity of the leather and boot and shoe industries in various countries are given in Table XXX. The indices vary widely in character.

TABLE XXX.

Countries			1925=1	100		1928	=100	1929=100
·	1926	1927	1928	1929	1930	1929	1930	1930
United States of America : ¹ Leather and products	102	107	107	109	98	102	91	90
<i>France</i> ²	101	99	107	112	94 106	92	85	92
Germany: ³ Leather production	88 82 	116 116 	$\begin{array}{c} 100\\ 96\\ \dots\end{array}$	93 85 	81 74 	$93 \\ 89 \\ 104$	81 77 101	88 86 97
Netherlands : 4 Leather { Value of products industry { Workers employed						87 99		
Boots and Xalue of products Shoes Workers employed	111 107	117 111	$\begin{array}{c} 135\\119\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 133\\118\end{array}$		99 99	 	• • •

ACTIVITY IN THE LEATHER AND BOOT AND SHOE INDUSTRIES.

¹ Production index of the Federal Reserve Board.

² Production index of the Statistique générale de la France.

³ Production index of the Institut für Konjunkturforschung.

⁴ Based on the number of workers employed published in the Maandschrift van het Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek.

TABLE XXX (continued).

ACTIVITY IN	THE LEATHER	AND BOOT A	AND SHOE	INDUSTRIES.
-------------	-------------	------------	----------	-------------

Countries		1	925 = 10	00	1928=100		1929=100	
	1926	1927	1928	1929	1930	1929	1930	1930
Poland ¹						88	83	94
Sweden ²	100	107	103	95		92		
Leather	104 97	$\begin{array}{c} 113\\ 102 \end{array}$	108 100	99 93		92 93	•••	
United Kingdom : London and Cambridge Economic Service (leather) Board of Trade (leather, boots, shoes)	95 	104	116	92	103	79 97	89 99	112 102
U.S.S.R.: ³ Large hides Small hides Boots and shoes						139 125 169	$145 \\ 155 \\ 270$	$104\\124\\161$

¹ Production index of the Institut polonais de recherches sur le mouvement des affaires. ² Official production index of the Kommerskollegium (quantities produced).

³ Economic years beginning October 1st. Index based on quantities produced.

The development of the leather and boot and shoe industries in the period 1925-1929 was comparatively slow everywhere except in the Netherlands and France. On the whole 1928 was the year of greatest activity, except in Germany and Sweden, where leather production and manufacture have been declining since 1927, in the United States of America, whose leather industry expanded in 1929, and in the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics. The available figures for 1930 show a decline everywhere, except in the last mentioned country and in the United Kingdom, whose industry would seem to have somewhat recovered from the very marked retrogression in the preceeding year.

Table XXXI shows the value of exports of leather, boots and shoes from the chief exporting countries in 1929 and 1930. It is based on figures published by the German Institut für Konjunkturforschung and is believed to cover some 75-80 per cent of the world trade in these commodities.

The aggregate export value both of leather and of boots and shoes dropped in 1930 by roughly one-sixth; but the relative decline varies from country to country. It was more than one-fourth in the United Kingdom (aggregate exports), a little less in Czechoslovakia (boots and shoes only), about one-fifth in the United States and only one-twelfth in France and Germany (aggregate exports). From Germany, indeed, the exports of boots and shoes increased, but these are small compared with the leather exports. From the indices shown, it would also appear that the boot and shoe industry resisted to the depression in 1930 better than the other branches of the German leather industry.

TABLE XXXI.

EXPORTS OF LEATHER AND OF BOOTS AND SHOES.

	\$ (000,000's)	
1929	1930 Leather	1930 as percentage of 1929
Germany 64.4	56.5	88
U.S.A. \ldots 43.0	35.9	84
France 33.5	31.6	94
United Kingdom <u>30.1</u>	19.5	65
Total 171.0	143.5	84
,	Boots and shoes	
Czechoslovakia 26.8	20.4	76
United Kingdom 23.3	19.7	85
U.S.A. \ldots 11.0	7.9	72
Germany 7.2	9.2	-128
France 5.6	4.5	80
Total 73.9	61.7	83

Timber Industry.

Available data concerning the activity in the timber industry relate chiefly to saw mills and in particular to those treating soft wood. Table XXXII covers most of the important soft wood producing countries, except Germany and France, which, however, are largely dependent upon imports of sawn wood and whose saw mills are as a rule small and of purely local importance. In the case of Canada, Austria, Czechoslovakia, Finland, Norway and Yugoslavia indices based on export figures are given, as comprehensive production data are either lacking or only available for a few of the years under review. The saw mills of these countries work mainly or largely for export, and the movement in the quantities of sawn and planed wood exported by them is believed to reflect the changes in the activity of their timber industry. The index for the United States relates to production of "lumber and allied products", and that for Poland to the total number of hours worked in the timber industry. Two indices are shown for Sweden; the official annual index covers total production of sawn and planed wood and, in addition, the output of joinery, while the index of the Svensk Finanstidning is based on returns from a more restricted number of monthly reporting saw mills. The index for the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics is also a quantitative production index.

TABLE XXXII.

a		19	25 = 10	0		1928 = 100		1929=100
Countries	1926	1927	1928	1929	1930	1929	1930	1930
Canada ¹ $\begin{cases} (a) \\ (b) \\ (b) \\ (b) \\ (b) \\ (b) \\ (c) \\ (c)$	$\begin{array}{c c} 99\\ 99\\ 96\\ 91\\ 79\\ 108\\ 98\\ 92\\ 107\\ 92\\ 103\\ \cdots \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 94\\ 96\\ 90\\ 111\\ 150\\ 123\\ 75\\ 108\\ 115\\ 98\\ 109\\ \cdots \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 80\\ 84\\ 90\\ 138\\ 100\\ 109\\ 84\\ 115\\ 123\\ 101\\ 140\\ \cdots \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 81\\ 90\\ 86\\ 116\\ 67\\ 114\\ 92\\ 111\\ 125\\ 104\\ 133\\ \dots \end{array}$	70 92 62 84 81 93 109 110 	$\begin{array}{c} 102\\ 107\\ 96\\ 84\\ 68\\ 104\\ 109\\ 97\\ 102\\ 103\\ 95\\ 123\\ \end{array}$	89 67 62 76 97 81 108 79 240	

INDICES OF ACTIVITY IN THE WOOD INDUSTRY.

¹ Indices of exports of (a) boards and planks; (b) all species of lumber and sawn wood.

² Production index of the Federal Reserve Board, production of sawn lumber and allied products.

³ Index of exports of building wood, sawn.

⁴ Index of exports of sawn wood.

⁵ Index of exports of sawn and planed wood.

⁶ Production index of the Economic Research Institute, Warsaw.

7 The official production index of the Kommerskollegium (annual) covers the total production of sawn and planed wood and joinery goods; the index of the *Svensk Finanstidning* (monthly) is less comprehensive. ⁸ Economic years ending September 30th; the index is based on value of products at 1926-27 prices.

The exports of boards and planks from Canada and the production of sawn

lumber and allied products in the United States have declined steadily since 1925, while the output and exports of the European countries as a whole increased very substantially up to 1928-29.

The decline in the Canadian exports, which, as shown by the indices, was especially marked in the case of boards and plants, may be due in part to an increase in the domestic consumption for building purposes. But available figures for the volume of all timber cut also show a decline between 1925 and 1927 (the highest figure was actually reached in 1924). This decline was notifiable in practically all important forest products except pulp wood, the consumption of which increased by 14 per cent in the same period. The decline in the production of sawn wood may thus be due in part to a change in the utilisation of the annual cut. The fall in the output of the United States up to 1929 may be a reflection of an increasing scarcity of available supplies resulting from a continued excess of annual cut over annual regrowth in the more easily accessible forests.

The development of the timber industry in European countries during the period under review has not been uniform. Finnish exports rose very rapidly up to 1927 and have since declined. Those of Yugoslavia and Austria rose even more up to 1928 and declined less in 1929 and 1930, while those of Norway and Czechoslovakia (except in 1927) have remained below the 1925 level througout the period. Production figures for Norway are available for 1927-29 and show a recovery between these two years in exact proportion to the recovery in exports. In the Polish wood industry 1928 was the year of greatest activity. The total production of the Swedish wood industry (official index) shows a steady and considerable increase up to 1929, and, according to the less comprehensive private index, the volume of output continued to rise in 1930. Sweden and the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics are indeed the only countries which increased their output of saw mill products in that year, while the indices for all the other countries reflect a serious depression. Since the middle of 1930, however, the monthly index of the *Svensk Finanstidning* has also declined. The output of the Swedish wood industry in the first quarter of 1931 appears to have been some 14 per cent below the average for 1930 and 24 per cent below that of the corresponding quarter in that year.

The output of the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics timber industry during the first three years of the five-year plan has enormously increased; the increased competition of this country on the timber export markets would appear, at least partly, to explain the decline since 1927 and 1928 in the activity of the industries of most other European wood exporting countries.

Paper and Printing.

According to the raw material index given in an earlier chapter, world production of wood pulp increased by 30 per cent in the period 1925-1929. Available data¹ point to an increase of about one quarter in the production of paper and paper-boards in the same period. The difference in the rates of increase suggests that there has been a less rapid development, or possibly even a decline, in the manufacture of paper from other raw materials than wood pulp. In North America, which accounted in 1929 for some 51 per cent of the total recorded production of paper and about 64 per cent of that of paper-boards, the output of paper rose somewhat more rapidly than in Europe where the corresponding increase was 25 per cent. On the other hand, production of paper-boards increased in Europe by 37 per cent, but in the United States only 24 per cent. In 1929, Europe's share in the world total amounted to about 46 per cent for paper and 33 per cent for paper-board. The largest individual producers are, in the order of importance, the United States of America, Canada, Germany and the United Kingdom.

The indices of activity in the paper industry given in Table XXXIII chiefly relate to actual quantities of paper (mainly newsprint) and paper-boards produced. Data on the manufacture of specially prepared paper, paper bags, boxes, and other paper products are less readily available and are usually not included in the indices. Those showing the activity of the printing industry generally relate to the consumption of printing paper.

¹ Detailed figures for some 25 countries are given in Table 53 of the Statistical Year-Book of the League of Nations, Geneva, 1931.

TABLE XXXIII.

ACTIVITY IN THE PAPER AND PRINTING INDUSTRY.

Countries		19	925=10	0		1928=	=100	1929=100
	1926	1927	1928	1929	1930	1929	1930	1930
America : Canada 1 United States of America Paper and paper-board Printing Asia : Japan (paper)	124 108 107 113	$136 \\ 107 \\ 104 \\ 116 \\ 123$	157 111 109 120 140	180 118 115 128 152	165 107 103 119 147	114 106 106 107	105 96 95 99 105	92 90 90 93 93
Europe : Austria ² Belgium ² Finland ² France ³ Germany ⁴ Paper Paper. Paper. Paper. Paper. Norway ² Notwers employed Value of production Value of production Poland ⁶ Sweden Official Production Index Manufactures of paper and boards Printing Strensk Finanstidning (paper)	$\begin{array}{c} 112 \\ 104 \\ 106 \\ 99 \\ 108 \\ 97 \\ 97 \\ 89 \\ 97 \\ 85 \\ 90 \\ 105 \\ 108 \\ \cdots \\ 109 \\ 109 \\ 109 \\ 113 \\ 108 \\ 109 \\ 107 \\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 123\\ 111\\ 111\\ 105\\ 100\\ 117\\ 119\\ 117\\ 114\\ 75\\ 110\\ 109\\ 110\\ \cdots\\ 113\\ 112\\ 122\\ 115\\ 113\\ 119\\ 113\\ 119\\ 110\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 119\\ 123\\ 114\\ 105\\ 122\\ 125\\ 119\\ 123\\ 81\\ 112\\ 119\\ 119\\ \dots\\ 114\\ 109\\ 131\\ 121\\ 109\\ 107\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 118\\ 128\\ 120\\ 128\\ 124\\ 126\\ 117\\ 117\\ 117\\ 86\\ 121\\ 126\\ 127\\ \cdots\\ 131\\ 129\\ 144\\ 131\\ 131\\ 135\\ \end{array}$	1119 157 118 111 115 <	$\begin{array}{c} 99\\ 99\\ 104\\ 105\\ 122\\ 102\\ 101\\ 98\\ 95\\ 106\\ 108\\ 106\\ 107\\ 100\\ 115\\ 118\\ 110\\ 109\\ 126\\ \end{array}$	94 149 97 95 93 94 97 109	95 123 95 93 95 99 97 97

¹ Newsprint production.

² Actual production of paper and paper-board. ³ Production Index of the *Statistique générale de la France*.

⁴ Annual production index of the Institut für Konjunkturforschung, including wood pulp.

⁵ Based on figures published by the Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek.

⁶ Production index of the Economic Research Institute.

⁷ Production Index of the London and Cambridge Economic Service covering paper, printing and allied trades.

⁸ Economic years ending September 30th.

The expansion of the paper industry has been more rapid in Canada than in any other country. The Canadian index, which, however, relates to newsprint production only, was as much as 80 per cent higher in 1929 than in 1925. In Japan, the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, the United Kingdom and Sweden, the industry also developed rapidly up to 1929. In Sweden, the expansion in manufactures of paper and paper-boards was very pronounced. The Swedish printing index is also high. In 1929, it is higher than those of the United States and Germany, the only other countries for which separate indices for this special branch are available. All other countries, except Italy, likewise show a considerable rise in their paper or combined paper and printing indices up to 1929, though the advance was less marked than in the countries mentioned.

The effects of the economic depression in 1930 on the activity of the paper and printing industries appear on the whole to have been less serious than in the case of most of the other industries dealt with in this chapter. Both the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics and France increased their paper production very considerably in 1930. In the United States and Sweden, a drop of 10 per cent is recorded and in the United Kingdom a drop of 8 per cent; but in all other countries for which 1930 figures are available the reduction appears to have been slight.

V. THE RELATIVE MOVEMENTS IN THE PRICES OF RAW PRODUCTS AND MANUFACTURED ARTICLES.

In previous issues of this *Memorandum*, a tentative approach has been made to the problem of the relationship of prices of raw products and manufactured articles. On the ratio of the prices of these two groups of commodities, the productive activity and the foreign trade of different classes of producers and different countries are largely dependent; the problem is therefore one of great significance. The practical importance of the problem has, indeed, been greatly increased during the past two years on account of the unequal incidence of falling prices on the two groups of commodities. In the present chapter, the analysis of certain of the somewhat inadequate published data is continued and extended in some directions. In addition, the partial and preliminary results of a special enquiry being undertaken by the League of Nations Secretariat, with the co-operation of certain national statistical offices, into relative price movements in certain years since 1913 are set out and analysed.

Comparison with pre-war years is difficult on account of the inadequacy of data concerning the prices of manufactured products. This lack of information is due to obvious reasons: methods of production have undergone important modifications; demand has changed; and the products of industry, even when bearing the same name as in 1913, are often no longer the same. It is partly in consequence of this difficulty that the amount of carefully sifted data is so small. Three main sources of evidence — none of which is in itself wholly satisfactory, or by itself adequate — have been employed. These are: (1) group indices of wholesale prices divided according to stage of manufacture, (2) price quotations in certain markets for raw materials and for the articles manufactured therefrom, and (3) wholesale and retail price indices.

* *

During a period of economic depression, the prices of raw materials drop more and more rapidly than the prices of manufactured products. The main reasons for this are obvious. The output of finished products can be more readily controlled than can the supply of raw materials, more especially of those of agricultural origin. Further, merchants and manufacturers normally carry considerable reserve stocks of raw materials; at the beginning of a period of depression these stocks tend to reduce the demand for raw materials and thus help in forcing down their prices. In addition, a substantial period of time normally elapses between the purchase of raw materials and the sale of the finished product accordingly, a fall in the price of the raw materials is likely to be reflected in a fall in the price of the finished product only after an interval about equal to the length of the productive process. Finally, in so far as prices follow costs during a period of economic depression, the prices of manufactured products tend to fall relatively little because manufacturing industry contains a high proportion of fixed and inelastic costs such as capital charges, wages, taxes, etc., which do not fluctuate as much or as rapidly as the prices of raw materials ; if, therefore, raw materials account for — for instance — one third of total costs of manufacturing industry and all other costs remain constant, then a 30 per cent fall in raw material prices could ultimately cause only a 10 per cent fall in the price of the final product.

The discrepancy between the fall in prices of raw materials and manufactured products has frequently been observed in periods of economic depression. Unfortunately, the direct statistical evidence bearing on this point is limited, but such evidence as exists is very striking. In the following statement, the margin between the official price indices of raw materials and manufactured goods in Sweden, Canada and the United States of America is shown for the years 1920 to 1925. In each case, the raw materials index is taken as equal to 100 and the percentage difference between it and the index for finished products is calculated. Figures preceded by a plus sign indicate that the price index of finished goods stood higher than that for goods in earlier stages of manufacture, and vice versa.

Raw Materials = 100.

			Sweden	Canada	U.S.A.
			(1913 =	= 100)	(1923 = 100)
1920			- 1	1	+ 6
1921			+ 27	+ 7	+ 22
1922	•	•	+ 33	+ 4	+ 7
1923			+ 22	+ 11	+ 7
1924			+ 17	+ 5	+ 6
1925			+ 8	+ 1	-+- 6

In these three countries, raw materials fell much more in price than manufactured goods in the depression of 1920 to 1921; finished products stood considerably higher than raw materials in the latter year. As economic conditions gradually improved, raw materials rose much more rapidly in price than finished goods and the margin between the groups narrowed perceptibly.

The evidence afforded by the indices of goods in different stages of manufacture must not be regarded as conclusive nor must these indices be regarded as an exact quantitative measure of the relative prices of manufactured products and raw materials considered as a whole.

As a result of technical progress and alterations in taste, industrial products undergo frequent changes; certain manufactured articles are in everyday popular use now that were scarcely obtainable or were unobtainable before the war, and marked changes have taken place in the relative importance of the consumption of goods which were in use in 1913. The growth of the motor-car and electrical and aluminium industries, for instance, has been such that a price index of manufactured goods based on 1913 weights implies a hypothesis which is not in conformity with facts.

Unfortunately, very few countries publish indices of wholesale prices in a form which allows a clear distinction to be made between goods in various stages of manufacture. Even when such a distinction is made, the partial indices of goods in the different stages of production are not made up of identical commodities. A comparison between their absolute heights is therefor of only limited value.

In Table XXXIV, indices for seven countries are given; the figures show prices for the month of December in the years 1927, 1928, 1929 and 1930. In view of the special interest attached to recent price movements, the percentage changes in the various indices between the end of 1928 and the end of 1930 are also shown. Two systems of classification or a combination of these two are adopted. According to one system, the commodities included in the national wholesale price index are divided into raw materials, semi-finished and finished goods; according to the other they are divided into consumers' and producers' goods. Consumers' goods may, in most cases, be taken as roughly equivalent to finished products, including foodstuffs, while producers' goods are closer to semi-manufactured products, although they include industrial machinery and tools.

Even at the end of 1928, the indices for finished products or consumers' goods stood substantially higher in most countries than those for materials in earlier stages of manufacture. The only apparent exceptions to this general rule are Canada and the United States of America, the indices of which are examined in greater detail below. It must, however, again be emphasised that a comparison between the absolute heights of group indices based on the year 1913 is of limited significance in a period of falling prices. The year 1913 was preceded by a period in which the general level of prices was gradually moving upward and a convincing comparison with this year can be made only when similar conditions again prevail.

The movement of the various indices since December 1928, however, affords clear evidence that the character of the relative movements in the prices of raw materials and finished goods during the present depression is essentially the same as that already noted in the depression of 1920-21. Between the end of 1928 and the end of 1930, the fall in the general level of wholesale prices, as shown in the above table, ranged from 13 per cent in Norway to 26 per cent in Italy. In all countries except Norway and Sweden, raw materials fell more in price than goods in later stages of manufacture; the difference is greatest in the case of Canada, where raw and partly manufactured goods fell by 28 per cent, whilst fully and chiefly manufactured goods fell by only 13 per cent.

The price movements in Norway and Sweden during the two years ending December 1930 are different from those which took place in other countries and contrary to those generally observed in a period of rapidly falling prices : in Norway, the index for raw materials (which, in fact, includes a high proportion of semimanufactured goods), and, in Sweden, the indices for both raw materials and

TABLE XXXIV.

COMPARATIVE PRICES: DECEMBER 1927 TO 1930.

1913=100.

Country	Date	Raw materials	Semi- finished products	Finished products	Pro- ducers' goods	Con- sumers' goods	General index
Canada	Dec. 1927	$15\\14\\15\\10$	$egin{array}{cccc} 8 & 14 \ 7 & 14 \ 5 & 14 \ 6 & 12 \ \end{array}$	18 15 14 26	$145 \\ 139 \\ 142 \\ 106$	$155 \\ 153 \\ 154 \\ 134$	$152 \\ 148 \\ 150 \\ 122$
	Dec. 1930 as percentage of Dec. 1928	7	2 8	87	76	88	83
Denmark	Dec. 1927	$133 \\ 131 \\ 127 \\ 102$				174 172 167 142	$154 \\ 151 \\ 146 \\ 120$
	Dec. 1930 as percentage of Dec. 1928	7	8			83	78
Germany	Dec. 1927	13 13 12 11	$ \begin{array}{c} 4^{1} \\ 4^{1} \\ 9^{1} \\ 0^{1} \end{array} $	$155 \\ 160 \\ 156 \\ 143$	$134 \\ 138 \\ 140 \\ 135$	172^{1} 176^{1} 169^{1} 149^{1}	140 140 134 118
	Dec. 1930 as percentage of Dec. 1928	8	2	90	9 8	85	84
Italy ² (Milan)	Dec. 1928 ³ Dec. 1929 Dec. 1930	$490 \\ 438 \\ 336$	$\begin{array}{r} 457\\ 441\\ 371 \end{array}$	$527 \\ 475 \\ 415$			$497 \\ 459 \\ 369$
	Dec. 1930 as percentage of Dec. 1928	69	81	79			74
Norway	Dec. 1927	$158 \\ 152 \\ 147 \\ 137$				$174 \\ 162 \\ 157 \\ 136$	166 157 152 136
	Dec. 1930 as percentage of Dec. 1928	90				84	87
Sweden	Dec. 1927	142 141 130 114	$150 \\ 145 \\ 138 \\ 122$	149 148 135 116	137 137 130 115	$156 \\ 153 \\ 138 \\ 119$	148 145 134 117
	Dec. 1930 as percentage of Dec. 1928	81	84	78	84	78	81
U. S. A. ⁴	Dec. 1927	101 99 97 75	82 82 80 63	96 97 94 83			96 96 94 78
	Dec. 1930 as percentage of Dec. 1928	76	77	86			81

¹ Excluding foodstuffs.
 ² Excluding foodstuffs of domestic origin.
 ³ Indices for December 1927 are not available.
 ⁴ Base 1923, converted from 1926.

semi-manufactured products fell less than those for finished articles. This is largely explained by the composition of the indices and, in particular, by the great importance of iron ore, timber, brick and cement in the raw materials and semimanufactured goods groups. Many Swedish exporters of iron ore have contracts at fixed prices with foreign (including Norwegian) customers for a period of two years or more; the price of this commodity remained steady until the last months of 1930, when it fell but slightly. The prices of such regional commodities as timber, bricks and cement which are also in large measure subject to monopolistic control in both countries dropped little, if at all, in the period considered. Another contributing factor in the case of Sweden is the maintenance of the price of domestic cereals during the second half of 1930 through legislation requiring millers to mix a fixed proportion of native grains with foreign grains. Between June and December 1930 cereals rose slightly in price in Sweden, while world market prices fell by 30 to 35 per cent.

The two series for Canada are of particular interest. Until the end of 1929, the price index for raw materials and partly manufactured goods in general stood relatively higher than that for fully and chiefly manufactured goods. During the price recession of 1930, raw materials fell considerably more in price than goods in later stages of production and at the end of that year the Canadian group indices stood in the same relative position as those of most other countries. The first group of indices shown for Canada in the above table has the disadvantage of not showing either raw materials or semi-manufactured goods alone ; special indices of five groups of commodities in their raw and manufactured state have, however, been compiled and are given below for the month of December in the years 1927-1930 :

	Articles of									
Date	Field origin		Animal origin		Marine origin		Forest origin		Mineral origin	
	Raw and partly manuf.	Fully and chiefly manuf.	Raw and partly manuf.	Fully and chiefly manuf.	Raw and partly manuf.	Fully and chiefly manuf.	Raw and partly manuf.	Fully and chiefly manuf.	Raw and partly manuf.	Fully and chiefly manuf.
December 1927 . <td< td=""><td>$163 \\ 138 \\ 154 \\ 76 \\ 55$</td><td>161 151 155 124 82</td><td>161 160 164 128 80</td><td>142 146 142 124 85</td><td>119 144 127 107 74</td><td>163 173 179 146 85</td><td>145 150 148 126 <i>84</i></td><td>184 178 162 159 <i>89</i></td><td>146 144 145 128 89</td><td>131 130 130 124 <i>95</i></td></td<>	$163 \\ 138 \\ 154 \\ 76 \\ 55$	161 151 155 124 82	161 160 164 128 80	142 146 142 124 85	119 144 127 107 74	163 173 179 146 85	145 150 148 126 <i>84</i>	184 178 162 159 <i>89</i>	146 144 145 128 89	131 130 130 124 <i>95</i>

1913 = 100

It will be observed that, even at the end of 1928, the indices for manufactured goods of field, marine and forest origin stood relatively higher than those for the raw materials constituting these groups. This does not appear to be true of the animal and mineral groups. The composition of the two divisions — raw materials and semi-manufactured products — into which the group indices are separated is not, however, identical; the indices do not therefore indicate exactly the difference in average prices for similar commodities according to their stage of manufacture. A table included in previous issues of this *Memorandum*,¹ setting out the prices of certain individual commodities classified according to their stage of manufacture, showed results for the years 1927 and 1928 in direct contradiction with those for the animal and mineral groups contained in the above table.

The movement of the various group indices since the end of 1928 is of the same character as that already observed in other countries. In all cases, raw materials or raw materials which have undergone some slight processing fell considerably more in price than fully and chiefly manufactured goods of similar origin; the margin is greatest in the case of articles of field origin.

The fact that the general index for raw materials of mineral origin did not drop by more than 11 per cent, in spite of price declines exceeding 40 per cent in the case of silver and 30 per cent in the case of copper, is to be ascribed to the relatively steady prices of non-metallic minerals and chemicals, which fell by less than 5 per cent; in particular, coal and bricks fell very slightly and several commodities, such as coke, cement, building-stone and salt actually rose in price.

The partial indices of the second series (those relating to producers' and consumers' goods) shown for Canada in the above table, cover groups which are more clearly divided according to stages in manufacture.

	Produce	ers' goods	Consumers' goods			
Date	Manufacturers' materials	Producers' equipment (tools, heat and power, equipment, etc.)	Foods, beverages and tobacco	Other (clothing household goods, etc.)		
December 1927	141 133 137 94 70	$180 \\ 171 \\ 175 \\ 166 \\ 97$	$162 \\ 158 \\ 167 \\ 131 \\ 83$	$150 \\ 149 \\ 145 \\ 136 \\ 91$		

19	13	=1	00.	
----	----	----	-----	--

"Manufacturers' materials", which include such commodities as raw textiles, rubber, live-stock, copper, etc., may be taken as roughly equivalent to industrial raw materials and "producers' equipment" and "consumers' goods other than foodstuffs" as roughly equivalent to finished goods. In each year considered, the price relationship shown in these series was the same as that seen in the indices

¹ See Memorandum on Production and Trade 1923 to 1928/29, Table XXIX.

for most other countries — namely, raw materials stood relatively lower in price than manufactured goods. The movement since the end of 1928 is also similar to that generally observed : whilst the group taken to represent industrial raw materials fell by 30 per cent, consumers' goods other than foodstuffs dropped by less than 10 per cent and producers' equipment by about 3 per cent.

The figures given in Table XXXIV above for the United States of America are not directly comparable with other countries, as they are based on the year 1923. They may be supplemented by the revised index of the Department of Labour, which shows:

	Dec. 1927	Dec. 1928	Dec. 1929	Dec. 1930	Dec. 1930 as percentage of Dec. 1928
1. Farm products	$146 \\ 157 \\ 172 \\ 170 \\ 135 \\ 108 \\ 160 \\ 121 \\ 175 \\ 96$	$145 \\ 153 \\ 170 \\ 168 \\ 136 \\ 113 \\ 171 \\ 120 \\ 171 \\ 86$	$143 \\ 154 \\ 158 \\ 158 \\ 133 \\ 112 \\ 170 \\ 117 \\ 173 \\ 86$	$105 \\ 127 \\ 134 \\ 126 \\ 115 \\ 99 \\ 149 \\ 106 \\ 162 \\ 75$	72 83 79 74 85 88 87 88 95 87

19)]	3	 1	0	0.	

The sixth group includes motor-cars, agricultural implements, etc., in addition to crude metal products ; the tenth, pulp and paper, rubber, automobile tyres, etc. If attention be first directed to the first three columns in the above table, it will be seen that until the end of 1929, the low indices for these groups stood in striking contrast at once to those for agricultural products and for such standard pre-war products as those represented in the textile group. The current price recession has been most severe, however, for articles included in the last-mentioned groups. The index for farm products is composed entirely of goods which have undergone no process of manufacture; the decline in this group, though large (28 per cent), may be contrasted with the 45 per cent fall in the price of raw farm products of field origin already observed in Canada. The difference is not entirely explained by the inclusion of live-stock in the American index ; in the period under review, Canadian grains fell in price by more than one-half, while American grains lost only about one-third of their value. The margin is largely to be attributed to the Federal Farm Board maintaining the domestic price of American cereals above the world level.¹

Turning again to Table XXXIV above, it will be observed that the German indices for producers' and consumers' goods do not show a movement during the present price decline such as might be expected if the former were composed largely of raw



¹ This policy was discontinued on July 1st, 1931.

materials and the latter of finished products : between the end of 1928 and the end of 1930, producers' goods (which rose slightly in 1929) fell by only 2 per cent, while consumers' goods dropped by 15 per cent. Both these indices, however, in fact represent finished products; the raw materials for the two groups have been subject to quite different price movements since the beginning of 1928, as will be seen in the following statement:¹

	Producer	rs' goods	Consumers' goods			
Date -	Raw	Finished	Raw	Finished		
	materials	products	materials	products		
January 1928 1928 December 1928 December 1929 December 1930 December 1930 December 1930	140	134	163	173		
	138	138	156	176		
	137	140	132	169		
	128	135	96	149		
	<i>93</i>	<i>98</i>	<i>62</i>	85		

The raw materials for producers' goods fell by only 7 per cent in the years 1929 and 1930, while the raw materials for consumers' goods dropped by 38 per cent during the same period. The former group is composed almost entirely of iron products and other commodities whose prices are subject to the control of cartels, trusts, etc., while the latter is heavily weighted with textiles, wood and leather, whose prices are "uncontrolled" — *i.e.*, determined by market conditions. The success of the producers' associations in maintaining steady prices during the past few years is even more strikingly illustrated in the following table, which sets out separately the price changes of those industrial raw materials and semi-manufactured goods which are controlled by cartels, and those which are not so controlled :

1926=	= 100.				
Date	Industrial raw materials and semi- manufactured goods.				
	(1) Cartellised	(2) Non-cartellised			
January 1928	100	110			
December 1928	104	103			
December 1929	105	92			
July 1930	103	79			
January 1931	95				
July 1930 as percentage of Dec. 1928	99	77			
January 1931 as percentage of Dec. 1928	91				

¹ The raw material indices and those for cartellised and non-cartellised products which follow are published by the Institut für Konjunkturforschung, Berlin.

1913 = 100.

Cartellised products did not rise in price along with non-cartellised products during the upward movement of 1927; at the beginning of 1928, the latter stood considerably higher in price than the former. During the course of the year, the non-cartellised group fell by 6-7 per cent, whilst the cartellised group rose by 4 per cent: the price relationship between the two groups at the end of 1928 was about the same as that prevailing in the base year 1926. In 1929, non-cartellised goods fell another 10 per cent in price and cartellised products rose very slightly. They began to drop slowly in the first months of 1930; in July of that year they stood a little lower in price than at the end of 1928. The "free " prices continued to fall rapidly and in July 1930 stood 23 per cent below their December 1928 level. In the second half of 1930, cartellised products fell more rapidly, chiefly owing to reductions in the price of coal and iron goods; at the beginning of 1931 their prices in general were 9 per cent lower than at the end of 1928. Unfortunately, the index for the second group is not available for January 1931.

In studying the index for cartellised products, it is necessary to bear in mind that for almost all commodities the prices taken are list prices : the index therefore fails to take into account price reductions granted through cash discounts, rebates from list prices, etc.

Additional light will be thrown on the relative movements of prices in recent years by an examination of special price indices, showing various groups of goods in different stages of manufacture, which have been prepared for the League of Nations by certain national statistical offices.¹

GERMANY.

In the following statement are set out the German indices for raw materials and semi-manufactured goods of (1) mineral and (2) vegetable and animal origin.

	Article	s of mineral o	rigin	Articles of vegetable and animal origin				
Year	(1) Raw materials	(2) Semi- manufactured goods	(3) (2) as percentage of (1)	(4) Industrial raw materials	(5) Semi- manufactured goods	(6) (5) as percentage of (4)		
Average 1924 . . . Average 1925 . . . Average 1926 . . . Average 1927 . . . Average 1928 . . . Average 1928 . . . Average 1929 . . . Average 1930 . . . Jan. 1931 . . .	$128 \\ 119 \\ 116 \\ 115 \\ 116 \\ 122 \\ 114 \\ 105$	$135 \\ 138 \\ 134 \\ 136 \\ 138 \\ 142 \\ 140 \\ 130$	$105 \\ 116 \\ 116 \\ 118 \\ 119 \\ 116 \\ 123 \\ 124$	$154 \\ 153 \\ 119 \\ 133 \\ 139 \\ 123 \\ 95 \\ 74$	$163 \\ 162 \\ 137 \\ 146 \\ 151 \\ 138 \\ 122 \\ 103$	106 106 115 110 109 112 130 139		
Jan. 1931 as percentage of 1928	91	94		53	81			

1913 = 100.

¹ The Secretariat is indebted to the German Statistisches Reichsamt, the British Board of Trade and the Statistique générale de la France for the preparation of these indices. They will subsequently be treated by the League of Nations in greater detail, along with those compiled by Italy and certain other countries.

The groups for raw materials and semi-manufactured goods are not absolutely identical in composition for either of the two main divisions of articles shown above; the indices must, accordingly, not be taken to represent the price movements of identical goods in different stages of manufacture. The most important items are, however, common to both groups and the indices may therefore be regarded as fairly representative.

In each of the years considered, the indices for semi-manufactured goods of mineral origin stood higher than those for raw materials of similar origin. During the period of deflation, raw materials fell considerably in price, while semi-manufactured goods were fairly steady ; it will be seen from column (3) that the margin between the two groups widened from 5 per cent in 1924 to 16 per cent in 1925 and 1926. This margin tended to increase somewhat in subsequent years, but fell slightly in 1929 as a result of a greater rise in the price of raw materials, in particular coal and copper, than in that of semi-manufactured goods. During the present depression, the prices of the two groups of commodities have followed the normal course : raw materials have fallen more than semi-manufactured goods and the margin between the groups has widened considerably.

Both groups of mineral products were subject to much smaller fluctuations in price throughout the whole period considered than were articles of animal and vegetable origin and their fall in price during the current depression has been considerably less than the fall in the latter group. One reason for this has already been indicated : it is particularly among articles of mineral origin (*e.g.*, pig-iron, rolling-mill products, cement, etc.) that cartels have been most successful in maintaining prices.

The series for industrial materials of animal and vegetable origin (chiefly textiles, hides, etc.) also indicate that, in each year considered, semi-manufactured goods stood higher in price than raw materials; it will be observed from column (6) that, with falling prices in 1926, the margin between the two indices increased while the opposite was true when prices rose in 1927 and 1928. Both groups have fallen rapidly since 1929, semi-manufactured goods considerably less than raw materials. In January 1931, the latter stood 47 per cent and the former 19 per cent below the 1928 average. The discrepancy between the two indices widened greatly : as may be seen in column (6), it was almost 40 per cent in January 1931.

It should be pointed out that the price development in raw materials of vegetable and animal origin for foodstuffs has been of quite a different order from that in industrial raw materials of similar origin. Price indices for the former group since 1924 are shown below:

							1919		100.					
]	1924	•		•	•	118			1928				129	
]	1925	٠				132			1929				130	
]	1926		1			129			1930	٠			114	
]	1927	•	•	•	•	133		Jan	. 1931		•		108	
	Jai	n.	19	31	as	perc	eentag	e of	1928		٠	•	85	

1010
If these indices are compared with those shown in column (4) of the earlier table, it will be observed that, while industrial raw materials fell by over 10 per cent in 1929, foodstuffs were steady in price, and that the entire price-fall since 1928 was only 15 per cent for the latter, as compared with 47 per cent for the former. In part, this discrepancy may be explained by the very large drop (about 50 per cent) in cotton prices : this material weighs very heavily in the industrial raw materials index. Wheat, which weighs somewhat less heavily in the foodstuffs index, fell about as much in price on world markets in this period as cotton, but as a result of governmental action in raising Customs duties on wheat, and milling regulations requiring the admixture of a certain proportion of domestic wheat with foreign wheat, the domestic price of this commodity diverged widely from its world price. Between 1929 and January 1931, the price of wheat, which dropped by over 50 per cent in Canada and proportionately in the other chief producing countries rose by almost 15 per cent in Germany.

Some further measure of the effectiveness of cartel (and, to some extent, governmental) attempts to control price movements may be obtained through a consideration of the following official indices, which divide the goods entering the index for industrial raw materials and semi-manufactured goods into two groups, according to whether their prices are mainly determined within or outside the country.

1913 = 100.

Date	Price indices of industrial ray materials and semi-manufactured goods				
	Mainly determined within Germany	Mainly determined on international markets			
January 1928 . <th.< td=""><td>$132 \\ 135 \\ 136 \\ 124$</td><td>$138 \\ 132 \\ 117 \\ 86$</td></th.<>	$132 \\ 135 \\ 136 \\ 124$	$138 \\ 132 \\ 117 \\ 86$			
December 1930 as percentage of Dec. 1928	92	65			

It should be borne in mind in studying the above statement that quite different goods enter the two groups; no conclusion can therefore be drawn from these indices with regard to the general level of domestic and international prices. The index for international goods is largely composed of cotton, rubber, non-ferrous metals and other raw materials whose prices have fallen most during the depression. Most of the commodities in the domestic group are cartellised products — e.g., coal and pig-iron, rolling-mill products, artificial fertilisers, etc. The prices of

these products, as pointed out above, have been relatively well maintained during the depression, and the 8 per cent drop in the prices of domestic raw materials, etc., between the end of 1928 and the end of 1930 may be compared with the 9 per cent fall in the price of cartellised products shown above.

FRANCE.

Group price indices similar to those furnished by the Statistisches Reichsamt for Germany have been made available by the Statistique générale de la France for the years 1928-1930:

\$7	Articles of mineral origin			Arti and anima	cles of veg l origin for use	etable industrial	Articles of vegetable and animal origin for foodstuffs			
Year	(1) Raw materials	(2) Semi- manu- factured products	(3) (2) as percent. of (1)	(4) Raw materials	(5) Semi- manu- factured products	(6) (5) as percent. of (4)	(7) Crude foodstuffs	(8) Finish- ed food- stuffs	(9) (8) as percent. of (7)	
1928 1929 1930 Dec. 1930 Dec. 1930 as percent, of 1928	540 609 572 541 <i>100</i>	505 542 544 470 <i>93</i>	94 89 95 87	777 692 545 504 65	822 739 602 542 <i>66</i>	106 107 110 108	583 558 478 590 <i>101</i>	603 536 515 579 <i>96</i>	103 98 108 97	

1913=100.

The indices for raw materials and semi-manufactured goods in the mineral group are not comparable, and the fact that they show a relationship different from that observed in most other countries is therefore of little significance. Coal accounts for more than half of the weighting of the former index; the weight of iron ore in the same index is about 10 per cent and that of semi-finished products of iron in the second index almost 75 per cent. The indices for these iron products, in particular merchant bars and sheets, stood relatively very low in each year included in the table and they dropped most during the depression.

The groups for articles of animal and vegetable origin for industrial use (columns (4) and (5) above) contain articles which are more closely comparable; the relationship observed in these groups is much the same as that witnessed elsewhere. It will be noticed, however, that semi-manufactured products fell more than raw materials in the course of 1930: the margin between the groups was narrower at the end than in the early months of the year.

In 1929 and the early part of 1930, declines were registered in both indices for articles of vegetable and animal origin for foodstuffs (columns (7) and (8)). In 1929, the fall in the price of crude foodstuffs (about 4 per cent) appears to have been much less serious than the drop in finished foodstuffs (about 11 per cent); this may largely be explained by a 25 per cent fall in the price of wine, which accounts for about one quarter of the finished foodstuffs group and for which no corresponding raw material is included in column (7). In the latter part of 1930, the prices of raw materials for foodstuffs rose very rapidly and, at the end of the year, they surpassed the 1928 level; finished foodstuffs also rose, though somewhat less rapidly. The recent price movements of raw materials of animal and vegetable origin for foodstuffs may be contrasted with those of articles of similar origin for industrial use. On world markets, the fall in the price of cereals, the chief component of the first group, between 1928 and the end of 1930 was as great as that in textiles, the most important element in the second. The explanation of the contrast is in part the same as that already suggested above for a similar movement in Germany: the Government has succeeded through increased tariffs and regulations requiring the milling of a fixed proportion of native wheat, in maintaining the domestic price for wheat and other crude food products above the world level.

The following official indices, which show separately the imported and domestic commodities entering the general wholesale price index of France, give some indication of the way in which the prices of national goods were maintained in 1930 in the face of the sharp drop on world markets.

July 1914 = 100.

Month				Imported articles				mp	orted articles	Domestic products
January, 1930.	•	•	٠	•	•	•	•	•	$\begin{array}{c} 602 \\ 377 \end{array}$	635 565
December as nerge	ent		e 0	·	· Taa	· nu	ari	•	63	89

Here, as in the case of the similar table given above, for Germany, it must be remembered that the two columns are not comparable; imported articles consist chiefly of the great staple raw materials whose prices always fall most in a period of economic depression, while domestic products include a certain number of semi-manufactured articles whose prices always fall less and later. The discrepancy in the movement of the indices is, however, striking : between January and December 1930, international goods fell in price by 37 per cent while national products fell about 11 per cent.

UNITED KINGDOM.

A number of price indices relating to various groups of crude and manufactured foodstuffs has been made available by the British Board of Trade in connection with the enquiry into relative price levels mentioned above. Some of these indices for the years 1924 to 1930 are reproduced on the following page.

	1	0	8	
--	---	---	---	--

Year	(1) Raw materials for foodstuffs	(2) Finished foodstuffs	(3) Column (2) as percentage of column (1)	(4) Crude foodstuffs consumed in that state	(5) Raw materials of animal origin for foodstuffs
1924	150 162 157 149 139 140 108 89 $89 $	$ \begin{array}{r} 171 \\ 169 \\ 152 \\ 146 \\ 143 \\ 120 \\ 99 \\ 99 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 114 \\ 105 \\ 103 \\ 103 \\ 105 \\ 102 \\ 111 \\ 111 \end{array} $	$176 \\ 168 \\ 159 \\ 152 \\ 152 \\ 151 \\ 143 \\ 143$	$171 \\ 170 \\ 162 \\ 150 \\ 152 \\ 158 \\ 151 \\ 149$
tage of 1928	64	68		94	98

1913=100.

Columns (1) and (2) in the above statement are not fully comparable: in particular, the second group includes bacon and sugar, for which no corresponding raw products are included in the first group. The most important items are, however, common to both groups. It will be observed that the margin between the price indices of crude and finished foodstuffs was greatest in 1924; when raw material prices rose in the following year it narrowed markedly and remained relatively slight until the present depression. In 1930, raw materials fell more in price than finished foodstuffs and the margin between the two groups widened considerably.

Column (1) consists almost entirely of articles of vegetable origin.¹ The differences between the movement of this index in recent years and that for raw materials of animal origin for foodstuffs are particularly striking.

The general conclusions to be drawn from this study of the composite indices of goods in different stages of manufacture are clear: even at the end of 1927 and 1928, before the beginning of the present depression, manufactured goods as a whole appear to have stood relatively higher in price in comparison with 1913 than raw materials in many parts of the world; during the depression, raw materials, as is always the case, have fallen much more in price than manufactured products, with the result that the margin which already existed between the two groups has been considerably widened. These conclusions are strongly confirmed by the price indices of certain raw materials and articles manufactured therefrom (Table XXXV) quoted in three national markets. The indices are based on actual quotations for medium or representative qualities.

¹ Fresh meat, fish, eggs, etc., are classified as crude foodstuffs (column (4)) and are not included under either raw materials for foodstuffs or finished foodstuffs. The differences observed in the movements of the crude foodstuffs index and that for raw materials of animal origin (column (5)) are due to the fact that the former includes potatoes, coffee and tea in addition to the commodities included in the latter.

TABLE XXXV.

Relative Changes in the Prices of Individual Commodities or Groups of Commodities according to Stage of Manufacture.

1913 = 100.

A. UNITED STATES OF AMERICA.

Commodities		(1 Priee i) ndiees		(2) December 1930 as percentage	(3) Processed goods expressed as percentage of corresponding raw material				
	Dee. Dee. Dee. Dee. 1927 1928 1929 1930		of December 1928	Dee. 1927	Dee. 1928	Dee. 1929	Dee. 1930			
Oats	$\begin{array}{c} 147 \\ 150 \end{array}$	129 123	$\frac{125}{124}$	90 95	70 77	$\begin{array}{c} 100 \\ 102 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 100 \\ 95 \end{array}$	100 99	100 105	
Rye	$\frac{171}{182}$	$\frac{166}{208}$	$\begin{array}{r}162\\199\end{array}$	77 108	$46 \\ 52$	$\frac{100}{107}$	$\begin{array}{c} 100 \\ 125 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 100 \\ 123 \end{array}$	$\frac{100}{141}$	
Wheat	$ \begin{array}{r} 155 \\ 171 \\ 197 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 130 \\ 143 \\ 200 \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{r}142\\155\\200\end{array}$	81 105 200	62 73 100	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 110 \\ 127 \end{array} $	$100 \\ 110 \\ 154$	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 109 \\ 141 \end{array} $	$100 \\ 129 \\ 246$	
Cattle	182 172	$\frac{167}{189}$	$\begin{array}{c} 143 \\ 185 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 124 \\ 151 \end{array}$	75 80	$\begin{array}{c} 100\\ 94 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 100\\114 \end{array}$	$\frac{100}{130}$	$\frac{100}{121}$	
Hogs	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 127 \\ 129 \end{array} $	$104 \\ 128 \\ 147$	$ \begin{array}{r} 112 \\ 143 \\ 129 \end{array} $	96 127 128	93 99 87	$100 \\ 127 \\ 129$	$100 \\ 123 \\ 142$	$100 \\ 128 \\ 115$	$100 \\ 131 \\ 133$	
Cotton	152 155 186 199 187	$155 \\ 150 \\ 186 \\ 199 \\ 175$	$ \begin{array}{r} 136 \\ 147 \\ 186 \\ 199 \\ 175 \end{array} $	77 116 178 191 161	$ \begin{array}{r} 49 \\ 77 \\ 96 \\ 96 \\ 92 \\ \end{array} $	$100 \\ 102 \\ 122 \\ 131 \\ 123$	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 97 \\ 120 \\ 128 \\ 113 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 108 \\ 137 \\ 146 \\ 129 \end{array} $	$ 100 \\ 151 \\ 231 \\ 248 \\ 209 $	
Wool	171 180 228 281	$ \begin{array}{r} 166 \\ 203 \\ 218 \\ 280 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 122 \\ 180 \\ 221 \\ 280 \end{array} $	$105 \\ 151 \\ 176 \\ 240$	63 75 81 86	$100 \\ 105 \\ 133 \\ 164$	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 122 \\ 131 \\ 169 \end{array} $	$100 \\ 148 \\ 181 \\ 230$	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 144 \\ 168 \\ 229 \end{array} $	
Silk, raw	$ \begin{array}{r} 123 \\ 133 \\ 126 \end{array} $	$123 \\ 133 \\ 124$	$ \begin{array}{r} 116 \\ 129 \\ 113 \end{array} $	66 99 85	$\begin{array}{c} 54\\74\\69\end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 108 \\ 102 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 108 \\ 101 \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{c}100\\111\\97\end{array}$	$100 \\ 150 \\ 129$	
Calf skins	$ 133 \\ 198 \\ 209 $	$ \begin{array}{r} 133 \\ 185 \\ 217 \end{array} $	$92 \\ 240 \\ 217$	76 222 217	58 120 109	$100 \\ 149 \\ 157$	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 139 \\ 163 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 261 \\ 236 \end{array} $	100 292 286	
Goat skins	$ \begin{array}{r} 106 \\ 167 \\ 218 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 107 \\ 167 \\ 218 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 108 \\ 167 \\ 218 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 105 \\ 167 \\ 209 \end{array} $	98 100 96	$100 \\ 158 \\ 206$	$100 \\ 156 \\ 204$	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 155 \\ 202 \end{array} $	100 159 199	
Milk Butter Cheese	151 161 188	$ \begin{array}{r} 146 \\ 161 \\ 167 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 160 \\ 126 \\ 150 \end{array} $	148 98 118	101 61 70	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 107 \\ 125 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 110 \\ 115 \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{r}100\\79\\94\end{array}$	100 66 80	
Petroleum, erude	113	$\begin{array}{c}152\\176\end{array}$	122 182	75 108	50 61	$\begin{array}{c} 100\\ 141 \end{array}$	100 116	$\begin{array}{c} 100 \\ 149 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c}100\\144\end{array}$	

TABLE XXXV (contd.).

	1									
		(1)		(2)		(3)		
					December	Processed goods				
		Price	indices		1930	corresponding raw				
Commodities					as percentage	01	mat	erial	1 61 W	
		1	1	1	of December		1	1	1	
	Dec.	Dec.	Dec.	Dec.	1928	Dec.	Dec.	Dec	Dec	
	1927	1928	1929	1930		1927	1928	1929	1930	
Y										
Iron ore	114	114	121	121	106	100	100	100	100	
Par iron	113		121		96	99	103	100	93	
Iron naile	107	167	167	167	100	146	146	138	138	
Steel hillets	130	143	144		82	119	125	119	97	
Steel plates	148	128	134	119	93	112	112	111	98	
Stoves	153	146	147	108	84	107		106	89	
	100	140	147	198	94	134	128	121	114	
Copper	88	100	113	66	66	100	100	100	100	
Copper wire	95	107	119	71	66	108	107	105	108	
Copper sheet	101	113	126	95	83	115	113	112	144	
Lead	148	148	142	116	78	100	100	100	100	
Lead pipe	154	154	149	130	84	104	104	$100 \\ 105$	112	
Zine slab	104	115	109			100				
Zinc sheet	125	191	105	110	00	100	100	100	100	
		121				120	105	127	155	
Wood pulp, chemical	113	112	117	111	99	100	100	100	100	
Newsprint	157	157	157	157	100	139	140	134	141	
Boards	185	156	149	107	69	164	139	127	96	
Glass, window	116	154	154	154	100	100	100	100	100	
Glass, plate	121	121	121	115	95	104	79	79	75	
Glass tumblers	150	150	150	125	83	129	97	97	81	
		and the second s		the second se						

A. UNITED STATES OF AMERICA (contd.).

B. GERMANY

			(1)		(2)		(.	3)		
]]	Processed goods			
		Price	indices	1	December 1930	expressed as percentage				
Commodities			manood		as percentage	01	mat	erial	raw	
	Dec.	Dec.	Dec.	Dec.	of December	Dec.	Dec.	Dec.	Dec	
	1927	1928	1929	1930	1020	1927	1928	1929	1930	
Rye	149	128	108	98	77	100	100	100	100	
Rye flour	156	130	122	115	88	105	102	113	117	
Wheat	123	108	126	122	120	100	100	100	100	
Wheat flour	121	102	119	130	120	98	94	94	94	
Cattle	119	113	113	110	97	100	100	100	100	
Beef	115	110	119	116	105	97	97	105	105	

TABLE XXXV (contd.).

B. GERMANY (contd.).

		(1)		(2)	(3) Processed goods				
		Drice	ndiana		December	expres	ssed as	percen	tage	
Commodities		I fice i	indices		as percentage	material				
	Dec. 1927	Dec. 1928	Dec. 1929	Dec. 1930	of December 1928	Dec. 1927	Dec. 1928	Dec. 1929	Dec. 1930	
Pigs	100 110	$\begin{array}{c} 129 \\ 139 \end{array}$	$\frac{138}{145}$	$\frac{102}{114}$	79 82	$\begin{array}{c} 100\\ 110 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 100 \\ 108 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 100 \\ 105 \end{array}$	$\frac{100}{112}$	
Milk .	$ \begin{array}{r} 131 \\ 152 \\ 166 \end{array} $	$ 131 \\ 172 \\ 137 $	$117 \\ 144 \\ 136$	$115 \\ 117 \\ 114$	88 68 83	$100 \\ 116 \\ 127$	$100 \\ 131 \\ 105$	$100 \\ 123 \\ 116$	$100 \\ 102 \\ 99$	
Coal	121 151	$\begin{array}{c} 137\\151 \end{array}$	137 151	$\frac{125}{137}$	91 91	$\frac{100}{125}$	$\frac{100}{110}$	$\begin{array}{c} 100\\110\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 100\\ 110 \end{array}$	
Iron ore	$ \begin{array}{r} 115^{1} \\ 105 \\ 124 \\ 130 \\ 138 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 113 \\ 110 \\ 130 \\ 134 \\ 142 \end{array} $	114 ² 114 130 132 146	$ \begin{array}{r} 111 & 2 \\ 111 \\ 126 \\ 127 \\ 143 \end{array} $	98 101 97 95 101	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 91 \\ 108 \\ 113 \\ 120 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 97 \\ 115 \\ 119 \\ 126 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 100 \\ 114 \\ 116 \\ 128 \end{array} $	$100 \\ 100 \\ 114 \\ 114 \\ 129$	
Copper	$\begin{array}{c} 92\\106\end{array}$	104 119	$\begin{array}{c} 116\\ 131 \end{array}$	72 83	69 70	$\begin{array}{c} 100\\115\end{array}$	$\frac{100}{114}$	$\begin{array}{c} 100\\113\end{array}$	$\frac{100}{115}$	
Zinc	$\frac{115}{122}$	$\frac{116}{123}$	89 101	59 76	$51\\62$	$\begin{array}{c} 100 \\ 106 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 100 \\ 106 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 100 \\ 113 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 100 \\ 129 \end{array}$	
Aluminium	$\begin{array}{c} 124 \\ 123 \end{array}$	112 116	112 118	$\begin{array}{c} 100 \\ 109 \end{array}$	89 94	100 99	$\frac{100}{104}$	$\begin{array}{c} 100 \\ 105 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 100 \\ 109 \end{array}$	
Wool, raw	$\begin{array}{r} 204 \\ 164 \end{array}$	181 153	138 117	98 81	54 53	$\begin{array}{c}100\\80\end{array}$	$\frac{100}{85}$	$\frac{100}{85}$	$\frac{100}{83}$	
Flax	211 194	$\begin{array}{r} 220\\176 \end{array}$	$\frac{149}{166}$	79 127	36 72	$\begin{array}{c}100\\92\end{array}$	100 80	$\begin{array}{c} 100\\111\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 100\\ 161 \end{array}$	
Hemp	$\frac{152}{164}$	$\begin{array}{c}152\\151\end{array}$	$\frac{135}{143}$	89 122	59 81	$\begin{array}{c}100\\108\end{array}$	100 99	$\begin{array}{c}100\\106\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 100\\ 137\end{array}$	
Jute	$ \begin{array}{r} 111\\ 123\\ 120\\ 124 \end{array} $	114 127 118 122	$98 \\ 119 \\ 104 \\ 108$	56 80 75 82	$49 \\ 63 \\ 64 \\ 67$	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 111 \\ 108 \\ 112 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 111 \\ 104 \\ 107 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 121 \\ 106 \\ 110 \end{array} $	$100 \\ 143 \\ 134 \\ 146$	
Hides. . . Calf skins . . Calf leather . . Sole leather . . Shoes 4 . .	145 141 179 145 151	$ \begin{array}{r} 125 \\ 126 \\ 165 \\ 138 \\ 152 \end{array} $	82 94 135 115 137	72 78 122 108 128	58 62 74 78 84	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 97 \\ 123 \\ 100 \\ 104 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 101 \\ 132 \\ 110 \\ 122 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 115 \\ 165 \\ 140 \\ 167 \end{array} $	100 108 169 150 178	
Timber	$\begin{array}{c}160\\148\\158\end{array}$	$154 \\ 148 \\ 165$	$ 152 \\ 148 \\ 152 $	$124 \\ 143 \\ 140$	81 97 85	100 93 99	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 96 \\ 107 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 97 \\ 100 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 115 \\ 113 \end{array} $	
Cotton	154 167 181	$154\\162\\165$	136 151 161	80 99 112	52 61 68	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 108 \\ 118 \end{array} $	100 105 107	$ \begin{array}{c} 100 \\ 111 \\ 118 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 124 \\ 140 \end{array} $	

¹ Average May-October. ² Average for year.

³ Kleineisenwaren. ⁴ Composite index.

Commodities		(Price	1) indices		(2) December 1930	(3) Processed goods expressed as percentage of corresponding raw material				
	Dec. 1927	Dec. 1928	Dec. 1929	Dec. 1930	of December 1928	Dec. 1927	Dec. 1928	Dec. 1929	Dec. 1930	
Cereals	$\begin{array}{c} 149 \\ 163 \end{array}$	$\frac{134}{147}$	$\begin{array}{c}113\\143\end{array}$	$\frac{117}{132}$	87 90	100 109	100 110	$100\\127$	$100\\113$	
Cattle	$\begin{array}{c} 107 \\ 122 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 120 \\ 138 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 129 \\ 142 \end{array}$	$\frac{98}{114}$	82 83	100 114	$\begin{array}{c} 100 \\ 115 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c}100\\110\end{array}$	$\frac{100}{116}$	
Iron ore	110 114 120	$ \begin{array}{r} 113 \\ 119 \\ 117 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 115 \\ 126 \\ 118 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 107 \\ 116 \\ 111 \end{array} $	95 97 95	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 104 \\ 109 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 105 \\ 104 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 110 \\ 103 \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{r}100\\108\\104\end{array}$	
Tallow	$115 \\ 147$	$\begin{array}{c} 136\\ 144 \end{array}$	$117\\147$	$\frac{85}{128}$	63 89	$\frac{100}{128}$	$\frac{100}{106}$	$\frac{100}{126}$	$\frac{100}{151}$	
Raw textiles	$ \begin{array}{r} 134 \\ 162 \\ 187 \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{r}141\\161\\188\end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{r} 128 \\ 151 \\ 163 \end{array} $	81 124 131	57 77 70	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 121 \\ 140 \end{array} $	$100 \\ 114 \\ 133$	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 118 \\ 127 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 153 \\ 162 \end{array} $	
Hides and skins	$ \begin{array}{r} 130 \\ 138 \\ 158 \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{c}115\\135\\162\end{array}$	88 115 151	$67 \\ 101 \\ 137$	58 75 85	$100 \\ 106 \\ 122$	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 117 \\ 141 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 131 \\ 172 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 151 \\ 204 \end{array} $	
Pulp	$ \begin{array}{r} 121 \\ 160 \\ 171 \end{array} $	$132 \\ 160 \\ 175$	$142 \\ 160 \\ 173$	$ \begin{array}{r} 116 \\ 160 \\ 158 \end{array} $	88 100 90	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 132 \\ 141 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 121 \\ 133 \end{array} $	$100 \\ 113 \\ 122$	$100 \\ 138 \\ 136$	

C. SWEDEN.

In cases where raw material prices fell in 1928, the prices of manufactured products fell less, if at all, thus widening the margin which already existed in most cases. Conversely, where raw material prices rose — as in the case of wheat and copper in the United States of America, pigs and jute in Germany, and tallow and textiles in Sweden — the prices of the more finished articles rose less, thus decreasing the margin. The same movement took place in 1929; in this year, price declines were more frequent. In 1930, practically all raw materials fell sharply in price, while manufactured products dropped substantially less; accordingly, the margin between the groups, as shown in column (3) was, for most products, greatly increased by the end of that year. Column (2) shows the percentage decline in price between the end of 1928 and the end of 1930 of the various products included in the table. It will be noted that, in general, the higher a commodity stands in stage of manufacture, the less has it fallen in price. In the few cases where raw material prices rose between the end of 1928 and the end of 1930 — e.g., milk and iron-ore¹ in the United States of America — manufactured goods were stable in price or fell, so that in these cases the margin according to stage of manufacture was lessened or reversed. The special cases of German and Swedish wheat had already been referred to above.

Further light may be thrown upon the problem under investigation by comparison of retail and wholesale price indices; the former normally relate to finished products and the latter to crude foodstuffs, raw materials and semimanufactured goods. Such comparison, however, must be made with care. In the first place, the objects for which the two sets of indices are compiled are different. Official cost-of-living indices are taken as representative of retail prices; these indices generally include rent and only such goods as are likely to be consumed by a typical working-class family. Comparison is made, therefore, between a selection of raw materials, foodstuffs, etc., which is intended to be characteristic of the general economy of the country and a special group of immediately consumable commodities (or services) of major concern to one section of the population. The absolute height of the retail indices would probably be decreased if they included all classes of manufactured goods, for it is in the industries catering to secondary needs rather than in those supplying the prime necessitics of life that the greatest technical progress has been made in recent years and it would appear likely that, until the current depression, it was the products of these industries that had fallen most in price. On the other hand, however, the level of the cost of living indices is lowered in most countries by the inclusion of rent and by the fact that the base period for most of the indices is July 1914, when retail prices were generally higher than in 1913.

Even allowing for a considerable margin of error, the fact of a discrepancy between the wholesale and retail price indices for most of the countries included in Table XXXVI remains; the differences in their movements during the depression are particularly striking:

It will be observed that even at the end of 1927 and 1928 retail prices in most countries stood at a substantially higher level than wholesale prices. During 1929, wholesale prices fell appreciably in nineteen of the twenty-one countries shown above; retail prices remained practically steady in six of these countries, and in six they rose. In those countries where retail prices also fell they did so at a much slower rate than wholesale prices. This difference in the movement of the two indices became, of course, even more marked during the great price recession of 1930. Between the end of 1928 and the end of 1930, the general level of wholesale prices fell by 15 to 25 per cent in fourteen of the countries included

¹ It should be observed that iron-ore prices were the same in 1930 as in 1929 and milk, having risen in 1929, dropped back in 1930 to a point slightly higher than the 1928 level.

TABLE XXXVI

WHOLESALE AND RETAIL PRICES, DECEMBER 1927-1930.

Country	Date	Whole- sale	Retail	Country	Date	Whole- sale	Retail
South Africa .	Dec. 1927 Dec. 1928 Dec. 1929 Dec. 1930 Dec. 1930 as percent- age of Dec. 1928 .	123 120 113 ² 100 ² 83	$132 \\ 131 \\ 129 \\ 126 \\ 96$	Едүрт	Dec. 1927 Dec. 1928 Dec. 1929 Dec. 1930 Dec. 1930 as percent- age of Dec. 1928 .	114 126 110 102 <i>81</i>	147 150 139 128 <i>85</i>
Australia	Dec. 1927 Dec. 1928 Dec. 1929 Dec. 1930 Dec. 1930 as percent- age of Dec. 1928 .	170 162 162 129 <i>80</i>	147 146 149 140 ³ <i>96</i>	Estonia	Dec. 1927 Dec. 1928 Dec. 1929 Dec. 1930 Dec. 1930 as percent- age of Dec. 1928 .	118 118 112 96 <i>81</i>	105 113 109 99 88
Austria	Dec. 1927 Dec. 1928 Dec. 1929 Dec. 1930 Dec. 1930 as percent- age of Dec. 1928 .	127 127 123 107 <i>84</i>	107 109 113 108 <i>99</i>	Germany	Dec. 1927 Dec. 1928 Dec. 1929 Dec. 1930 Dec. 1930 as percent- age of Dec. 1928 .	$140 \\ 140 \\ 134 \\ 118 \\ 84$	$151 \\ 153 \\ 153 \\ 142 \\ 93$
Canada	Dec. 1927 Dec. 1928 Dec. 1929 Dec. 1930 Dec. 1930 as percent- age of Dec. 1928 .	$152 \\ 148 \\ 150 \\ 122 \\ 82$	$150 \\ 151 \\ 154 \\ 146 \\ 97$	Hungary	Dec. 1927 Dec. 1928 Dec. 1928 Dec. 1929 Dec. 1930 Dec. 1930 as percentage of Dec. 1928 .	$ \begin{array}{r} 135 \\ 135 \\ 107 \\ 90 \\ 67 \end{array} $	$ 113 \\ 118 \\ 113 \\ 100 \\ 85 $
Czecho- slovakia	Dec. 1927 Dec. 1928 Dec. 1929 Dec. 1930 Dec. 1930 as percent- age of Dec. 1928 .	143 139 126 110 79	$ \begin{array}{r} 109 \\ 108 \\ 103 \\ 95 \end{array} $	British India .	Dec. 1927 Dec. 1928 Dec. 1929 Dec. 1930 Dec. 1930 as percent- age of Dec. 1928 .	167 163 151 114 70	170 167 169 137 <i>82</i>
Denmark	Dec. 1927 Dec. 1928 Dec. 1929 Dec. 1930 Dec. 1930 as percent- age of Dec. 1928 .	$154 \\ 151 \\ 146 \\ 120 \\ 79$	176 173 172 ² 162 ² <i>94</i>	Italy (Milan) .	Dec. 1927 Dec. 1928 Dec. 1929 Dec. 1930 Dec. 1930 as percent- age of Dec. 1928 .	483 497 459 369 74	531 538 549 508 94

Pre-war Base. 1

¹ The base period for the wholesale indices is 1913, with the following exceptions : Switzerland (1914), Austria (January to June 1914), Czechoslovakia (July 1914), and Poland (January 1914). The retail indices for the following countries are based on July 1914 : Austria, Czechoslovakia, Denmark, British India, Latvia, New Zealand, Norway, Sweden, United Kingdom and the United States of America. Those for South Africa, Bulgaria and France are based on 1914 ; those for Canada, Estonia and Hungary on 1913 ; those for Finland and Italy on January to June 1914 ; that for Poland on January 1914 ; that for Switzerland on June 1914 ; that for the Netherlands on 1911 to 1913 ; that for Australia on November 1914; that for Egypt on January 1913 to July 1914 ; and that for Germany on October 1913, January, April, July 1914.

² October.

³ September.

TABLE XXXVI (contd.).

WHOLESALE AND RETAIL PRICES, DECEMBER 1927-1930.

Pre-war	B	ase.	
---------	---	------	--

Country	Date	Whole- sale	Retail	Country	Date	Whole- sale	Retail
					· ·	·	
LATVIA	Dec. 1928	125	115	Sweden	Dec. 1927	148	171
	Dec. 1929	112	109		Dec. 1928	145	170
	Dec. 1930	85	98		Dec. 1929	134	167
	Dec. 1930 as percent-	0.0	0.7		Dec. 1930	117	163 ²
	age of Dec. 1928 .	68	85		Dec. 1390 as percent-	0.7	0.0
Nomination	Dec 1097	1	170		age of Dec. 1928 .	81	90
NETHERLANDS .	Dec. 1927	101	160	CHITTERDE AND	Dec. 1007	146	169
	Dec. 1928	140	108	OWITZERLAND	Dec. 1927	140	169
	Dec. 1929	107	157		Dec. 1928	120	162
	Dec. 1930 as percent-	101	107		Dec. 1920	117	156
	age of Dec. 1928 .	72	93		Dec. 1930 as percent-		100
					age of Dec. 1928 .	81	96
NEW ZEALAND .	Dec. 1927	148	161	UNITED			
	Dec. 1928	149	162	KINGDOM	Dec. 1927	140	168
	Dec. 1929	146	161 ¹		Dec. 1928	138	167
	Dec. 1930	141	155^{1}		Dec. 1929	133	166
	Dec. 1930 as percent-				Dec. 1930	109	153
	age of Dec. 1928 .	95	96		Dec. 1930 as percent-		
NT.	D 1025	100	10-		, age of Dec. 1928 .	79	92
NORWAY	Dec. 1927	100	195	TT CLA	D 1005	190	1.04
	Dec. $1928 \dots$	157	183	U.S.A	Dec. 1927	139	104
	Dec. 1929	104	179		Dec. 1928	109	169
	Dec. 1930	190	114		Dec. 1929	119	148
	age of Dec 1928	87	94		Dec. 1930	114	110
	age of Dec. 1980 .	0,			age of Dec. 1928	81	91
POLAND	Dec. 1927	120	121		ago 01 1200, 1000 .		
	Dec. 1928	118	125				
	Dec. 1929	109	126				
	Dec. 1930	91	118				
	Dec. 1930 as percent.						
	age of Dec. 1928 .	77	94				

¹ November.

in the above table and by 25 to 35 per cent in another five countries. During the same period, retail prices fell by less than 10 per cent in sixteen countries and by more than that in only five. In all cases, retail price indices stood substantially higher at the end of 1930 than wholesale indices.

* *

In previous editions of this *Memorandum*, a comparison was made between the import and export price indices of certain countries whose imports or exports consist mainly of raw materials or manufactured goods. This comparison suggested that, in the period 1925 to 1928, the barter terms of trade were in general favourable, in

² October.

comparison with 1913, to the countries importing raw products and exporting manufactured goods and thus supported the conclusion to which the other lines of enquiry appeared to point.

* *

Up to this point, raw materials and foodstuffs have been in general treated as a single group of commodities and contrasted with finished articles; attention has only incidentally been directed to differences in the price movements of various groups of raw materials. It is therefore necessary to pursue the analysis a little further and to compare the prices of agricultural products with those of other raw materials and semi-manufactured goods. Unfortunately, the goods entering into the existing national indices are grouped in such diverse manners that it is often difficult to employ them for this purpose. In Table XXXVII, certain group indices which, though far from ideal, afford some evidence of value are tabulated. The groups are never identical in composition and the figures for one country should not be directly compared with those for another.

An examination of the above table will show that at the end of 1927 and 1928 the prices of foodstuffs in general ruled higher than the prices of mineral or metallurgical products. In 1929, vegetable foodstuffs and textiles dropped rather sharply in most countries, whilst animal foodstuffs, minerals, metals and most other products fell considerably less and in some cases rose slightly. The great price liquidation of 1930 affected all commodities, though with unequal intensity. Column (2) of the above table shows that between the end of 1928 and the end of 1930, vegetable foodstuffs fell by 25 to 35 per cent in most countries; in the United Kingdom, cereal prices fell by 38 per cent. Reference has already been made to the measures taken in France, Germany and elsewhere to maintain cereal prices in this period.

Animal foodstuffs fell much less in price than cereals. For this group, the greatest fall appears to have taken place in Italy and Denmark (18 per cent in both countries). In most other countries, the price fall for this group of products ranged from 5 to 15 per cent. It is interesting to observe in this connection that fodder prices have fallen very heavily.

The "industrial materials" groups in most cases include both raw materials and semi-manufactured products; this method of grouping naturally understates the fall in the price of raw materials. In spite of this faet, however, the price of textiles fell by 40 to 50 per cent in the great majority of countries whose indices are shown above.

It is obviously difficult to estimate the real fall in the price of minerals and metallurgical products because, as has been emphasised above, it in this group of commodities that cartels, producers' associations, etc., have been most successful in restricting output and maintaining prices. When most other groups fell in price in 1929, these articles continued to rise in many countries, and though they tended to fall in 1930, they did so much less rapidly than other articles. In general the decline since the end of 1928 appears to have been less than 15 per cent and

TABLE XXXVII

PRICES INDICES OF AGRICULTURAL AND OTHER PRODUCTS.

-0

(Base 1913, unless otherwise indicated).

Country	Group index	Price	(1 e indice) s, Dece	mber	(2) December 1930	Compiler
Country	oroup maan	1927	1928	1929	1930	as percentage of December 1928	
Australia	Cereals and vegetables Meat Dairy produce Metals and coal Chemicals	171 166 165 185 191	156 145 170 181 195	163 175 169 183 197	106 125 127 175 207	68 86 75 97 106	Commonwealth Bu- reau of Statistics. (Converted from 1911 base).
AUSTRIA	Foodstuffs Industrial raw mate- rials and semi-manu- factured products .	118 149	118 146	112 144	95 132	81 90	Federal Statistical Office (Base, January to June 1914).
Вылим	Foodstuffs	903 802 762 1,140	854 848 825 1,092	703 1,029 771 825	543 870 627 558	64 103 76 51	Ministère de l'In- dustrie, du Tra- vail et de la Pré- voyance Sociale. (Base April 1914)
Czecho- slovakia	Vegetable foodstuffs . Animal foodstuffs Industrial raw mate- rials	147 131 151	129 133 150	103 128 141	86 118 121	67 89 81	State Statistical Office. (Base: July 1914).
	Minerals	153 160	151 153	147 130	121 91	80 59	
Denmark	Vegetable foodstuffs . Animal foodstuffs Industrial raw mate-	$136\\141$	121 154	111 155	97 126	80 82	Central Statistical Department.
	factured products . Metallurgical products Textiles Fodder	120 184 223 156	121 186 222 156	130 186 210 132	111 173 180 95	92 93 81 61	
Finland ¹	Cereals	1,158 897 873 985 590	1,121 898 785 955 594	998 920 834 957 565	770 879 786 918 611	69 98 100 96 103	Central Customs Administration.
FRANCE	Vegetable foodstuffs . Animal foodstuffs . Industrial raw mate-	541 591	577 627	456 695	526 645	91 103	Statistique géné- rale de la France.
	factured products . Minerals and metals . Textiles Chemicals	682 496 841 578	698 537 822 588	640 569 684 603	516 477 479 529	74 89 58 90	
Germany	Agricultural products . Vegetable foodstuffs Cattle Fodder Industrial raw mate-	$ 135 \\ 144 \\ 105 \\ 141 $	134 126 118 137	126 120 126 105	110 111 104 91	82 88 88 66	Central Statistical Office.
	rais and semi-manu-factured goods factured goods Iron and steel Non-ferrous metals. Textiles Chemicals	$ \begin{array}{r} 134 \\ 125 \\ 107 \\ 159 \\ 124 \end{array} $	134 128 110 154 127	129 130 112 128 127	110 123 77 85 122	82 96 70 55 96	

¹ 1927 indices are annual averages; all other years, October.

TABLE XXXVII (contd.).

PRICE INDICES OF AGRICULTURAL AND OTHER PRODUCTS

(Base 1913, unless otherwise indicated).

Country	Group index	(1) Price indices, December 1927 1928 1929 1930			ember 1930	(2) December 1930 as percentage of December 1928	Compiler
Italy	Vegetable foodstuffs . Animal foodstuffs . Industrial raw mate-	549 494	574 543	474 528	356 445	62 82	Provincial Econo- mic Council, Milan.
Nether-	flats and semi-manu- factured products . Textiles Minerals and metals Chemicals	$465 \\ 432 \\ 434 \\ 445$	$472 \\ 450 \\ 439 \\ 450$	$ \begin{array}{r} 444 \\ 383 \\ 441 \\ 434 \end{array} $	$360 \\ 253 \\ 375 \\ 374$	76 56 85 83	
LANDS	Food	$\begin{array}{c} 159 \\ 151 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c}155\\148\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 149 \\ 142 \end{array}$	111 107	72 72	Central Statistical Office.
Norway	Vegetable foodstuffs . Animal foodstuffs Textiles Iron and metals Fodder and fertilisers .	$179 \\ 157 \\ 200 \\ 145 \\ 147$	$156 \\ 152 \\ 185 \\ 141 \\ 139$	149 151 182 138 128	$113 \\ 147 \\ 154 \\ 120 \\ 100$	72 97 83 85 72	Central Statistical Office.
Poland	Agricultural products. Industrial raw mate- rials and semi-manu- factured products ¹ .	124 118	120 119	102 114	80 100	67	Central Statistical Office (Base: January 1914).
SPAIN	Vegetable foodstuffs . Animal foodstuffs Industrial raw mate-	$\frac{161}{213}$	$\begin{array}{c} 177\\210\end{array}$	$\frac{165}{208}$	$\begin{array}{c}167^{2}\\202\end{array}$	94 ² 96	Ministry of Labour.
	rials	$ 158 \\ 158 \\ 146 \\ 149 \\ 135 $	$164 \\ 151 \\ 150 \\ 155 \\ 141$	$164 \\ 155 \\ 138 \\ 163 \\ 160$	$ \begin{array}{r} 167 \\ 155 \\ 129 \\ 179 \\ 163 \end{array} $	$102 \\ 103 \\ 86 \\ 115 \\ 116$	
Switzerland	Vegetable foodstuffs . Animal foodstuffs . Industrial raw mate- rials and semi-manu-	$\frac{155}{152}$	$\begin{array}{c} 146\\ 151 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 132\\ 153 \end{array}$	93 144	$64 \\ 95$	Federal Labour Office. (Base : July 1914).
	factured products . Metals Textiles, leather,	$\frac{141}{115}$	$\begin{array}{c} 139\\120\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 132\\122\end{array}$	106 92	76 77	
UNITED	rubber Fodder and fertilisers	$\frac{149}{132}$	$\frac{141}{136}$	$\frac{121}{122}$	85 90	60 66	
KINCDOM .	Cereals	153^{1} 138 136 120 155	$149 \\ 141 \\ 134 \\ 112 \\ 164$	$132 \\ 158 \\ 128 \\ 115 \\ 144$	$92\\134\\105\\109\\101$	62 95 78 97 55	Board of Trade.
Unimuc	Minerals	118 161	$\begin{array}{c} 118\\ 160 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 116\\ 130 \end{array}$	98 81	83 51	Economist.
STATES OF AMERICA .	Farm products Non-agricultural com- modities	146 137	$\frac{145}{137}$	143 134	115 105	72 84	Bureau of Labor Statistics.

¹ Including a few manufactured products.
 ² 1930 indices are for September.

for several countries it was less than 5 per cent; it was greatest in Belgium (24 per cent). It is of particular interest to notice the difference in the movements of iron and steel products on the one hand and non-ferrous metals on the other in Germany. In this country, iron and steel products, which are subject to close control, fell in price by some 5 per cent, whilst non-ferrous metals, whose prices have been determined by world market conditions¹ since the breakdown of the copper producers' association in March 1930, fell by 30 per cent. It must be borne in mind, however, that the iron and steel index contains a larger proportion of semi- and wholly manufactured goods, such as rolling-mill products, etc., than the index for non-ferrous metals.

¹ The only important exception is aluminium, the prices of which are still influenced by the producers' association of that industry.



ANNEXES

Annex I.

METHOD OF CALCULATION OF THE COMPOSITE PRODUCTION INDEX.

The index is composed of 63 articles which are given in Annex II. For the purposes of the calculation of the index, a "weight" has been attributed to each commodity equivalent to its relative importance as measured by its aggregate value at selected "world" prices. The prices selected are intended to be representative in the sense that they refer to representative qualities and that their ratios are fairly typical of relative values on the world market. They are annual averages of actual quotations for medium qualities of the various articles in leading producing countries. They are not averages of prices of different qualities or of prices in different countries. They have all been converted into terms of dollars according to the annual average rates of exchange.

The indices are thus compiled by the aggregate method, the mathematical formula of which is :

$$I = \frac{q_1' p' + q_1'' p'' + q_1'' p''' + \dots + q_1 n p_1}{q_0' p' + q_0'' p'' + q_0'' p''' + \dots + q_0 n p_1} = \frac{\Sigma(q_1 p)}{\Sigma(q_0 p)}$$

The quantity of each commodity produced each year (q', q'', q'', q''', etc.) is multiplied by the price of that commodity (p', p'', p'', etc.) and the resulting totals for all commodities are summed up. The absolute figures thus obtained for each year are then converted into percentages of the absolute figure for the basic year. As the prices are constant, variations in the index represent changes in the quantities produced and not in the values.

In view of the changes that have taken place in relative values, two different calculations have been made, employing the prices for 1925 and 1929 respectively.

Two tables showing the aggregates from which the general index has been calculated are given below.

	ices	1929	$\begin{array}{c} 23,163.4\\ 10,914.1\\ 997.7\\ 1,942.0\\ 1,948.8\\ 5,369.3\\ 653.4\\ 653.4\\ 653.4\\ 66,246.8\\ 7,672.4\\ 868.0\\ 868.0\\ \end{array}$	59,886.5	
	to 1929 P ₁	1928	$\begin{array}{c} 23,492.6\\ 11,130.7\\ 922.7\\ 922.7\\ 1,921.7\\ 1,871.4\\ 5,287.0\\ 5,288.1\\ 585.7\\ 633.0\\ 6,986.6\\ 6\\ 799.7\\ 799.7\end{array}$	58,713.4	
;	according	1927	$\begin{array}{c} 22,564.4\\ 10,687.1\\ 1,054.1\\ 925.6\\ 1,917.9\\ 4,827.5\\ 568.6\\ 5,817.9\\ 6,548.6\\ 6,548.6\\ 6,88.9\end{array}$	56, 526.7	;
	Aggregates	1926	$\begin{array}{c} 22,188.7\\ 10,354.2\\ 872.3\\ 872.3\\ 5,176.3\\ 5,176.3\\ 5,176.3\\ 551.3\\ 5,289.3\\ 6,037.5\\ 649.6\\ 649.6\end{array}$	54,619.6	
	(q)	1925	$\begin{array}{c} 22,532.6\\ 10,163.7\\ 796.9\\ 10,163.7\\ 1,746.4\\ 4,916.7\\ 1,746.4\\ 247.9\\ 500.0\\ 5,215.5\\ 5,37.3\\ 5,837.3\\ 651.6\end{array}$	54, 143.2	
	rices	1929	$\begin{array}{c} 26,560.9\\ 111,095.5\\ 1,260.7\\ 7,280.3\\ 2,203.4\\ 1,160.9\\ 1,160.9\\ 7,849.6\\ 7,997.9\\ 907.0\\ 907.0\\ \end{array}$	68,649.8	
	to 1925 P	1928	$\begin{array}{c} 27,171.7\\11,313.4\\1,159.3\\1,159.3\\672.5\\672.5\\654.6\\654.6\\654.6\\654.6\\7,2265.3\\7,2265.3\\7,2265.3\\831.1\end{array}$	67,332.9	
	according	1927	$\begin{array}{c} 26,018.3\\ 10,855.2\\ 1,334.3\\ 640.7\\ 640.7\\ 6,699.3\\ 6,699.3\\ 635.2\\ 635.2\\ 635.2\\ 635.2\\ 635.2\\ 635.2\\ 635.2\\ 635.2\\ 635.2\\ 7,297.5\\ 635.2\\ 7,297.5\\ 635.2\\ 7,297.5\\ 635.2\\ 7,297.5\\ 635.2\\ 7,297.5\\ 635.2\\ 7,297.5\\$	64, 828.9	
	Aggregates	1926	$\begin{array}{c} 25,616.0\\ 10,505.3\\ 1,096.0\\ 653.4\\ 1,968.2\\ 7,068.2\\ 614.8\\ 614.8\\ 614.8\\ 6.322.0\\ 6,322.0\\ 6.63.2\end{array}$	62,581.7	
	(a) F	1925	$\begin{array}{c} 25,924.8\\ 10,304.2\\ 997.7\\ 634.5\\ 1,943.1\\ 6,749.1\\ 6,749.3\\ 559.0\\ 559.2\\ 6,112.1\\ 6,112.1\\ 6,10.9\end{array}$	61,850.6	
	Groups of Commodities		Cereals and other food crops	Total	

rices	1929	18,400.	$\begin{array}{c} 24,070.\\ 17,919.\\ 4,641.\\ 1,769.\\ 10,297.\\ 1,187.\end{array}$	59,886.
to 1929 P	1928	16,979.4	$\begin{array}{c} 22,566.7\\ 18,230.0\\ 4,786.0\\ 1,663.3\\ 10,205.0\\ 1,262.4\end{array}$	58,713.4
according	1927	16,448.1	$\begin{array}{c} 21,925.8\\ 17,227.3\\ 4,651.1\\ 1,596.5\\ 9,960.9\\ 1,165.1\end{array}$	56,526.7
Aggregates	1926	14,602.7	$\begin{array}{c} 20,173.3\\ 17,593.2\\ 4,438.5\\ 1,548.4\\ 9,661.5\\ 1,204.7\\ \end{array}$	54, 619.6
7 (q)	1925	15,481.8	$\begin{array}{c} 20,563.2\\ 17,035.3\\ 4,298.3\\ 1,551.9\\ 9,597.2\\ 1,097.3 \end{array}$	54, 143.2
rices	1929	20,131.4	$\begin{array}{c} 26,299.1\\ 20,063.5\\ 5,648.4\\ 2,073.7\\ 12,941.3\\ 1,623.8 \end{array}$	68,649.8
to 1925 P.	1928	18,599.1	$\begin{array}{c} 24,696.6\\ 20,447.2\\ 5,872.1\\ 1,947.6\\ 12,645.0\\ 1,724.4\end{array}$	67,332.9
according	1927	17,983.2	$\begin{array}{c} 23,964.0\\ 19,354.4\\ 5,678.6\\ 1,866.8\\ 12,378.6\\ 1,586.5 \end{array}$	64, 828.9
Aggregates	1926	15,965.2	$\begin{array}{c} 22,055.4\\ 19,712.8\\ 5,414.4\\ 1,812.7\\ 11,949.6\\ 11,636.8 \end{array}$	62,581.7
(a) A	1925	16,828.6	$\begin{array}{c} 22,491.4\\ 18,980.1\\ 5,262.9\\ 1,821.2\\ 11,809.4\\ 1,485.6 \end{array}$	61,850.6
Territorial Divisions		Europe, excluding U.S.S.R	Europe, including U.S.S.R.	World

PRODUCTION AGGREGATES IN TERMS OF DOLLARS (000,000's omitted)

- 123 -

Annex II.

INDICES OF WORLD PRODUCTION OF FOODSTUFFS AND RAW MATERIALS.

Groups of Products and Articles	1926	1927	1928	1929	1930 *
Cereals and other food crops ¹					
	$104 \\ 93 \\ 97 \\ 102 \\ 96 \\ 100 \\ 92 \\ 92 \\ 92 \\ 96$	$106 \\ 98 \\ 98 \\ 97 \\ 94 \\ 100 \\ 105 \\ 107 \\ 99$	$114 \\ 91 \\ 113 \\ 111 \\ 92 \\ 103 \\ 108 \\ 112 \\ 108 \\ 108 \\ 112 \\ 108 \\ 108 \\ 112 \\ 108 \\ $	$101 \\ 95 \\ 120 \\ 107 \\ 95 \\ 102 \\ 118 \\ 109 \\ 106$	$114 \\ 99 \\ 118 \\ -108 \\ 83 \\ 108 \\ 116 \\ 136 \\ 98$
Meat					
Beef	$102 \\ 101 \\ 101 \\ 106$	$ \begin{array}{r} 101 \\ 101 \\ 110 \\ 110 \end{array} $	$101 \\ 103 \\ 119 \\ 113$	$101 \\ 104 \\ 112 \\ 115$	···· ···
Colonial produce, etc.					
Coffee	$115 \\ 96 \\ 106 \\ 100$	$153 \\ 99 \\ 109 \\ 111$	$120 \\ 103 \\ 114 \\ 110$	$132 \\ 107 \\ 119 \\ 140$	$ \begin{array}{r} 104 \\ 109 \\ 113 \\ 103 \end{array} $
Tobacco	103	101	106	113	
Vegetable-oil materials					
Cotton-seedLinseedRape-seedHemp-seedSesamumSoya beansCopraPalm oil and palm-kernel oil (raw)Olive oil (raw)Ground-nuts	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 97 \\ 77 \\ 97 \\ 105 \\ 120 \\ 111 \\ 96 \\ 87 \\ 103 \\ \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{c} 86\\ 100\\ 82\\ 104\\ 127\\ 136\\ 107\\ 99\\ 161\\ 120\\ \end{array}$	$94 \\ 93 \\ 73 \\ 103 \\ 122 \\ 140 \\ 130 \\ 101 \\ 99 \\ 130$	$93 \\ 77 \\ 76 \\ 104 \\ 126 \\ 158 \\ 134 \\ 106 \\ 185 \\ 115 \\$	94 97 90 70
Textiles					
CottonFlaxHempManila hempJuteWoolRaw silkArtificial silk	102 89 92 101 136 107 106 118	$ \begin{array}{r} 86 \\ 80 \\ 94 \\ 96 \\ 114 \\ 108 \\ 113 \\ 155 \\ \end{array} $	94 89 94 99 111 113 121 192	$93 \\ 98 \\ 90 \\ 118 \\ 116 \\ 112 \\ 127 \\ 232$	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 103 \\ \cdots \\ 126 \\ \cdots \\ 122 \\ 226 \end{array} $

Production in 1925=100.

* Partly based on estimates. ¹ Excluding China.

Annex II (concluded).

INDICES OF WORLD PRODUCTION OF FOODSTUFFS AND RAW MATERIALS.

Production in 1925=100.

Groups of Products and Articles	1926	1927	1928	1929	1930 *
<i>Raw Rubber</i>	111	122	116	149	140
Wood-pulp	110	110	110	197	
Chemical pulp	110	110 115	116	$\frac{127}{132}$	•••
Cement ¹ \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	107	116	123	124	
Fuels					
Coal	100	108	105	111	101
Lignite	100	108	117	124	105
160000000 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	100	110	141	100	102
Metals (smelter production)					
Pig-iron	103	113	116	128	104
Steel	103	113	122	133	104
Lond	105	109	124	140	110
Zine	108	115	124	129	107
Tin	101	109	122	130	118
Aluminium	110	116	125	151	
Nickel	91	93	133	150	141
Silver	103	104	102	104	97
Chemicals (fertilisers)	-				
Natural phosphates	110	116	115	125	
Potash	87	102	114	123	
Netural guano	128	143	130	158	
Natural guano	81	67	129	133	109
Nitrate of lime	123	155	187	228	100
Superphosphates of lime	103	101	109	116	
Basic slag	106	123	126	135	
Cyanamide of calcium	119	126	141	149	
Sulphate of ammonia	101	117	126	145	
Surpliate of copper	114	140	142	111	• • •

* Partly based on estimates.
¹ Excluding Latin America and Africa for which no adequate figures are available.

Annex III.

INDICES OF PRODUCTION OF FOODSTUFFS AND RAW MATERIALS

Production in

			Eu	rope		North		Latin	
Groups of Products	Years	Exclu U.S.	iding S.R.	Inclu U.S.	ding S.R.	Ame	rica	Ame	rica
		<i>(a)</i>	(<i>b</i>)	<i>(a)</i>	(<i>b</i>)	<i>(a)</i>	(<i>b</i>)	<i>(a)</i>	(b)
Cereals	$ 1926 \\ 1927 \\ 1928 \\ 1929 $	$92 \\ 91 \\ 97 \\ 108$	93 91 97 109	$99 \\ 95 \\ 98 \\ 105$	$99 \\ 95 \\ 98 \\ 106$	$98 \\ 104 \\ 112 \\ 94$	$97 \\ 103 \\ 110 \\ 93$	$ \begin{array}{r} 104 \\ 112 \\ 121 \\ 92 \end{array} $	$ 103 \\ 109 \\ 118 \\ 92 $
Cereals and other food crops	1926 1927 1928 1929	91 93 99 110	91 94 99 111	$98 \\ 97 \\ 100 \\ 107$	97 97 100 109	$99 \\ 105 \\ 113 \\ 95$	$98 \\ 103 \\ 111 \\ 94$	$101 \\ 104 \\ 114 \\ 96$	$102 \\ 105 \\ 115 \\ 96$
Meat	1926 1927 1928 1929	$105 \\ 114 \\ 123 \\ 119$	$ 102 \\ 110 \\ 119 \\ 116 $	$103 \\ 111 \\ 119 \\ 114$	$103 \\ 111 \\ 119 \\ 114$	$ \begin{array}{r} 101 \\ 100 \\ 103 \\ 102 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 101 \\ 100 \\ 102 \\ 101 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 103 \\ 101 \\ 101 \\ 102 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 103 \\ 101 \\ 101 \\ 102 \end{array} $
Colonial produce and hops	1926 1927 1928 1929	96 111 109 148	$95 \\ 111 \\ 108 \\ 148$	$96 \\ 111 \\ 109 \\ 148$	$95 \\ 111 \\ 108 \\ 148$	$110 \\ 109 \\ 115 \\ 119$	$ 111 \\ 109 \\ 116 \\ 118 $	$115 \\ 153 \\ 118 \\ 131$	$114 \\ 152 \\ 117 \\ 130$
Тоbассо	1926 1927 1928 1929	99 97 90 118	99 97 90 118	$101 \\ 94 \\ 84 \\ 96$	$ \begin{array}{r} 101 \\ 94 \\ 84 \\ 96 \end{array} $	94 89 101 111	$94 \\ 89 \\ 101 \\ 111$	$99\\124\\129\\152$	$99\\124\\129\\152$
Vegetable-oil materials	1926 1927 1928 1929	87 157 95 174	87 156 95 173	89 140 99 158	89 137 99 155	$105 \\ 90 \\ 92 \\ 91$	$106 \\ 89 \\ 91 \\ 91$	$107 \\ 110 \\ 105 \\ 75$	$107 \\ 110 \\ 105 \\ 75$
Textiles	1926 1927 1928 1929	$ 103 \\ 115 \\ 124 \\ 133 $	$ \begin{array}{r} 103 \\ 112 \\ 121 \\ 130 \end{array} $	$101 \\ 109 \\ 118 \\ 124$	$100 \\ 107 \\ 115 \\ 121$	$ \begin{array}{r} 112 \\ 87 \\ 98 \\ 102 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 112 \\ 85 \\ 96 \\ 100 \end{array} $	$ 103 \\ 98 \\ 106 \\ 107 $	$103 \\ 98 \\ 106 \\ 107$
Rubber	1926 1927 1928 1929							94 109 81 75	94 109 81 75

Annex III.

WEIGHTED BY: (a) 1925 VALUES; (b) 1929 VALUES.

1925=100.

Afr	rica	As	sia	Oce	ania	We	orld	Groups of Products
(a)	(b)	(a)	(b)	(a)	(b)	(a)	(b)	~
99 105 109 121	$ 100 \\ 106 \\ 110 \\ 122 $	$100 \\ 102 \\ 89 \\ 98$	$100 \\ 102 \\ 89 \\ 98$	$138 \\ 108 \\ 138 \\ 112$	$136 \\ 108 \\ 137 \\ 112$	$100 \\ 100 \\ 104 \\ 101$	99 99 104 101	Cereals.
$97 \\ 108 \\ 107 \\ 116$	$98 \\ 109 \\ 107 \\ 116$	$99 \\ 100 \\ 102 \\ 102 \\ 102$	99 100 101 101	$121 \\ 108 \\ 127 \\ 112$	$125 \\ 108 \\ 129 \\ 112$	$99 \\ 100 \\ 105 \\ 102$	$98 \\ 100 \\ 104 \\ 103$	Cereals and otherfood crops.
$104 \\ 106 \\ 106 \\ 108$	$104 \\ 106 \\ 106 \\ 108$	$100 \\ 103 \\ 105 \\ 105$	$100 \\ 103 \\ 105 \\ 105$	$105 \\ 105 \\ 110 \\ 108$	$104 \\ 103 \\ 108 \\ 106$	$102 \\ 105 \\ 110 \\ 108$	102 10 5 110 107	Meat.
$ 102 \\ 104 \\ 110 \\ 119 119 $	$ \begin{array}{r} 101 \\ 102 \\ 109 \\ 118 \end{array} $	$105 \\ 112 \\ 115 \\ 118$	$105 \\ 112 \\ 115 \\ 119$	$108 \\ 142 \\ 131 \\ 135$	$112 \\ 153 \\ 129 \\ 135$	$110 \\ 134 \\ 116 \\ 126$	$ 109 \\ 132 \\ 116 \\ 125 $	Colonial produce and hops.
$109 \\ 126 \\ 104 \\ 91$	$109 \\ 126 \\ 104 \\ 91$	$ 112 \\ 108 \\ 118 \\ 118 \\ 118 $	112 108 118 118	$ \begin{array}{c} 60 \\ 110 \\ 100 \\ 100 \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{c} 60 \\ 110 \\ 100 \\ 100 \end{array}$	$103 \\ 101 \\ 106 \\ 113$	$103 \\ 101 \\ 106 \\ 113$	Tobacco.
97 93 105 114	$97 \\ 93 \\ 105 \\ 114$	$100 \\ 112 \\ 117 \\ 111$	99 111 115 109	$107 \\ 109 \\ 128 \\ 125$	$107 \\ 109 \\ 128 \\ 125$	99 111 107 113	$99 \\ 110 \\ 106 \\ 112$	Vegetable-oil materials.
$99 \\ 92 \\ 106 \\ 112$	$98 \\ 91 \\ 106 \\ 111$	$100 \\ 105 \\ 109 \\ 110$	99 105 108 108	$ 110 \\ 107 \\ 116 \\ 111 $	$110 \\ 107 \\ 116 \\ 111$	$105 \\ 99 \\ 108 \\ 110$	104 98 106 108	Textiles.
$ 133 \\ 133 \\ 100 \\ 100 $	$ \begin{array}{r} 133 \\ 133 \\ 100 \\ 100 \end{array} $	$112 \\ 122 \\ 118 \\ 154$	$112 \\ 122 \\ 118 \\ 154$			$111 \\ 122 \\ 116 \\ 149$	$ 111 \\ 122 \\ 116 \\ 149 $	Rubber.

Annex III (concluded).

INDICES OF PRODUCTION OF FOODSTUFFS AND RAW MATERIALS

Production in

			Europe				rth	La	tin
Groups of Products	Years	Exel U.S.	uding .S.R.	Inclu U.S.	iding S.R.	Ame	rica	Ame	erica
		(<i>a</i>)	(b)	(<i>a</i>)	(b)	(a)	(b)	<i>(a)</i>	(b)
Wood-pulp	1926 1927 1928 1929	$107 \\ 116 \\ 119 \\ 136$	107 117 119 137	$108 \\ 118 \\ 121 \\ 139$	108 118 121 139	112 108 112 121	$111 \\ 108 \\ 112 \\ 120$	$100 \\ 116 \\ 116 \\ 128$	100 118 118 129
Cement	1926 1927 1928 1929	$ \begin{array}{r} 108 \\ 121 \\ 132 \\ 136 \end{array} $	108 121 132 136	$110 \\ 124 \\ 136 \\ 141$	$110 \\ 124 \\ 136 \\ 141$	$ 102 \\ 108 \\ 110 \\ 108 $	$102 \\ 108 \\ 110 \\ 108$		•
Fuels	1926 1927 1928 1929	85 110 109 118	85 110 109 118	88 114 114 123	88 114 113 123	109 109 107 115	109 109 106 115	$99\\105\\127\\145$	$99\\105\\127\\145$
Metals	1926 1927 1928 1929	97 122 123 134	97 122 123 134	99 125 127 140	99 126 128 140	$106 \\ 101 \\ 112 \\ 123$	$106 \\ 101 \\ 112 \\ 123$	$110 \\ 120 \\ 131 \\ 141$	$ \begin{array}{r} 110 \\ 121 \\ 135 \\ 147 \end{array} $
Chemicals (fertilisers)	1926 1927 1928 1929	$101 \\ 114 \\ 122 \\ 137$	$ \begin{array}{r} 101 \\ 113 \\ 120 \\ 133 \end{array} $	$102 \\ 115 \\ 123 \\ 137$	$101 \\ 113 \\ 121 \\ 134$	$110 \\ 111 \\ 126 \\ 136$	$111 \\ 112 \\ 125 \\ 135 \\$	$79 \\ 65 \\ 124 \\ 127$	79 65 123 127
General Index	1926 1927 1928 1929	$95 \\ 107 \\ 111 \\ 120$	94 106 110 119	98 107 110 117	98 107 110 117	$104 \\ 102 \\ 108 \\ 106$	$103 \\ 101 \\ 107 \\ 105$	$103 \\ 108 \\ 112 \\ 107$	$103 \\ 108 \\ 111 \\ 108$
Foodstuffs	1926 1927 1928 1929	95 100 106 113	$94 \\ 100 \\ 105 \\ 112$	99 101 105 109	99 101 106 110	99 103 109 97	99 102 108 97	$ \begin{array}{r} 103 \\ 110 \\ 110 \\ 103 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 104 \\ 110 \\ 109 \\ 103 \end{array} $
Raw materials	1926 1927 1928 1929	94 118 117 1 3 0	94 118 117 130	$96 \\ 118 \\ 119 \\ 132$	96 118 119 131	$108 \\ 101 \\ 106 \\ 114$	$108 \\ 100 \\ 106 \\ 114$	101 103 116 119	$ \begin{array}{r} 101 \\ 104 \\ 118 \\ 122 \end{array} $

WEIGHTED BY : (a) 1925 VALUES; (b) 1929 VALUES.

1925 = 100.

Afr	ica	As	ia	Ocea	inia	Wo	rld	Groups of Products
(a)	(b)	(a)	(b)	<i>(a)</i>	(b)	(<i>a</i>)	(b)	
		$121 \\ 131 \\ 137 \\ 152$	$ 121 \\ 132 \\ 138 \\ 153 $	·		110 114 117 131	110 114 117 131	Wood-pulp.
•	•	$122 \\ 132 \\ 132 \\ 143$	$122 \\ 132 \\ 132 \\ 143$	$107 \\ 119 \\ 138 \\ 133$	$107 \\ 119 \\ 138 \\ 133$	$107 \\ 116 \\ 123 \\ 124$	$107 \\ 116 \\ 123 \\ 124$	Cement.
$ \begin{array}{r} 107 \\ 105 \\ 109 \\ 112 \end{array} $	$107 \\ 105 \\ 109 \\ 112$	$102 \\ 111 \\ 112 \\ 113$	$102 \\ 111 \\ 112 \\ 112 \\ 112$	$99 \\ 102 \\ 91 \\ 82$	99 102 91 82	$100 \\ 111 \\ 110 \\ 119$	$100 \\ 110 \\ 110 \\ 110 \\ 119$	Fuels.
$95 \\ 107 \\ 134 \\ 156$	$93 \\ 105 \\ 132 \\ 155$	$105 \\ 114 \\ 125 \\ 137$	$105 \\ 115 \\ 125 \\ 137$	$101 \\ 110 \\ 106 \\ 105$	$100 \\ 110 \\ 106 \\ 104$	$103 \\ 112 \\ 119 \\ 131$	$ \begin{array}{r} 103 \\ 112 \\ 120 \\ 131 \end{array} $	Metals.
$ \begin{array}{c c} 106 \\ 129 \\ 120 \\ 131 \end{array} $	$108 \\ 131 \\ 120 \\ 132$	$114 \\ 124 \\ 147 \\ 149$	$113 \\ 125 \\ 145 \\ 146$	$98 \\ 106 \\ 116 \\ 125$	$98 \\ 108 \\ 119 \\ 125$	$99 \\ 105 \\ 124 \\ 135$	$100 \\ 106 \\ 123 \\ 133$	Chemicals (fertilisers).
$ 100 \\ 103 \\ 107 \\ 114 $	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 103 \\ 107 \\ 114 \end{array} $	$ 101 \\ 105 \\ 107 \\ 110 $	$ 101 \\ 104 \\ 106 \\ 107 $	$ 110 \\ 107 \\ 116 \\ 109 $	$110 \\ 106 \\ 115 \\ 108$	$101 \\ 105 \\ 109 \\ 111$	$ 101 \\ 104 \\ 108 \\ 111 $	General Index.
100 107 107 114	$ 100 \\ 108 \\ 107 \\ 114 $	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 101 \\ 103 \\ 103 \end{array} $	$100 \\ 101 \\ 102 \\ 102$	$ 113 \\ 106 \\ 118 \\ 110 $	$ \begin{array}{r} 112 \\ 105 \\ 117 \\ 108 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 103 \\ 106 \\ 105 \end{array} $	$100 \\ 102 \\ 106 \\ 105$	Foodstuffs.
99 96 107 114	$99 \\ 96 \\ 108 \\ 115$	$ 103 \\ 111 \\ 114 \\ 120 $	$102 \\ 109 \\ 114 \\ 116$	$ 108 \\ 107 \\ 114 \\ 109 $	$ \begin{array}{r} 107 \\ 107 \\ 113 \\ 108 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 103 \\ 108 \\ 112 \\ 121 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 103 \\ 108 \\ 112 \\ 120 \end{array} $	Raw materials.

- 130 --

Annex IV.

PERCENTAGE DISTRIBUTION OF AGGREGATE PRODUCTION OF FOODSTUFFS (a) 1925 VALUES;

			Eur	ope		North		Latin	
Groups of Products	Years	Excl U.S	uding .S.R.	U.S.	iding S.R.	Ame	rica	Aine	rica
		(<i>a</i>)	(<i>b</i>)	(<i>a</i>)	(<i>b</i>)	<i>(a)</i>	(<i>b</i>)	<i>(a)</i>	(b)
Cereals	1925 1926 1927 1928	31.1 28.7 28.3 29.0	31.1 29.0 28.5 29.2	$49.1 \\ 48.8 \\ 46.5 \\ 45.9 \\ 51.9 \\ $	$49.2 \\ 49.3 \\ 47.1 \\ 46.4 \\ 6.4$	34.5 34.0 36.0 37.0	35.1 34.3 36.2 37.3	$6.4 \\ 6.7 \\ 7.1 \\ 7.4$	$6.3 \\ 6.6 \\ 6.9 \\ 7.2$
Cereals and other food	1929	33.4	33.0	51.3	51.9	32.3	32.5	5.9	5.8
erops	1925 1926 1927 1928 1929	$27.0 \\ 24.8 \\ 25.2 \\ 25.5 \\ 28.9$	$28.9 \\ 26.5 \\ 27.1 \\ 27.3 \\ 31.0$	$\begin{array}{c} 40.9 \\ 40.3 \\ 39.3 \\ 38.8 \\ 42.8 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 43.4 \\ 42.9 \\ 42.1 \\ 41.5 \\ 45.8 \end{array}$	$23.9 \\ 23.9 \\ 25.0 \\ 25.7 \\ 22.1$	$24.4 \\ 24.2 \\ 25.2 \\ 26.0 \\ 22.3$	7.57.67.78.17.0	$\begin{array}{c} 6.0 \\ 6.2 \\ 6.3 \\ 6.6 \\ 5.6 \end{array}$
Meat	1925 1926 1927 1928 1929	$30.4 \\ 31.4 \\ 32.9 \\ 34.0 \\ 33.7$	$31.3 \\ 31.3 \\ 32.8 \\ 33.9 \\ 33.7$	$\begin{array}{r} 42.0 \\ 42.2 \\ 44.2 \\ 45.5 \\ 44.6 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 41.9 \\ 42.2 \\ 44.0 \\ 45.5 \\ 44.5 \end{array}$	$30.6 \\ 30.2 \\ 29.1 \\ 28.6 \\ 28.8$	$30.8 \\ 30.4 \\ 29.3 \\ 28.7 \\ 29.0$	$13.9 \\ 14.0 \\ 13.5 \\ 12.9 \\ 13.2$	$14.2 \\ 14.3 \\ 13.7 \\ 13.1 \\ 13.5$
Colonial produce and hops	1925 1926 1927 1928 1929	$3.7 \\ 3.2 \\ 3.1 \\ 3.5 \\ 4.4$	$2.1 \\ 1.8 \\ 1.8 \\ 2.0 \\ 2.5$	$3.7 \\ 3.2 \\ 3.1 \\ 3.5 \\ 4.4$	$2.1 \\ 1.8 \\ 1.8 \\ 2.0 \\ 2.5$	$1.2 \\ 1.3 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.2 \\ 1.2$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.6 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \end{array}$	54.6 57.2 62.5 55.4 56.5	$53.6 \\ 56.0 \\ 61.5 \\ 54.4 \\ 55.6$
Tobacco	1925 1926 1927 1928 1929	$12.3 \\ 11.8 \\ 11.9 \\ 10.5 \\ 12.9$	$12.3 \\ 11.8 \\ 11.9 \\ 10.5 \\ 12.9$	$21.3 \\ 20.9 \\ 19.9 \\ 16.8 \\ 18.1$	$21.3 \\ 20.9 \\ 19.9 \\ 16.8 \\ 18.1$	$30.9 \\ 28.3 \\ 27.3 \\ 29.3 \\ 30.2$	$30.9 \\ 28.3 \\ 27.3 \\ 29.3 \\ 30.2$	8.1 7.8 9.9 9.9 10.9	8.1 7.8 9.9 9.9 10.9
Vegetable-oil materials.	1925 1926 1927 1928 1929	$13.0 \\ 11.4 \\ 18.4 \\ 11.6 \\ 20.0$	$12.6 \\ 11.0 \\ 18.0 \\ 11.3 \\ 19.6$	$18.2 \\ 16.3 \\ 22.9 \\ 16.8 \\ 25.3$	$18.6 \\ 16.7 \\ 23.2 \\ 17.4 \\ 25.7$	$15.9 \\ 16.9 \\ 13.0 \\ 13.7 \\ 12.8$	$17.6 \\ 18.8 \\ 14.3 \\ 15.2 \\ 14.4$	$9.9 \\ 10.7 \\ 9.8 \\ 9.8 \\ 6.6$	$ \begin{array}{r} 10.2 \\ 11.0 \\ 10.2 \\ 10.2 \\ 6.9 \\ \end{array} $
Textiles	1925 1926 1927 1928 1929	$12.1 \\ 11.9 \\ 13.9 \\ 13.9 \\ 14.6$	$10.9 \\ 10.7 \\ 12.5 \\ 12.4 \\ 13.0$	$19.0 \\ 18.3 \\ 20.9 \\ 20.8 \\ 21.4$	$17.5 \\ 16.7 \\ 19.1 \\ 19.0 \\ 19.6$	$30.3 \\ 32.3 \\ 26.4 \\ 27.5 \\ 28.0$	$32.3 \\ 34.6 \\ 28.2 \\ 29.3 \\ 29.8$	$6.2 \\ 6.2 \\ 6.2 \\ 6.2 \\ 6.2 \\ 6.1$	$5.9 \\ 5.9 \\ 5.9 \\ 5.9 \\ 5.9 \\ 5.9 \\ 5.9 \\ 5.9 \\ 5.9 $
Rubber	1925 1926 1927 1928 1929							$5.4 \\ 4.6 \\ 4.9 \\ 3.8 \\ 2.7$	$5.4 \\ 4.6 \\ 4.9 \\ 3.8 \\ 2.7$

World Totals = 100.

Annex IV.

AND RAW MATERIALS, BY CONTINENTAL GROUPS, WEIGHTED BY: (b) 1929 VALUES.

Afr	ica	As	ia	Ocea	ania	Wo	orld	Groups of Products
(a)	(b)	(<i>a</i>)	(b)	(a)	(b)	(a)	(b)	
2.62.62.82.83.2	2.62.62.72.73.1	$ \begin{array}{r} 6.1 \\ 6.1 \\ 6.2 \\ 5.2 \\ 5.9 \\ \end{array} $	$5.7 \\ 5.7 \\ 5.9 \\ 4.9 \\ 5.5$	$1.3 \\ 1.8 \\ 1.4 \\ 1.7 \\ 1.4$	$1.1 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.2 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.2 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.2$	1 1 1 1	00 00 00 00 00 00	Cereals.
$2.5 \\ 2.5 \\ 2.7 \\ 2.6 \\ 2.9$	$2.4 \\ 2.3 \\ 2.6 \\ 2.4 \\ 2.7$	$23.8 \\ 24.0 \\ 23.8 \\ 23.1 \\ 23.7$	$22.8 \\ 23.1 \\ 22.7 \\ 22.2 \\ 22.5$	$1.4 \\ 1.7 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.7 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5$	1.0 1.3 1.1 1.3 1.1 1.3 1.1	1 1 1 1	00 00 00 00 00 00	Cereals and other food crops.
$3.1 \\ 3.2 \\ 3.1 \\ 3.0 \\ 3.1$	$3.0 \\ 3.1 \\ 3.1 \\ 3.0 \\ 3.1$	$ \begin{array}{r} 6.8 \\ 6.7 \\ 6.6 \\ 6.5 \\ 6.7 \\ \end{array} $	$6.8 \\ 6.7 \\ 6.7 \\ 6.5 \\ 6.7 $	$3.6 \\ 3.7 \\ 3.5 \\ 3.5 \\ 3.6 $	$3.3 \\ 3.3 \\ 3.2 \\ 3.2 \\ 3.2 \\ 3.2 \\ 3.2$	1 1 1 1 1	00 00 00 00 00 00	Meat.
$7.3 \\ 6.7 \\ 5.7 \\ 6.9 \\ 6.8$	$9.3 \\ 8.6 \\ 7.2 \\ 8.8 \\ 8.7$	$32.9 \\ 31.3 \\ 27.4 \\ 32.7 \\ 30.8$	34.1 32.6 28.7 33.9 32.3	$\begin{array}{c} 0.3 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.3 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \end{array}$	1 1 1 1 1	00 00 00 00 00	Colonial produce and hops.
$2.8 \\ 3.0 \\ 3.5 \\ 2.8 \\ 2.3$	$2.8 \\ 3.0 \\ 3.5 \\ 2.8 \\ 2.3$	$36.8 \\ 39.9 \\ 39.3 \\ 41.1 \\ 38.5$	$36.8 \\ 39.9 \\ 39.3 \\ 41.1 \\ 38.5$	0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1	0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 	1 1 1 1 1	00 00 00 00 00	Tobacco.
$12.2 \\ 11.9 \\ 10.2 \\ 11.9 \\ 12.2$	$11.6 \\ 11.4 \\ 9.8 \\ 11.5 \\ 11.8$	$\begin{array}{r} 42.8 \\ 43.2 \\ 43.2 \\ 46.7 \\ 42.0 \end{array}$	$41.2 \\ 41.2 \\ 41.7 \\ 44.8 \\ 40.3$	$1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 0.9 \\ 1.1 \\ 1.1$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.8 \\ 0.9 \\ 0.8 \\ 0.9 \\ 0.9 \\ 0.9 \end{array}$	1 1 1 1	00 00 00 00 00 00	Vegetables-oil materials.
$\begin{array}{c} 6.1 \\ 5.7 \\ 5.6 \\ 6.0 \\ 6.2 \end{array}$	$egin{array}{c} 6.1 \\ 5.8 \\ 5.6 \\ 6.1 \\ 6.2 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 29.7 \\ 28.4 \\ 31.5 \\ 30.1 \\ 29.5 \end{array}$	$30.5 \\ 28.9 \\ 32.7 \\ 31.2 \\ 30.6$	8.7 9.1 9.4 9.4 8.8	7.78.18.58.57.9	1 1 1 1 1	00 00 00 00 00 00	Textiles.
$1.0 \\ 1.2 \\ 1.1 \\ 0.9 \\ 0.7$	$1.0 \\ 1.2 \\ 1.1 \\ 0.9 \\ 0.7$	$\begin{array}{c} 93.6 \\ 94.2 \\ 94.0 \\ 95.3 \\ 96.6 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 93.6\\ 94.2\\ 94.0\\ 95.3\\ 96.6\end{array}$			1 1 1 1 1	00 00 00 00 00	Rubber.

World Total = 100.

- 132 -

Annex IV (concluded).

PERCENTAGE DISTRIBUTION OF AGGREGATE PRODUCTION OF FOODSTUFFS AND (a) 1925 VALUES;

			Eur	rope	ope		rth		tin
Groups of Products	Years	Exe U.S	luding S.S.R.	Incl U.S	uding .S.R.	Am	erica	Ame	erica
		(a)	(b)	(a)	(b)	(a)	(b)	(a)	(b)
Wood-pulp	1925 1926 1927 1928 1929	$48.0 \\ 46.6 \\ 49.1 \\ 48.9 \\ 50.1$	$48.2 \\ 46.9 \\ 49.4 \\ 49.1 \\ 50.4$	$\begin{array}{r} 48.5 \\ 47.5 \\ 50.2 \\ 50.0 \\ 51.7 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 48.8 \\ 47.8 \\ 50.5 \\ 50.2 \\ 52.0 \end{array}$	$48.0 \\ 48.7 \\ 45.9 \\ 46.0 \\ 44.4$	$47.8 \\ 48.5 \\ 45.6 \\ 45.8 \\ 44.1$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.3 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.3 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.3 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.3 \end{array}$
Cement	1925 1926 1927 1928 1929	$\begin{array}{r} 40.4 \\ 40.9 \\ 41.9 \\ 43.4 \\ 44.1 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 40.4 \\ 40.9 \\ 41.9 \\ 43.4 \\ 44.1 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 41.6 \\ 43.0 \\ 44.3 \\ 46.1 \\ 47.3 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 41.6 \\ 43.0 \\ 44.3 \\ 46.1 \\ 47.3 \end{array}$	50.7 48.5 47.1 45.6 44.0	50.7 48.5 47.1 45.6 44.0		• • •
Fuels	1925 1926 1927 1928 1929	33.7 28.5 33.6 33.3 33.3 33.3	34.6 29.3 34.6 34.3 34.4	36.0 31.5 37.0 37.0 37.3	36.8 32.3 37.9 38.0 38.3	50.9 55.3 50.2 49.2 49.3	$50.3 \\ 54.8 \\ 49.5 \\ 48.6 \\ 48.6$	$4.5 \\ 4.4 \\ 4.2 \\ 5.2 \\ 5.5$	$\begin{array}{c} 4.2 \\ 4.1 \\ 3.9 \\ 4.8 \\ 5.0 \end{array}$
Metals	1925 1926 1927 1928 1929	39.1 36.6 42.5 40.4 40.1	38.6 36.2 42.1 39.8 39.5	$\begin{array}{r} 40.6\\ 39.0\\ 45.4\\ 43.3\\ 43.3\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 40.2 \\ 38.6 \\ 45.0 \\ 42.8 \\ 42.8 \end{array}$	$49.7 \\ 51.2 \\ 44.7 \\ 46.6 \\ 46.7$	50.4 51.9 45.3 47.2 47.4	$3.3 \\ 3.5 \\ 3.5 \\ 3.6 \\ 3.6 \\ 3.6$	$3.4 \\ 3.5 \\ 3.6 \\ 3.8 \\ 3.7$
Chemicals (fertilisers)	1925 1926 1927 1928 1929	58.0 59.4 63.3 57.3 58.7	59.1 59.7 63.0 57.3 59.1	58.1 59.7 63.6 57.6 59.1	$59.2 \\ 60.0 \\ 63.2 \\ 58.3 \\ 59.5$	$15.2 \\ 16.9 \\ 16.1 \\ 15.4 \\ 15.2$	$16.9 \\ 18.7 \\ 17.8 \\ 17.2 \\ 17.1$	$19.6 \\ 15.8 \\ 12.2 \\ 19.6 \\ 18.5$	$16.0 \\ 12.8 \\ 9.8 \\ 16.1 \\ 15.3$
Total Production	1925 1926 1927 1928 1929	$27.2 \\ 25.5 \\ 27.7 \\ 27.6 \\ 29.3$	28.626.729.128.930.7	$36.4 \\ 35.2 \\ 37.0 \\ 36.7 \\ 38.3$	38.0 37.0 38.8 38.4 40.2	$30.7 \\ 31.5 \\ 29.8 \\ 30.4 \\ 29.2$	$31.5 \\ 32.2 \\ 30.5 \\ 31.0 \\ 29.9$	$8.5 \\ 8.7 \\ 8.8 \\ 8.7 \\ 8.2$	$7.9 \\ 8.1 \\ 8.2 \\ 8.2 \\ 7.7$
Foodstuffs	1925 1926 1927 1928 1929	$27.3 \\ 26.0 \\ 26.6 \\ 27.3 \\ 29.5$	$29.0 \\ 27.4 \\ 28.1 \\ 28.7 \\ 31.0$	$\begin{array}{c} 40.2\\ 39.8\\ 39.5\\ 39.7\\ 42.1 \end{array}$	$41.9 \\ 41.6 \\ 41.5 \\ 41.7 \\ 44.2$	$25.2 \\ 25.0 \\ 25.3 \\ 25.8 \\ 23.4$	$25.8 \\ 25.5 \\ 25.7 \\ 26.2 \\ 23.8$	$10.5 \\ 10.9 \\ 11.3 \\ 10.9 \\ 10.4$	$9.6 \\ 10.0 \\ 10.3 \\ 9.9 \\ 9.5$
	1925 1926 1927 1928 1929	$27.0 \\ 24.7 \\ 29.4 \\ 28.2 \\ 29.1$	$28.0 \\ 25.7 \\ 30.6 \\ 29.2 \\ 30.3$	30.6 28.6 33.4 32.4 33.4	$31.5 \\ 29.6 \\ 34.6 \\ 33.4 \\ 34.6$	$39.0 \\ 41.0 \\ 36.3 \\ 36.9 \\ 36.9 \\ 36.9$	$\begin{array}{r} 40.7 \\ 42.8 \\ 37.8 \\ 38.5 \\ 38.6 \end{array}$	$5.5 \\ 5.3 \\ 5.2 \\ 5.6 \\ 5.3$	$5.2 \\ 5.1 \\ 5.1 \\ 5.5 \\ 5.3$

W	orld	Tota	ls =	1	00.	
---	------	------	------	---	-----	--

Annex IV (concluded).

RAW MATERIALS, BY CONTINENTAL GROUPS, WEIGHTED BY: (b) 1929 VALUES.

Afri	ca	Asi	a	Oceania		Wo	rld	Groups of Products
(<i>a</i>)	(b)	(a)	(b)	(<i>a</i>)	(b)	(<i>a</i>)	(b)	
		$3.2 \\ 3.5 \\ 3.6 \\ 3.7 \\ 3.6$	3.1 3.4 3.6 3.7 3.6			10 10 10 10	00 00 00 00 00	Wood-pulp.
		$6.5 \\ 7.3 \\ 7.3 \\ 6.9 \\ 7.4$	$6.5 \\ 7.3 \\ 7.3 \\ 6.9 \\ 7.4$	$1.2 \\ 1.2 \\ 1.3 \\ 1.4 \\ 1.3$	$1.2 \\ 1.2 \\ 1.3 \\ 1.4 \\ 1.3$	1 1 1 1 1	00 00 00 00 00 00	Cement.
$\begin{array}{c} 0.8 \\ 0.9 \\ 0.8 \\ 0.8 \\ 0.7 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.8 \\ 0.9 \\ 0.8 \\ 0.8 \\ 0.8 \\ 0.8 \end{array}$	$6.9 \\ 7.0 \\ 7.0 \\ 7.0 \\ 6.6$	7.07.07.07.06.6	$\begin{array}{c} 0.9 \\ 0.9 \\ 0.8 \\ 0.8 \\ 0.6 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.9 \\ 0.9 \\ 0.9 \\ 0.8 \\ 0.7 \end{array}$	$ 100 \\ 100 \\ 100 \\ 100 \\ 100 100 $		Fuels.
$0.6 \\ 0.5 \\ 0.6 \\ 0.6 \\ 0.7$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.7 \\ 0.6 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.8 \\ 0.8 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 4.5 \\ 4.6 \\ 4.6 \\ 4.8 \\ 4.7 \end{array}$	$4.2 \\ 4.3 \\ 4.3 \\ 4.4 \\ 4.4$	$ \begin{array}{r} 1.3 \\ 1.2 \\ 1.2 \\ 1.1 \\ 1.0 \\ \end{array} $	$1.1 \\ 1.1 \\ 1.1 \\ 1.0 \\ 0.9$	1 1 1 1 1	00 00 00 00 00	Metals.
$2.1 \\ 2.3 \\ 2.6 \\ 2.1 \\ 2.1$	$2.6 \\ 2.8 \\ 3.3 \\ 2.6 \\ 2.6 \\ 2.6$	$3.1 \\ 3.5 \\ 3.6 \\ 3.6 \\ 3.4$	$3.1 \\ 3.6 \\ 3.7 \\ 3.7 \\ 3.4$	$1.9 \\ 1.8 \\ 1.9 \\ 1.7 \\ 1.7 \\ 1.7$	$2.2 \\ 2.1 \\ 2.2 \\ 2.1 \\ 2.1 \\ 2.1$		00 00 00 00 00	Chemicals (fertilisers).
2.92.92.92.92.93.0	2.92.82.82.82.83.0	19.1 19.1 19.1 18.8 18.9	$17.7 \\ 17.7 \\ 17.6 \\ 17.4 \\ 17.2$	$2.4 \\ 2.6 \\ 2.4 \\ 2.5 \\ 2.4$	$2.0 \\ 2.2 \\ 2.1 \\ 2.2 \\ 2.0$		100 100 100 100 100	Total Production.
2,8 2.8 2.9 2.8 3.1	$2.7 \\ 2.7 \\ 2.9 \\ 2.8 \\ 3.0$	$ 19.4 \\ 19.3 \\ 19.0 \\ 18.6 \\ 19.0 $	$18.3 \\ 18.3 \\ 17.9 \\ 17.5 \\ 17.8$	$ \begin{array}{c} 1.9\\ 2.2\\ 2.0\\ 2.2\\ 2.0\\ 2.2\\ 2.0\\ \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{c} 1.7\\ 1.9\\ 1.7\\ 1.9\\ 1.7\\ 1.9\\ 1.7 \end{array} $	100 100		Foodstuffs.
$3.1 \\ 3.0 \\ 2.8 \\ 3.0 \\ 3.0 \\ 3.0$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.1 \\ 3.0 \\ 2.7 \\ 2.9 \\ 2.9 \\ 2.9 \end{array}$	$ 18.7 \\ 18.8 \\ 19.2 \\ 19.0 \\ 18.6 $	$16.9 \\ 16.8 \\ 17.2 \\ 17.1 \\ 16.3$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.1 \\ 3.3 \\ 3.1 \\ 3.1 \\ 2.8 \end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{c} 2.6\\ 2.7\\ 2.6\\ 2.6\\ 2.3 \end{array} $	$ 100 \\ 100 \\ 100 \\ 100 \\ 100 100 $		Raw materials.

World Totals = 100.

Annex V.

PERCENTAGE DISTRIBUTION OF AGGREGATE PRODUCTION OF FOODSTUFFS

			Eu	rope		No	orth	Le	Latin	
Groups of Products	Years	Excl U.S	uding .S.R.	Inch U.S	uding .S.R.	Am	erica	Am	erica	
		<i>(a)</i>	(b)	(a)	(b)	(a)	(b)	(<i>a</i>)	(b)	
Cereals	$ 1925 \\ 1926 \\ 1927 \\ 1928 \\ 1929 $	32.2 31.2 27.3 28.3	30.3 29.8 25.9 26.9	38.0 38.3 33.7 33.8	$ \begin{array}{r} 36.1 \\ 36.6 \\ 32.2 \\ 32.2 \\ 32.2 \end{array} $	31.6 30.0 32.3 32.9	31.1 29.2 31.5 32.0	$21.1 \\ 21.5 \\ 21.9 \\ 23.0$	$ \begin{array}{r} 22.1 \\ 22.1 \\ 22.4 \\ 23.4 \end{array} $	
Food crops other than cereals	1925 1925 1926 1927 1928 1929	$9.5 \\ 8.6 \\ 9.1 \\ 8.9 \\ 9.1$	$ \begin{array}{c} 27.7 \\ 11.6 \\ 10.5 \\ 11.3 \\ 11.0 \\ 11.3 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 34.2 \\ 9.1 \\ 8.5 \\ 8.9 \\ 8.9 \\ 9.0 \\ \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{c} 32.7\\ 11.4\\ 10.6\\ 11.2\\ 11.1\\ 11.4\end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{c} 28.1 \\ 1.1 \\ 1.3 \\ 1.3 \\ 1.2 \\ \end{array} $	$27.6 \\ 1.2 \\ 1.3 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.3 \\ 1.3$	$ \begin{array}{c} 18.2\\ 15.8\\ 14.8\\ 13.6\\ 14.8\\ 14.9\\ \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 18.9 \\ 9.2 \\ 8.8 \\ 8.1 \\ 8.9 \\ 9.0 \\ \end{array} $	
Meat	1925 1926 1927 1928 1929	$18.6 \\ 20.6 \\ 19.9 \\ 20.7 \\ 18.6$	$20.5 \\ 22.2 \\ 21.3 \\ 22.3 \\ 19.9$	$19.3 \\ 20.1 \\ 20.0 \\ 20.9 \\ 18.8$	$20.7 \\ 21.6 \\ 21.5 \\ 22.4 \\ 20.2$	16.6 16.1 16.3 15.8 15.9	$18.4 \\ 17.9 \\ 18.2 \\ 17.5 \\ 17.6$	$27.3 \\ 27.2 \\ 25.7 \\ 24.8 \\ 26.0$	$33.6 \\ 33.3 \\ 31.4 \\ 30.6 \\ 31.7$	
hops	1925 1926 1927 1928 1929	$\begin{array}{c} 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.3 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.1 \\ 0.1 \\ 0.1 \\ 0.1 \\ 0.1 \\ 0.1 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.1\\ 0.1\\ 0.1\\ 0.1\\ 0.1\\ 0.1\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.1 \\ 0.1 \\ 0.1 \\ 0.1 \\ 0.1 \\ 0.1 \end{array}$		$10.4 \\ 11.6 \\ 14.7 \\ 10.9 \\ 12.6$	$ \begin{array}{c} 10.0 \\ 11.0 \\ 13.9 \\ 10.5 \\ 12.0 \end{array} $	
Tobacco	1925 1926 1927 1928 1929	$\begin{array}{c} 0.5 \\ 0.5 \\ 0.4 \\ 0.4 \\ 0.5 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.7 \\ 0.8 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.6 \\ 0.7 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.6 \\ 0.6 \\ 0.5 \\ 0.5 \\ 0.5 \\ 0.5 \end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{r} 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 0.8 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.8 \\ \end{array} $	$1.0 \\ 0.9 \\ 0.9 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.1$	$1.7 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.6 \\ 1.7$	$1.0 \\ 0.9 \\ 1.1 \\ 1.1 \\ 1.5$	$ \begin{array}{c} 1.7\\ 1.7\\ 2.0\\ 2.0\\ 2.6\\ \end{array} $	
Vegetable-oil materials .	1925 1926 1927 1928 1929	$1.5 \\ 1.4 \\ 2.2 \\ 1.3 \\ 2.2$	$1.4 \\ 1.3 \\ 2.1 \\ 1.2 \\ 2.1$	$1.6 \\ 1.4 \\ 2.1 \\ 1.4 \\ 2.1 \\ 2.1$	$1.6 \\ 1.4 \\ 2.0 \\ 1.4 \\ 2.1$	$1.6 \\ 1.7 \\ 1.4 \\ 1.4 \\ 1.4 \\ 1.4$	$1.8 \\ 1.9 \\ 1.6 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.6 \\ 1.6 \\ 1.6 \\ 1.6 \\ 1.6 \\ 1.6 \\ 1.6 \\ 1.6 \\ 1.6 \\ 1.8 $	$3.7 \\ 3.8 \\ 3.7 \\ 3.5 \\ 2.6$	$\begin{array}{c} 4.2 \\ 4.3 \\ 4.2 \\ 3.9 \\ 2.9 \end{array}$	
Textiles	1925 1926 1927 1928 1929	$\begin{array}{c} 4.8 \\ 5.3 \\ 5.2 \\ 5.5 \\ 5.4 \end{array}$	$3.5 \\ 3.8 \\ 3.7 \\ 3.8 \\ 3.8 \\ 3.8 \\ 3.8 $	$5.7 \\ 5.9 \\ 5.8 \\ 6.1 \\ 6.1$	$\begin{array}{c} 4.2 \\ 4.3 \\ 4.2 \\ 4.4 \\ 4.4 \end{array}$	$10.8 \\ 11.6 \\ 9.1 \\ 9.7 \\ 10.4$	$9.4 \\ 10.2 \\ 8.0 \\ 8.4 \\ 8.9$	$8.0 \\ 8.1 \\ 7.3 \\ 7.6 \\ 8.0$	$ \begin{array}{c} 6.9\\ 6.9\\ 6.2\\ 6.5\\ 6.8 \end{array} $	
Rubber	1925 1926 1927 1928 1929							$\begin{array}{c} 0.8 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.8 \\ 0.6 \\ 0.6 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.3 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \end{array}$	

Total of Each Continent = 100.

(a) 1925 VALUES;

Annex V.

AND RAW MATERIALS BY GROUPS OF PRODUCTS WEIGHTED BY: (b) 1929 VALUES.

Total of Each Continent = 100.

Africa		As	ia	Ocea	nia	Wo	rld	Groups of Products
(a)	(b)	(<i>a</i>)	(<i>b</i>)	<i>(a)</i>	(b)	<i>(a)</i>	(b)	
$25.1 \\ 25.0 \\ 25.7 \\ 25.6 \\ 26.8$	$24.7 \\ 24.8 \\ 25.4 \\ 25.5 \\ 26.5$	$9.0 \\ 8.9 \\ 8.8 \\ 7.5 \\ 8.0$	8.9 8.9 8.8 7.5 8.2	$14.9 \\18.6 \\15.1 \\17.7 \\15.3$	$15.4 \\ 19.2 \\ 15.6 \\ 18.3 \\ 15.9$	$ \begin{array}{r} 28.2 \\ 27.7 \\ 26.8 \\ 27.0 \\ 25.5 \end{array} $	$27.9 \\ 27.4 \\ 26.5 \\ 26.6 \\ 25.4$	Cereals.
$10.8 \\ 10.1 \\ 12.3 \\ 10.3 \\ 9.8$	$9.6 \\ 8.9 \\ 11.1 \\ 8.8 \\ 8.5$	$\begin{array}{r} 43.3 \\ 42.5 \\ 41.2 \\ 42.1 \\ 40.6 \end{array}$	$44.7 \\ 44.1 \\ 42.7 \\ 43.6 \\ 42.4$	$8.8 \\ 7.4 \\ 8.9 \\ 8.4 \\ 8.9$	$5.6 \\ 4.7 \\ 5.8 \\ 5.3 \\ 5.8 \\ 5.8 $	$13.8 \\ 13.2 \\ 13.3 \\ 13.4 \\ 13.2$	$13.7 \\ 13.2 \\ 13.4 \\ 13.4 \\ 13.3$	Food crops other than cereals
17.6 18.4 18.2 17.4 16.7	$20.0 \\ 20.9 \\ 20.6 \\ 19.8 \\ 19.0$	$5.9 \\ 5.8 \\ 5.8 \\ 5.8 \\ 5.8 \\ 5.7 $	$7.3 \\ 7.2 \\ 7.2 \\ 7.1 \\ 7.1$	$24.6 \\ 23.5 \\ 24.2 \\ 23.3 \\ 24.4$	$\begin{array}{c} 30.3 \\ 28.6 \\ 29.4 \\ 28.4 \\ 29.6 \end{array}$	$16.7 \\ 16.8 \\ 16.7 \\ 16.8 \\ 16.2$	$18.8 \\ 19.0 \\ 18.9 \\ 18.9 \\ 18.2$	Mcat.
$4.0 \\ 4.1 \\ 4.0 \\ 4.1 \\ 4.2$	$\begin{array}{r} 4.8 \\ 4.9 \\ 4.7 \\ 4.9 \\ 4.9 \\ 4.9 \end{array}$	$2.8 \\ 2.9 \\ 3.0 \\ 3.0 \\ 3.0 \\ 3.0$	$2.8 \\ 2.9 \\ 3.1 \\ 3.1 \\ 3.1 \\ 3.1$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \end{array}$	$1.6 \\ 1.8 \\ 2.1 \\ 1.7 \\ 1.8$	$1.5 \\ 1.6 \\ 1.9 \\ 1.6 \\ 1.7$	Colonial produce and hops
$ \begin{array}{r} 1.0 \\ 1.1 \\ 1.2 \\ 1.0 \\ 0.8 \\ \end{array} $	$1.7 \\ 1.8 \\ 2.1 \\ 1.6 \\ 1.3$	$ \begin{array}{c} 2.0 \\ 2.2 \\ 2.0 \\ 2.2 \\ 2.1 \end{array} $	$3.5 \\ 3.9 \\ 3.7 \\ 3.9 \\ 3.9 \\ 3.9 \\ 3.9 \\ 3.9$			$1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.1$	$1.7 \\ 1.7 \\ 1.6 \\ 1.7 $	Tobacco.
$ \begin{array}{c} 13.0 \\ 12.7 \\ 11.8 \\ 12.7 \\ 12.9 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{c} 13.0\\ 12.7\\ 11.8\\ 12.7\\ 13.0 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{c} 7.0\\ 7.0\\ 7.5\\ 7.7\\ 7.2 \end{array} $	7.5 7.4 8.0 8.1 7.6	$1.3 \\ 1.2 \\ 1.3 \\ 1.4 \\ 1.4$	$1.3 \\ 1.2 \\ 1.3 \\ 1.4 \\ 1.5$	$3.1 \\ 3.1 \\ 3.3 \\ 3.1 \\ 3.2$	$3.2 \\ 3.2 \\ 3.4 \\ 3.1 \\ 3.3$	Vegetable-oil materials.
$\begin{array}{c} 22.5 \\ 22.3 \\ 20.3 \\ 22.3 \\ 22.1 \end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{r} 19.5 \\ 19.2 \\ 17.2 \\ 19.2 \\ 19.0 \\ \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{c} 17.0\\ 16.8\\ 17.0\\ 17.3\\ 17.0\end{array} $	$15.8 \\ 15.5 \\ 15.9 \\ 16.1 \\ 15.9$	39.7 39.5 39.9 39.7 40.2	34.8 34.8 35.2 35.3 35.6	$10.9 \\ 11.3 \\ 10.3 \\ 10.8 \\ 10.8$	9.2 9.5 8.6 8.9 9.0	Textiles.
$\begin{array}{c} 0.4 \\ 0.6 \\ 0.6 \\ 0.4 \\ 0.4 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.1 \end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{c} 6.2 \\ 6.8 \\ 7.2 \\ 6.8 \\ 8.7 \end{array} $	2.42.72.82.73.5			$1.3 \\ 1.4 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.3 \\ 1.7$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.5 \\ 0.5 \\ 0.5 \\ 0.5 \\ 0.6 \end{array}$	Rubber.

Annex V (concluded).

PERCENTAGE DISTRIBUTION OF AGGREGATE PRODUCTION OF FOODSTUFFS AND RAW MATE-

			E	urope		N	orth	T	Latin	
Groups of Products	Years	Excl U.S	uding .S.R.	Inch U.S	ıding .S.R.	Am	erica	Ar	nerica	
		(a)	(b)	(a)	(b)	(a)	(b)	(a)	(b)	
Wood-pulp	1925 1926 1927 1928 1929	1.6 1.8 1.8 1.7 1.8	$1.6 \\ 1.8 \\ 1.7 \\ 1.7 \\ 1.8$	$1.2 \\ 1.3 \\ 1.3 \\ 1.3 \\ 1.4$	1.2 1.3 1.3 1.3 1.4	$1.4 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.6$	$1.4 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.6$			
Cement	1925 1926 1927 1928 1929	$ \begin{array}{r} 1.4 \\ 1.6 \\ 1$	$1.4 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.6 \\ 1.6 \\ 1.6 \\ 1.6$	$1.1 \\ 1.2 \\ 1.3 \\ 1.3 \\ 1.4$	$1.0 \\ 1.2 \\ 1.2 \\ 1.3 \\ 1.3$	$ \begin{array}{r} 1.6 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.7 \\ 1.6 \\ 1.6 \\ \end{array} $	$1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.6 \\ 1.6 \\ 1.6$			
Fuels	1925 1926 1927 1928 1929	$ \begin{array}{c} 13.2\\ 11.8\\ 13.6\\ 13.0\\ 13.0 \end{array} $	$11.8 \\ 10.6 \\ 12.2 \\ 11.7 \\ 11.6$	$10.5 \\ 9.5 \\ 11.3 \\ 10.9 \\ 11.1$	$9.4 \\ 8.5 \\ 10.1 \\ 9.8 \\ 9.9$	$ \begin{array}{r} 17.7 \\ 18.5 \\ 18.9 \\ 17.5 \\ 19.3 \\ \end{array} $	15.6 16.5 16.7 15.5 17.0	5.6 5.4 5.4 6.4 7.6	$5.1 \\ 4.9 \\ 4.9 \\ 5.8 \\ 6.8$	
Metals	1925 1926 1927 1928 1929	$14.2 \\ 14.5 \\ 16.2 \\ 15.8 \\ 15.9$	$14.6 \\ 14.9 \\ 16.8 \\ 16.4 \\ 16.5$	$11.0 \\ 11.2 \\ 13.0 \\ 12.8 \\ 13.2$	$11.4 \\ 11.5 \\ 13.4 \\ 13.2 \\ 13.6$	$ \begin{array}{r} 16.0 \\ 16.4 \\ 15.9 \\ 16.6 \\ 18.6 \end{array} $	$17.3 \\ 17.8 \\ 17.2 \\ 18.1 \\ 20.3$	$3.8 \\ 4.1 \\ 4.3 \\ 4.5 \\ 5.0$	$4.5 \\ 4.8 \\ 5.1 \\ 5.5 \\ 6.2$	
Chemicals (fertilisers)	1925 1926 1927 1928 1929	$2.3 \\ 2.5 \\ 2.5 \\ 2.6 \\ 2.6 \\ 2.6$	2.52.72.62.72.8	1.7 1.8 1.9 1.9 2.0	$1.9 \\ 1.9 \\ 2.0 \\ 2.1 \\ 2.1$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.5 \\ 0.6 \\ 0.6 \\ 0.6 \\ 0.7 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.6 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.8 \\ 0.8 \\ 0.8 \end{array}$	$2.5 \\ 1.9 \\ 1.5 \\ 2.8 \\ 3.0$	$2.4 \\ 1.9 \\ 1.5 \\ 2.7 \\ 2.9$	
Total Production	1925- 1929	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	은 년 100	
Foodstuffs	1925 1926 1927 1928 1929	$\begin{array}{c} 60.5 \\ 60.7 \\ 56.5 \\ 58.1 \\ 57.0 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 62.6\\ 62.6\\ 58.6\\ 60.2\\ 59.1 \end{array}$	$66.5 \\ 67.1 \\ 62.8 \\ 63.7 \\ 62.2$	$68.3 \\ 68.9 \\ 64.9 \\ 65.8 \\ 64.4$	$\begin{array}{r} 49.4 \\ 47.2 \\ 50.0 \\ 50.1 \\ 45.3 \end{array}$	$50.7 \\ 48.5 \\ 51.2 \\ 51.1 \\ 46.5$	$74.6 \\ 75.0 \\ 75.8 \\ 73.5 \\ 71.8$	$74.8 \\ 75.3 \\ 75.8 \\ 73.3 \\ 71.6$	
Raw materials	1925 1926 1927 1928 1929	39.5 39.3 43.5 41.9 43.0	37.4 37.4 41.4 39.8 40.9	$33.5 \\ 32.9 \\ 37.2 \\ 36.3 \\ 37.8 $	31.7 31.1 35.1 34.2 35.6	50.6 52.8 50.0 49.9 54.7	$\begin{array}{r} 49.3 \\ 51.5 \\ 48.8 \\ 48.9 \\ 53.5 \end{array}$	$25.4 \\ 25.0 \\ 24.2 \\ 26.5 \\ 28.2$	$25.2 \\ 24.7 \\ 24.2 \\ 26.7 \\ 28.4$	

Total of Each Continent = 100.

Annex V (concluded)

RIALS, BY GROUPS OF PRODUCTS WEIGHTED BY : (a) 1925 VALUES; (b) 1929 VALUES.

Afr	ica	Asi	a	Ocea	nia	Wor	ld	Groups of Products
(a)	(b)	(a)	(b)	(a)	(b)	<i>(a)</i>	(b)	
		$0.1 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \end{array}$			$\begin{array}{c} 0.8 \\ 0.9 \\ 0.9 \\ 0.9 \\ 0.9 \\ 1.0 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.9 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.1 \end{array}$	Wood-pulp
		$\begin{array}{c} 0.3 \\ 0.4 \\ 0.4 \\ 0.4 \\ 0.4 \\ 0.4 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.3 \\ 0.4 \\ 0.4 \\ 0.4 \\ 0.5 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.5 \\ 0.5 \\ 0.5 \\ 0.6 \\ 0.6 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.6 \\ 0.6 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.9 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.1 \\ 1.1 \\ 1.1 \\ 1.1 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.9 \\ 1.0 \\ 1.1 \\ 1.1 \\ 1.1 \\ 1.1 \end{array}$	Cement
$2.9 \\ 3.1 \\ 2.9 \\ 2.9 \\ 2.8$	$2.7 \\ 2.9 \\ 2.8 \\ 2.8 \\ 2.7$	$3.9 \\ 3.9 \\ 4.1 \\ 4.1 \\ 4.0$	$3.8 \\ 3.9 \\ 4.1 \\ 4.0 \\ 4.0$	$\begin{array}{c} 4.0\ 3.6\ 3.8\ 3.2\ 3.0\end{array}$	$4.5 \\ 4.0 \\ 4.3 \\ 3.6 \\ 3.4$	$10.7 \\ 10.6 \\ 11.3 \\ 10.8 \\ 11.4$	$9.7 \\ 9.7 \\ 10.3 \\ 9.9 \\ 10.4$	Fuels
$ \begin{array}{r} 1.9 \\ 1.8 \\ 2.0 \\ 2.4 \\ 2.6 \\ \end{array} $	$2.7 \\ 2.5 \\ 2.7 \\ 3.3 \\ 3.7$	$2.3 \\ 2.4 \\ 2.6 \\ 2.7 \\ 2.9$	$2.6 \\ 2.7 \\ 2.8 \\ 3.0 \\ 3.3$	$5.2 \\ 4.7 \\ 5.3 \\ 4.7 \\ 5.0$	$6.0 \\ 5.5 \\ 6.2 \\ 5.5 \\ 5.8 $	$9.9 \\ 10.1 \\ 10.6 \\ 10.9 \\ 11.7$	$10.8 \\ 11.0 \\ 11.6 \\ 11.9 \\ 12.8$	Metals
$\begin{array}{c} 0.8 \\ 0.8 \\ 1.0 \\ 0.9 \\ 0.9 \end{array}$	$1.1 \\ 1.2 \\ 1.4 \\ 1.2 \\ 1.3$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.2 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.2 \\ 0.2 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.3 \end{array}$	$0.8 \\ 0.8 \\ 0.8 \\ 0.8 \\ 1.0$	$1.3 \\ 1.2 \\ 1.3 \\ 1.3 \\ 1.5$	$1.1 \\ 1.1 \\ 1.1 \\ 1.2 \\ 1.3$	$1.2 \\ 1.2 \\ 1.2 \\ 1.4 \\ 1.4 \\ 1.4$	Chemicals (fertilisers)
							100	Motel Production
$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 57.6 \\ 57.6 \\ 60.3 \\ 57.5 \\ 57.4 \\ \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 59.1 \\ 59.4 \\ 61.9 \\ 58.9 \\ 58.9 \\ 58.9 \\ \end{array} $	$100 \\ 61.0 \\ 60.1 \\ 58.8 \\ 58.4 \\ 57.3$	$100 \\ 63.7 \\ 63.1 \\ 61.7 \\ 61.2 \\ 60.8 \\$	$100 \\ 48.5 \\ 49.7 \\ 48.3 \\ 49.5 \\ 48.9 \\$	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 51.5 \\ 52.7 \\ 51.0 \\ 52.2 \\ 51.5 \\ \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{c} 60.2 \\ 59.5 \\ 58.9 \\ 58.9 \\ 56.7 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{c} 61.9\\ 61.2\\ 60.7\\ 60.5\\ 58.6 \end{array} $	Foodstuffs
$ \begin{array}{c} 42.4 \\ 42.4 \\ 39.7 \\ 42.5 \\ 42.6 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{c} 40.9\\ 40.6\\ 38.1\\ 41.1\\ 41.1 \end{array} $	$39.0 \\ 39.9 \\ 41.2 \\ 41.6 \\ 42.7$	$36.3 \\ 36.9 \\ 38.3 \\ 38.8 \\ 39.2$	51.5 50.3 51.7 50.5 51.1	$\begin{array}{r} 48.5 \\ 47\cdot 3 \\ 49.0 \\ 47.8 \\ 48.5 \end{array}$	$39.8 \\ 40.5 \\ 41.1 \\ 41.1 \\ 43.3$	38.1 38.8 39.3 39.5 41.4	Raw materials

3

Total of Each Continent = 100.

Annex VI.

NATIONAL INDICES OF INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTION.

1925 = 100.

Co	ountry	Canada (a)	United States (a)	Germany	France (b)	Poland (c)	United	Kingdom	Sweden	U.S	.S.R.
S	ource	Monthly Review of Busi- ness Statistics	Federal Reserve Board	Institut für Kon- junktur- forschung	Statis- tique générale	Institut de re- cherches sur le mouve- ment des affaires	Board of Trade (d)	London and Cam- bridge Economic Service	Svensk Finans- tidning	Institut de Conjonc- ture	State Bank (d)
Origi	nal_base	1919-24	1923-25	1928	1913	1925–27	1924	1924	1923-24	1923-24	1928
1925(1926 1927 1928 1929 1930	average) ,, ,, ,, ,,	$100 \\ 117 \\ 125 \\ 138 \\ 154 \\ 131$	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 104 \\ 102 \\ 107 \\ 114 \\ 93 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 95 \\ 120 \\ 120 \\ 122 \\ 101 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 116 \\ -102 \\ 119 \\ 130 \\ 131 \end{array} $	$100 \\ 98 \\ 123 \\ 138 \\ 138 \\ 113$	$(107) \\ (106) \\ (112) \\ (103)$	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 77 \\ 111 \\ 105 \\ 113 \\ 101 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 103 \\ 108 \\ 104 \\ 127 \\ 124 \end{array} $	$100 \\ 139 \\ 164 \\ 198 \\ (f) 223 \\ .$	$\begin{array}{c} & \cdot \\ (e) & (80) \\ (100) \\ (124) \\ (153) \end{array}$
1925	I II III IV	94 94 93 92	$ \begin{array}{r} 101 \\ 101 \\ 100 \\ 00 \end{array} $	$100 \\ 103 \\ 104 \\ 104$	$103 \\ 102 \\ 101 \\ 100$	$104 \\ 97 \\ 103 \\ 102$		105	$107 \\ 106 \\ 86 \\ 110$	85 88 92	•
	VI VI VII	92 - 93 100 96	99 99 98 99	$ 104 \\ 104 \\ 103 \\ 100 \\ 00 $	99 98 98	$103 \\ 105 \\ 106 \\ 100$		101	$ \begin{array}{r} 112 \\ 94 \\ 102 \\ 100 \end{array} $	88 89 96 88	•
	X X XI XII	100 100 111 118 109	$99 \\97 \\100 \\103 \\105$	98 99 97 98 91	$ \begin{array}{r} 99 \\ 100 \\ 104 \\ 108 \\ 110 \\ \end{array} $	98 99 98 96 90	•	92 102	96 103 95 93 96	$97 \\ 117 \\ 124 \\ 115 \\ 124$	•
1926	I II III IV	111 115 111 120	$ \begin{array}{r} 103 \\ 102 \\ 103 \\ 103 \end{array} $	86 87 87 87	$110 \\ 114 \\ 115 \\ 117$	79 81 84 87		105	$99 \\ 96 \\ 108 \\ 110$	$122 \\ 129 \\ 136 \\ 140$	
	V VI VII VIII .	121 123 118 112	$ \begin{array}{r} 102 \\ 104 \\ 103 \\ 106 \\ 107 \end{array} $	90 93 91 96	118 118 119 120		-	74 59	97 112 101 96	$122 \\ 135 \\ 121 \\ 135$	•
	IX X XI XII	$ \begin{array}{r} 113 \\ 128 \\ 125 \\ 106 \end{array} $	$ 107 \\ 107 \\ 105 \\ 102 $	$ 100 \\ 103 \\ 109 \\ 109 \\ 109 $	$ \begin{array}{r} 120 \\ 121 \\ 121 \\ 116 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{c} 111 \\ 115 \\ 121 \\ 117 \\ 117 \\ \end{array} $	•	71	$ \begin{array}{r} 105 \\ 96 \\ 99 \\ 106 \end{array} $	$151 \\ 153 \\ 157 \\ 163$	•
1927	I III IV V VI VII	$ \begin{array}{r} 121 \\ 118 \\ 126 \\ 131 \\ 130 \\ 121 \\ \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 102 \\ 104 \\ 107 \\ 104 \\ 107 \\ 104 \\ 102 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 110\\ 111\\ 115\\ 119\\ 124\\ 122\\ 122 \end{array} $	110 107 102 97 97 98 98	$ \begin{array}{c} 113 \\ 115 \\ 112 \\ (c) 117 \\ 119 \\ 119 \\ 123 \\ \end{array} $	(107)	114	$104 \\ 103 \\ 118 \\ 113 \\ 108 \\ 102 \\ 99$	$ 153 \\ 160 \\ 169 \\ 158 \\ 161 \\ 150 \\ 131 $	$\begin{array}{ccc} (e) & (77) \\ (78) \\ (82) \\ (77) \\ (80) \\ (72) \\ (64) \end{array}$
	VIII . IX X XI XII	$ \begin{array}{r} 126 \\ 118 \\ 121 \\ 121 \\ 129 \\ 129 \\ \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 102 \\ 101 \\ 99 \\ 96 \\ 97 \\ 97 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 123 \\ 125 \\ 127 \\ 120 \\ 120 \\ \end{array} $	$ 100 \\ 101 \\ 103 \\ 106 \\ 107 $	$ \begin{array}{r} 123 \\ 126 \\ 127 \\ 128 \\ 130 \end{array} $		109 110	$ \begin{array}{r} 102 \\ 110 \\ 104 \\ 113 \\ 113 \end{array} $	$ 157 \\ 176 \\ 183 \\ 179 \\ 192 $	(76) (88) (88) (88) (88) (95)

(a) Adjusted for seasonal variations.
(b) Partly adjusted for seasonal variations.
(c) Adjusted for seasonal variations since April 1927.
(d) Original base has not been changed as figures for 1925 are not available.
(e) 1927 : excluding coke.
(f) Average for January-August 1929; the index of the Institut de Conjoncture has been discontinued since August 1929.

Annex VI (concluded).

NATIONAL INDICES OF INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTION.

1925 = 100.

Cou	ntry	Canada (a)	United States (a)	Germany	France (b)	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Poland} \\ (c) \end{array}$	United I	Kingdom	Sweden	U.S.	S.R.
Sot	urce	Monthly Review of Busi- ness Statistics	Federal Reserve Board	İnstitut für Kon- junktur- forschung	Statis- tique générale	Institut de re- cherches sur le mouve- ment des affaires	Board of Trade (d)	London and Cam- bridge Economic Service	Svensk Finans- tidning	Institut de Conjonc- ture	State Bank (d)
Origin	al base	1919–24	1923-25	1928	1913	1925-27	1924	1924	1923–24	1923-24	1928
1928	I II III IV	$128 \\ 133 \\ 135 \\ 129$	$102 \\ 104 \\ 105 \\ 105$	$119 \\ 123 \\ 126 \\ 126$	$109 \\111 \\114 \\116$	$132 \\ 135 \\ 136 \\ 136$	(109)	108	$78 \\ 66 \\ 71 \\ 99$	$196 \\ 192 \\ 207 \\ 178$	(98) (96) (104) (92)
	V VI	$125 \\ 150 \\ 141 \\ 120$	$105 \\ 105 \\ 105 \\ 105$	$120 \\ 124 \\ 124 \\ 125$	119 121	$135 \\ 137 \\ 127$	(104)	106	110 115 99	193 185 172	(100) (93) (83)
	VII VIII . IX	$138 \\ 145 \\ 137$	105 107 110	$125 \\ 123 \\ 123$	$121 \\ 121 \\ 121$	$137 \\ 139 \\ 140$	(100)	98	106 112	200 208	(97) (107) (112)
	X XI XII	$ \begin{array}{r} 150 \\ 141 \\ 132 \end{array} $	$112 \\ 112 \\ 113$	118 102 110	$122 \\ 123 \\ 125$	$140\\145\\146$	(108)	108	$118 \\ 125 \\ 121$	$221 \\ 207 \\ 219$	(112) (107) (113)
1929	I II III	$\begin{array}{c}167\\163\\160\end{array}$	$113 \\ 113 \\ 114$	$114 \\ 109 \\ 119$	$128 \\ 127 \\ 129$	$146 \\ 136 \\ 139$	(111)	111	$140 \\ 126 \\ 127$	$224 \\ 214 \\ 229 \\ 210 \\ 210 \\ 229 \\ 210 \\ 210 \\ 200 $	(117) (110) (118) (107)
	IV V VI	$158 \\ 160 \\ 152$	$117 \\ 119 \\ 121$	$ \begin{array}{r} 130 \\ 131 \\ 132 \end{array} $	$130\\130\\132$	$ \begin{array}{r} 143 \\ 138 \\ 136 \\ 136 \end{array} $	(112)	114		240 201 222	(127) (107) (113) (110)
	VII VIII . IX	$\begin{array}{c}154\\155\\140\end{array}$	119 118 117	$\begin{array}{c}126\\124\\122\end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{r} 130 \\ 130 \\ 129 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 135 \\ 135 \\ 138 \end{array} $	(111)	111	122 125 124	233	(110) (122) (133) (142)
	X XI XII	158 157 129	$\begin{array}{c}113\\104\\97\end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{r} 122 \\ 122 \\ 115 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 132 \\ 134 \\ 135 \end{array} $	$139 \\ 134 \\ 134$	(114)	118	120 129 123	•	(142) (141) (150)
1930	I II	150 132	$100 \\ 103 \\ 100$	114 111	$135 \\ 134 \\ 125$	$125 \\ 116 \\ 110$	(111)	112	$ \begin{array}{c} 142 \\ 136 \\ 141 \end{array} $		(146) (144) (163)
	III IV V	$134 \\ 136 \\ 149 \\ 125$	$100 \\ 103 \\ 100 \\ 06$	$111 \\ 114 \\ 108 \\ 100$	$135 \\ 135 $	$110 \\ 110 \\ 111 \\ 110$	(103)	103	$) 141 \\ 132 \\ 116 \\)$	•	(155) (140) (134)
	VI VII VIII .	$135 \\ 132 \\ 125 \\ 124$	91 88	97 96 94	$132 \\ 130 \\ 128$	111 113 116	(99)	93	$\left\{\begin{array}{c}123\\113\\120\end{array}\right.$	•	(124) (132) (158)
	X X XI XII	$124 \\ 125 \\ 124 \\ 124 \\ 110$	80 84 82 79	93 91 88	$120 \\ 127 \\ 126 \\ 125$	117 113 109	(99)	95	119 113 113	•	(173) (172) (193)

(a) Adjusted for seasonal variations.
(b) Partly adjusted for seasonal variations.
(c) Adjusted for seasonal variations since April 1927.
(d) Original base has not been changed, as figures for 1925 are not available.


PUBLICATIONS OF THE ECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL ORGANISATION OF THE LEAGUE OF NATIONS

PERIODICAL MEMORANDA

Memorandum on Public Finance, 1926-1928	10/- \$2.50
Memorandum on Public Finance, 1922-1926	16/- \$4.00
Memorandum on Public Finance, 1922	10/- \$2.00
Memorandum on Public Finance, 1921	out of print)
Memorandum on Currency and Central Banks, 1913-1925 :	AL 01 00
Vol. I. (Introduction)	4/~ \$1.00
Yol. II. (Statistics)	0/~
Nemorandum on Currency and Central Banks, 1919-1924 :	7/6 \$2.00
Vol. II.	10/- \$2.50
Memorandum on Currency, 1913-1923	10/- \$2.50
Memorandum on Currency, 1913-1922	10/~ \$2.00
Memorandum on Currency, 1913-1921	7/6 \$1.50
Memorandum on Central Banks, 1913-1923	10/~ \$2.50
Memorandum on Commercial Banks, 1913-1929	preparation)
Memorandum on International Trade and Balances of Payments, 1927-1929 :	
Vol. I. Review of World Trade (Ser. L.o.N.P.1930.II.54/1)	4/~ \$1.00
Vol. 11. Balances of International Payments (Ser. L.O.N.P.1930,11.54/11)	10/- \$2.50
New around up on International Trade and Ralances of Payments, 1926-1928 :	
Vol. 1. Review of World Trade (Ser. L.o.N.P.1929.11.51/I)	4/- \$1.00
Vol. 11. Balances of Payments (Ser. L.o.N.P.1929.11.51/II)	6/- \$1.50
Vol. III. Trade Statistics of Sixty-four Countries (Ser. L.o.N.P.1929.11.51/111)	10/- \$2.50
Memorandum on International Trade and Balances of Payments, 1913-1927 :	
Vol. 1. Review of world Trade and Balances of Fayments (Ser. 1.0.N.r.1928. IT 53/D	10/- \$2.50
Vol. II. Trade Statistics of Sixty-four Countries (1925-1927) (Ser. L.o.N.P.	and amount
1928.11.53/11)	12/ \$3.00
Memorandum on International Trade and Balances of Payments, 1912-1926 :	
Vol. 4. Review of world Trade and Balances of Fayments (Ser. 1.0. X , Y , 1927 , 11 BR/D)	7/6 \$2.00
Vol. II. Trade Statistics of Sixty-four Countries, 1913 and 1922-1926, and	-1
Detailed Notes on Statistical Methods employed in each Country,	2F - 00 2F
etc. (Ser. L.o. N.P.1927.11.68/11)	25/- \$6.25
Previous editions of this memorandum : 1911.1925 Vol I 5/- \$1.25 Vol TI	20/~ \$5.00
1919-1924, Vol. I	17/- \$4.00
1910-1923. Vol. I	12/6 \$3.00
Memorandum on Production and Trade, 1925-1929/30 (Ser. L.o.N.P.1931.II.A.19)	3/3 \$0.80
Memorandum on Production and Trade, 1923-1928/29 (Ser. L.o.N.P.1930.II.8)	3/- \$0.75
Memorandum on Production and Trade, 1913 and 1923-1927 (Ser. L.o.N.P.1929.II.13)	2/- \$0.50
Memorandum on Production and Trade, 1913 and 1923-26 (Ser. L.o.N.P.1928.II.3) .	2/- \$0.50
Memorandum on Production and Trade prepared by the Preparatory Committee of the World Economic Conference (Ser. L.o.N.P.1926.II.53)	1/6 \$0.40
Statistical Year-Book of the League of Nations, 1930-31 in wrappers,	7/6 \$2.00
bound in cloth,	10/- \$3.00
International Statistical Year-Book, 1929	(out of print)
International Statistical Year-Book, 1928	(out or print)
International Statistical Year-Book, 1927	7/6 32.00
International Statistical Year-Book, 1926	1/6 \$2.00

Complete catalogue sent free on application.

Publications Department of the League of Nations, Geneva.

AUTHORISED AGENTS FOR THE PUBLICATIONS OF THE LEAGUE OF NATIONS

INDIA ARGENTINE Librería "El Ateneo", calle Florida 371, Buenos The Book Company, Ltd., College Square, 4/4 A, Calculta. IRISH FREE STATE AUSTRALIA (Commonwealth of) H. A. Goddard, Ltd., 255A, George Street, Sydney. Eason & Son Ltd., 79-82 Middle Abbey Street, Dublin. AUSTRIA ITALY Manz'sche Verlags- und Universitätsbuchhandlung, Kohlmarkt, 20, Vienna I. Anonima Libraria Itallana, Direzione Generale, via Palermo 12, Milan. Branches: Florence, Genoa, Naples, Padua, Palermo, Pavia, Rome, Trieste, Turin. BELGIUM Agence Dechenne, Messageries de la Presse, S. A., 18-20, rue du Persil, *Brussels*. Albert Dewit, Rue Royale, 53, *Brussels*. JAPAN League of Nations Tokio Office, Marunouchi-C.-13, Toko. Maruzen Co., Etd. (Maruzen-Kabushiki-Kaisha), 6, Nihonbashi Tori-Nichome, Tokto. BRAZIL Livraria Vieira Souto, Praça Mauá 7, Sala 620, Rio de Janeiro. LATVIA Latvijas Telegrafa Agentura, K. Barona Iela, 4, BULGARIA Librairie Française et Etrangère, J. Carasso & C¹⁰, Bd. "Tsar Osvoboditel". No. 8, Sofia. LITHUANIA Librairie de la Société Lithuano-Française, Laisvés Aleja, 22, Kaunas. CANADA League of Nations Society in Canada, 389, Wellington Street, Ollawa, LUXEMBURG (G.D.) Librairie J. Heintzé, M. Hagen, succr., Place Guillaume, 8, Laxemburg. NETHERLANDS CHILE Carlos Niemeyer, Libreria Universal, Cas. 293, Valparaiso. Martinus Nijhoff, Boekhandelaar-Uitgever, Lange Voorhout 9, The Hague. CHINA Commercial Press I.td., 501 Paoshan Road, Shanghai. NEW ZEALAND The Clarté Bookshop, Walter Nash, 126, Vivian Street, P.O. Box 310, Wellington. NORWAY **CZECHOSLOVAKIA** Librairie F. Topic, 11, Narodni, Prague. **DANZIG** (Free City of) PANAMA Georg Stilke, Buchhandlung, Langgasse, 27, Danzig. Isidro A. Beluche, Apartado 755, Avenida Norte No. 49, Panama. DENMARK Levin & Munksgaard, Publishers, Nörregade, 6, Copenhagen. PARAGUAY Librería Internacional Santiago Pulgbonet, Casilla de Correo 581, Asunción. **DUTCH EAST INDIES** POLAND Algemeene Boekhandel G. Kolff & Co., Batavia-Wellcoreden. Gebethner & Wolff, ulica Zgoda 12, Warsaw. PORTUGAL ECUADOR Rodrigues & Ca., Rua Aurea, 186-188, Lisbon. ROUMANIA ESTONIA "Cartea Româneasca", 3-5 Boul. Academiei, Bucharest 1. J. G. Krüger, Ant.-Ges., 11, Rüütli t., Tarlu. SAAR BASIN FINLAND Gebr. Hoter A. G. Sortlmentsabteilung, Saarbruck. SOUTH AFRICA (Union of) Akateeminen Kirjakauppa, Helsinki. FRANCE Maskew Miller, Ltd., 29, Adderley Street, Cape Town. Librairie universitaire J. Gamber, 7, rue Danton, Paris (VI°). SPAIN Centro Editorial "Minerva", Apartado 555, Tudescos 39-41, Madrid, E.12. GERMANY Carl Heymanns Verlag, Mauerstrasse 44, Berlin, W. 8. SWEDEN Fritze, Hofbokhandel, Fredsgatan, 2, C. E. F. Stockholm. GREAT BRITAIN, NORTHERN IRELAND and the CROWN COLONIES George Allen & Unwin, Ltd., 38, Gt. Ormond Street, London, W.C.1. SWITZERLAND Librairie Payot & Cie, Geneva, Lausanne, Vevey, Montreux, Neuchalet, Berne and Basle, Librairie Dr. H. Girsberger & Cie., Kirchgasse 17, GREECE " Electroroudakis", Librairie Internationale, Place de la Constitution, Athens. TURKEY GUATEMALA Librairie Anadolou Méarif, Botte postale 45, Ankara. UNITED STATES OF AMERICA World Peace Foundation, 40, Mt. Vernon Street, Boston 9. Mass. HAITI Librairle-Papeterie Mme D. Vlard, angle des rues du Centre et des Casernes, Port-au-Prince, YUGOSLAVIA (Kingdom of) Librairie Internationale François Bach, 8, rue Knez HUNGARY Mihailova, Belgrade. Librairle de l'Université et de l'Académie Yougo-slave, St. Kugli, Ilica 30, Zagreb. Kujigarna Schwentner, Presernova ulica, Ljubljana. Librairie Grill, Dorottya utca, 2, Budapest. ICELAND For other Countries, apply : PUBLICATIONS DEPARTMENT OF THE LEAGUE OF NATIONS.

GENEVA (Switzerland).